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ABOUT THIS 
REPORT

The Gauteng Growth and Development Agency (GGDA) enables 
an environment for growth, targeted investment facilitation, strategic 

infrastructure development and social transformation. Thus the cover on 
this Annual Report represents the Gauteng priority sectors of the GGDA that 

assist the province in leading, facilitating and managing inclusive 
economic growth.
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PUBLIC ENTITY’S GENERAL INFORMATION

REGISTERED NAME:  Gauteng Growth and Development Agency SOC LTD

REGISTRATION NUMBER:  2003/021743/30

PHYSICAL ADDRESS:  124 Main Street
                       Johannesburg
                       2001

POSTAL ADDRESS:   PO BOX 10420
                    Marshalltown
                    2107

TELEPHONE NUMBER/S:   +27 11 085 2321

EMAIL ADDRESS:   ask@ggda.co.za 

WEBSITE ADDRESS:   www.ggda.co.za

EXTERNAL AUDITORS:   Auditor-General of South Africa 

BANKERS:   First National Bank 

COMPANY SECRETARY:  MJ Mulaudzi
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LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMS

AGSA Auditor-General of South Africa
AIDC Automotive Industry Development Centre
ASP Auto Supplier Park
BBBEE Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment
BPO Business Process Outsourcing
BR&E Business Retention and Expansion
BRICS Brazil, Russia, India, China and South Africa
CEO Chief Executive Officer
CFO Chief Financial Officer
CIC Climate Innovation Centre
Conhill Constitution Hill
COO Chief Operations Officer
CPSI Centre for Public Service Innovation
DDI Domestic Direct Investment
DIRCO Department of International Relations and Cooperation
EIA Environmental Impact Assessment
EMIA Export Marketing and Investment Assistance
EMS Emergency Medical Services
EPMO Enterprise Project Management Office
FDI Foreign Direct Investment
GAP Gauteng Accelerated Programme
GCEO Group Chief Executive Officer
GDED Gauteng Department of Economic Development
GEP Gauteng Enterprise Propeller
GGDA Gauteng Growth and Development Agency
GIC Gauteng Investment Centre
GIFA Gauteng Infrastructure Funding Agency

GIDZ Gauteng IDZ Development Company
GNDC Greater Newtown Development Company
GRAP Generally Recognised Accounting Practices
IC Incubation Centre
ICT Information Communication Technology
IDZ Industrial Development Zone
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IGR Inter-Governmental Relations
IPA Investment Promotion Agency
IPAP Industrial Policy Action Plan
JDA Johannesburg Development Agency
JMP Jewellery Manufacturing Precinct
KM Knowledge Management
KPI Key Performance Indicator
MEC Member of Executive Council
MTEF Medium Term Expenditure Framework
M&E Monitoring & Evaluation
NDP National Development Plan
NSA Nissan South Africa
NQF National Qualifications Framework
OEM Original Equipment Manufactures
OISE Open Innovation Solution Exchange
PFMA Public Finance Management Act
SCM Supply Chain Management
SEZ Special Economic Zone
SMME Small Medium and Micro Enterprises
SPDC Supplier Park Development Company
SSP Start-up Support Programme
TER Township Economic Revitalisation
TIA The Innovation Acency
TIH The Innovation Hub
TIHMC The Innovation Hub Management Company
TMR Transformation, Modernisation and Re-Industrialisation
TR Treasury Regulations

WEH Winterveldt Enterprise Hub

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS/ACRONYMS
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MEC’S
FOREWORD

“As part of building strategic relations with 
national government, GGDA through its trade 
and investment unit continues to leverage on 
national incentives”

The year under review saw the Gauteng Growth and Development Agency prioritising and 
enhancing trade and investment co-ordination to ensure that Gauteng continues to occupy the 
strategic space both within the South African economy as well as the continent. 

Africa continues to be the second fastest growing region in the world, after Asia. Enormous 
Intra-African investment plays a key role in spatial economic development. South African 
projects in other African countries have grown annually at 44.2% since 2007. Growing 
consumer markets remain an important driver of intra-African investment. 
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During this year, GGDA working together with strategic partners such as trade missions and business chambers 
continue to strengthen the focus of Africa’s reindustrialisation. This is part of implementing pillar ten of the Gauteng 
TMR agenda and is evident in the fact that out of 23 attaches/agency engagements undertaken, 17 engagements 
were with African agencies from countries such as Kenya, Ghana, Ethiopia, Nigeria, Sudan etc. 

The drive to position Gauteng as the preferred location to investors is fundamental and GGDA continues to focus on 
the implementation of the Gauteng Trade and Investment Strategy. The analysis of the investment flows conducted by 
GGDA during the period under review indicates that Gauteng’s exports to industrial countries and within the continent 
are diverse, cutting across many sectors such as manufacturing, steel, mining and agriculture while exports to BRIC 
countries are mainly composed of commodities and raw materials.

The broad thrust and premise of the implementation of the Gauteng Trade and Investment strategy is grounded on 
the strength of the Gauteng economy, our share of national exports and inward investments. Through the Gauteng 
Investment Centre which is located in the economic heartbeat of Africa, Sandton, GGDA offers convenience, making 
doing business in Gauteng easier by providing investors access to key information and business processes, under 
one service point. 

As part of building strategic relations with national government, GGDA through its trade and investment unit continues 
to leverage on national incentives which are meant to enhance our export competitiveness within various sectors of 
the Gauteng economy. 

Through various programmes implemented by its subsidiaries such as The Innovation Hub (TIH) and the Automotive 
Industry and Development Centre (AIDC), impetus has been given to the revitalisation of Gauteng’s township 
economies. The continued implementation of Ekasi Labs and servicing of vehicles at Winterveld hub are amongst the 
key programmes that GGDA actively promotes to revitalise and grow the township economy.

GGDA will also continue to promote Gauteng townships for foreign and domestic investment and ensure that 
township economies are fundamentally integrated into mainstream economic planning and resourcing. 

Mr Lebogang Maile - (MPL) Member of the Executive Council
Economic Development, Environment, Agriculture and Rural Development
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT

“The Gauteng Growth and Development Agency 
remains a strategic implementer of the Gauteng Trade 
and Investment strategy”

The GGDA remains a strategic implementer of the Gauteng Trade and Investment strategy, 
infrastructure investment, as well as other key programmes intended to stimulate sector 
development. Our focus on the trade and investment during the year under review was to 
position the GGDA to significantly contribute in building sustainable economic inclusion and 
modernise the Gauteng economy.  

In strengthening our approach to understanding the trends within the sectoral growth, we continued 
to focus on sector analysis work. For each sector we managed to provide an analysis of both 
provincial and national trends in as far as export, imports and new investments are concerned. 
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Other variables that we analyse in each sector are gross value add, employment created by each sector as well as 
the sale output. These reports were updated each quarter and used to assist our Trade, Investment, Regulatory and 
Enablement unit to drive their work on attraction of investment and trade facilitation.

Our work during the year, focused on intensifying engagements with strategic partners as well as continuous lobbying 
of key state departments that play a role within the economic development space. This has been evident through the 
partnerships established by the GGDA and its subsidiaries in various spheres of government and private sector for 
the purposes of developing transformative infrastructure, facilitating incentives, localisation and promoting previously 
disadvantaged companies.

GGDA has received another clean audit for the year under reviewed. The Board of Directors continued to meet its 
obligations by ensuring that governance structures are in place and management delivers on the commitments made 
during the beginning of the financial year. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the former Group Chief Executive Officer, Mr Siphiwe Ngwenya for the 
work done in providing administrative leadership. His contribution to the work of GGDA cannot go unnoticed. 

On behalf of the Board, we extend a word of welcome to the new Group CEO, Mr Saki Zamxaka who will be guiding 
the work of GGDA in the coming year. We are excited and looking forward to work with the new Group CEO. To the 
entire management team and GGDA group employees, we thank you for your continuous hard work in putting GGDA 
on the map. 

Our special thanks and note of appreciation to the Honourable MEC. We are enthusiastic and committed to the ten 
pillar programme. The Board is committed on the practical implementation plan of creating a radical and modernised 
Gauteng economy. 

Sincerely 

Mr Mogopodi Mokoena - Chairman of the Board 
Gauteng Growth and Development Agency
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“As part of our endeavour to develop companies 
to be export ready during the year under review, 
we have managed to train and develop a total of 
424 companies.”

I am pleased to submit the Annual Report to the Board of Directors and the MEC as prescribed 
by the Public Finance Management Act. 

The Gauteng Growth and Development Agency continues to deliver on its five year strategic 
plan approved in 2014. For the year under review, we have managed to maintain success 
and improve our performance on a number of key performance areas. 

Our drive and desire to achieve a transformed, modernised and re-industrialised Gauteng 
economy remains a priority for the GGDA Group employees. As part of our work to stimulate 
and maintain inward and outward trade and investment, we have during the period under 
review assisted amongst others, businesses to apply for national incentives, identify investment 
locations or premises, facilitated visa applications as well as municipal utilities. 

GROUP CEO 
REPORT 
OVERVIEW 
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In all these initiatives, GGDA has managed to facilitate foreign direct investments to the value of R1 billion, which 
exceeded the planned target of R700 million by 30%, domestic investments to the value of R567.5 million against 
a planned target of R300 million. We have managed to facilitate 33 trade deals against a planned target of 25 
resulting in a total value of R355 million worth of deals. 

As part of our endeavour to develop companies to be export ready, during the year under review, we have 
managed to train and develop several companies. Our export ready training programme is focusing on the export 
capacity building for both emerging and experienced exporters as well as to ensure export sustainability within the 
international markets. 

As part of strengthening our business intelligence on trade and investment, we produced an Annual Trade and 
Investment flow report. This is aimed at providing investment flow analysis to guide our trade and investment work. 
The work of our subsidiaries from The Innovation Hub (TIH), Automotive Industry Development Centre (AIDC), 
Constitution Hill (Conhill) and Gauteng Industrial Development Zone (GIDZ) remains a positive contributor to our 
overall performance. 

Through the Automotive Industry Development Centre (AIDC), we play a strategic role within the automotive 
sector. In making sure that the South African automotive sector in Gauteng remains competitive to their global 
counterparts, we have established an Automotive Skills Advisory Forum, which is supported by strategic organisation 
such as are National Association of Automotive component and Allied Manufactures (NAACAM) and National 
Association of Automobile Manufacturers of South Africa (NAAMSA) with an objective of aligning industry’s skills 
development requirements. 

During the year under review, we implemented an efficiency programme, aimed at providing assistance to Gauteng 
based automotive companies to improve their competitiveness and to enable them to participate at an international 
supply chain.

The Innovation Hub (TIH) continued with their enterprise development programmes, which consist of Maxum Incubator, 
the Climate Innovation Hub and Mlab. These programmes afford hope to entrepreneurs who intend to commercialise 
their innovations.  The coachlab also exceeded its target through the recruitment of 118 learners. 

GROUP CEO 
REPORT 
OVERVIEW 
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As part of the Open Innovation Solution exchange, three new challenges were launched, which saw TIH partnering 
with the Department of Water and Sanitation, Department of Public Service and Administration, Microsoft and 
Code4SA to run a national innovation challenge around water and sanitation issues. Collaboration between TIH 
and Gauteng Department of Health, seeks innovations on a patient referral system for public sector health to reduce 
the referral burden from primary to tertiary health care facilities. 

The Constitution Hill developed cutting edge, educational and informative exhibitions that are relevant to 
constitutionalism, human rights and democracy. As part of its work to show case, Conhill provided space for the 
creative industry to showcase works that engage citizens on issues relevant to the site’s mandate.
 
The work to position the Gauteng Industrial Development Zone as a driver of the Aerotropolis continues. The 
construction of the bulk infrastructure is proceeding well and remains a foundation to build one of the strategic industrial 
development zones within the country. Work is also underway regarding the development of the second phase of the 
IDZ. The engagement with Ekurhuleni regarding the proposed development of a Fuel Cell SEZ localisation has been 
very successful during this financial year. 

The Group achieved five clean audits and one unqualified audit. This could not have been achieved without the 
commitment and dedication of the entire GGDA staff and the oversight of the Boards of Directors.

On behalf of the GGDA staff, I would like to thank the previous Group CEO, Mr Siphiwe Ngwenya for his sterling 
work in driving the business. To the Board of Directors and the Chairman, I extend my appreciation for your 
continuous guidance in providing strategic leadership to the business. 

I would also like to extend our appreciation to MEC Maile, for strategic leadership and keeping us on track in 
delivering on the mandate of the Gauteng provincial government.  

Group Chief Executive Officer
Mr Saki Zamxaka 

Gauteng Growth and Development Agency
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND CONFIRMATION OF 
ACCURACY FOR THE ANNUAL REPORT

To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:

All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report are consistent with the annual financial statements audited 
by the Auditor-General.

The Annual Report is complete, accurate and free from any omissions.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the guidelines on the Annual Report as issued by the 
National Treasury.

The Annual Financial Statements (Part E) have been prepared in accordance with the Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practices (GRAP) standards applicable to the public entity.

The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements and for the judgments 
made in this information.

The accounting authority is responsible for establishing and implementing a system of internal control and has been 
designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the performance information, the 
human resources information and the annual financial statements.

The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.

In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, the performance information, the human resources 
information and the financial affairs of the public entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2016.

Yours faithfully

Group Chief Executive Officer
Mr Saki Zamxaka

Chairperson of the Board
Mr Mogopodi Mokoena
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STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

Vision 

To be the premier catalyst of innovative and sustainable growth and socio-economic development within 
the southern African region.

Mission

To create an enabling environment for growth through targeted investment facilitation, strategic infrastructure 
development and social transformation, thus positioning Gauteng as a leading Global City Region.

Values

In working towards the achievement of the vision and mission, the GGDA subscribes to the following 
internal values, which are in line with the “Batho Pele” principles:

GGDA PEOPLE 
VALUES

GGDA 
PERFORMANCE 

VALUES

Integrity We value each other’s opinion regardless of rank and we 
respect one another across culture, religion, gender and 
race.

Transparency We share information and knowledge and encourage a 
culture of learning and we provide an open, safe and 
responsive environment.

Empowerment We encourage and facilitate personal and professional 
development in order to promote an efficient and successful 
organisation.

Creative
Excellence

We strive for creative and continuous improvement through 
an innovative attitude to achieve high performance.

Goal Driven We deliver on clearly defined objectives through a well 
co-ordinated effort in an effective and efficient manner.

Professionalism We consistently perform with integrity and are accountable.
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LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES

National and Provincial Legislative Mandates 

The GGDA was created through a merger of two DED agencies, namely Blue IQ and GEDA. In terms of the merger 
process, GEDA was dissolved as a legal entity and the GGDA was created through an amendment to Blue IQ 
Investment Holdings Act (No 3 of 2003).

The amendment enabled the change of name from Blue IQ to Gauteng Growth and Development Agency (GGDA) 
and incorporated the mandate and objectives of the former Gauteng Economic Development Agency (GEDA).

Numerous other Acts, both National and Provincial, inform the work of the GGDA, including, but not limited to:

National Legislation

• Public Finance Management Act, 1999
• Companies Act 2008
• Promotion of Access to Information Act, 2000
• Intergovernmental Relations Framework Act, 2005
• Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 2000
• Employment Equity Act, 1998
• Basic Conditions of Employment Act, 1997
• Labour Relations Act, 1995
• Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1995
• Prevention and Combating of Corrupt Activities Act, 2004
• Skills Development Act, 1998
• World Heritage Convention Act, 1999
• Business Act, 1991
• National Environmental Management: Protected Areas Act, 2003
• Township Planning and Township Ordinance, 1986
• Development Facilitation Act,1995
• Broad Based Black Economic Empowerment Act, 2003
• Promotion of Access to Information Act, 2000

Provincial Legislation

• Blue IQ Investment Holdings Act, 2003, as amended
• Gauteng Tourism Act, 2001
• Gauteng Unfair Business Practices Act, 1996. 
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National and Provincial Policy Mandates

Whereas legislation provides the broad mandate; national and provincial policies and frameworks give effect to how 
the legislative mandate should be implemented. Within the context of the GGDA strategy, this involves alignment to 
the long-term and medium-term strategic policy frameworks. Appendix 1 provides a diagram of the strategic links 
between short, medium and long-term growth strategy development pathways.

The table below summarises the key national and provincial policies/frameworks that guide and inform the work of 
the GGDA. 

POLICY/FRAMEWORK RELEVANCE TO THE GGDA

The National Development Plan (2030) Socio-economic development plan and Vision 2030 for 
all of South Africa.

The New Growth Path (2010) Framework for the creation of decent work, economic 
transformation and inclusive growth.

Industrial Policy Action Plan (IPAP, 2014) Framework for Industrial Development and focus on key 
sectors.

Gauteng 25 Year Transport Master plan Framework for changing transport system to support 
long term development.

Strategic Infrastructure Programme 2 (SIP 2) Outlines eighteen catalytic projects that will address 
economic issues and fast track development.

The Medium Term Expenditure Framework Implementation plan of the NDP and its 14 outcomes.

The Creative Industries Development Framework Development of the creative industries sector to maximise
socio-economic benefits in alignment with the Gauteng 
Growth and Development Strategy.

The Gauteng Spatial Development Perspective, 2007 Ensures prioritisation and targeting of infrastructure 
investment and government action.

GENERIC GOOD GOVERNANCE POLICY FRAMEWORKS

• South African National Policy Framework for Women Empowerment and Gender Equality: December 2000
• White Paper on Transforming Public Service Delivery (Batho Pele White Paper)
• National Development Strategy
• National Youth Policy Development Framework: 2002 – 2008
• National Programme of Action for Children Framework (NPA): 1996
• Gauteng Monitoring and Evaluation Policy Framework: 2010
• National Disability Policy Framework: 2009 

Planned Policy Initiatives

The GGDA will continue to support and contribute to the development of policies and strategic frameworks. However, 
its focus will remain on the implementation of such policy and strategy in the period of this strategic plan. Historically, 
the GGDA has tended to play a reactive role in ensuring that policies are implemented. The new strategy places 
a stronger emphasis on the business enablement role that the GGDA will play in leveraging and influencing policy 
that is friendly to promoting investment and business growth and development. This will see an emphasis on ensuring 
– in a proactive manner - that policies are supportive of industrialisation and economic development. Barriers to 
industrialisation and economic development will be actively identified and interventions developed to influence policy 
that overcomes these barriers.
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As and when required and where relevant, the GGDA will contribute to the DED’s review and assessment of all 
current policies, strategies and frameworks to ensure that they are responsive to radically transforming, modernising 
and re- industrialising Gauteng’s economy; and to ensuring that the department is able to effectively and efficiently 
perform its functions. This process will include the following policies, strategies and frameworks:

• Gauteng Industrial Policy
• Gauteng Trade Policy
• Infrastructure Investment Framework
• SMME Policy and Strategy
• Gauteng Integrated Co-operatives Development Strategy
• BBBEE Strategy 
• Gauteng Tourism Development Strategy
• Sector Development Strategies
• Gauteng Green Economy Strategy
• Gauteng Spatial Development Framework
• Gauteng Planning and Development Policy and Bill
 

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE  

GAUTENG DEPARTMENT OF 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT

GGDA BOARD

GGDA HOLDINGS

AIDC BOARD TIH BOARD IDZ BOARD CONHILL BOARD NEWTOWN BOARD

AIDC TIH IDZ CONHILL NEWTOWN 
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PART B
PERFORMANCE 
INFORMATION 
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AUDITOR’S REPORT: 
PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES

The AGSA/auditor currently performs the necessary audit procedures on the performance information to provide 
reasonable assurance in the form of an audit conclusion. The audit conclusion on the performance against 
predetermined objectives is included in the report to management, with material findings being reported under the 
Predetermined Objectives heading in the report on other legal and regulatory requirements section of the auditor’s 
report. Refer to page 117 of the Auditors Report, published as Part E: Financial Information.

OVERVIEW OF THE OPERATING ENVIRONMENT

South African Economic Outlook

South African economic growth saw a decrease of 1.2 % in Q1 of 2016, compared to a 0.4% growth in the 
previous quarter. This is lower than the market expectations of a 0.1% drop and the first contraction since Q2 of 
2015, which was dragged down by the mining and quarrying and transport sectors. Year-on-year, the economy 
contracted 0.2 %, following 0.5 %growth in Q4 - the first drop since the fourth quarter of 2009.

The mining and quarrying sector was the major driver of this worsening growth position as it shrank by an annualised
18.1% (+1.4% in Q4 2015). In addition to this, transport fell 2.7% (-0.3% in Q4 2015). Agriculture contracted 
for the fifth consecutive period by 6.5 % (-6.7% in Q4) and electricity, gas and water declined 2.8% (+1% in Q4). 
However the wholesale, retail, motor trade, catering and accommodation sectors grew by1.3%, following a 2.6% 
growth in Q4. Construction rose at a slower 0.5% following a 1.4% growth in the previous period. Finance, real 
estate and business services rose by 1.9% (+1.7% in Q4) and general government services expanded by 1.1% 
(+1.2% in Q4).

Gauteng Economic Environment

Gauteng, with its population of just over 13.2 million people, continues to experience rapid population growth from 
within South Africa and Africa. It is predicted in the G2055 that the Province’s population will increase to 28m by 
2055. Gauteng’s population amounts to just over 24% of South Africa’s total (SERO 2016), has the highest per 
capita income level, and accounts for 47.7% of employees’ remuneration.

Gauteng contributes 36.7% of the country’s GDP and 10% of the continent’s total GDP. Its economy is dominated by 
tertiary industries that have expanded to contribute at least 60.8% to growth, with its finance, real estate and business 
services sectors contributing 26% to the Province’s GDP. The manufacturing, government services, wholesale and 
retail, transport and accommodation sectors contributed 15.2%, 25.4%, 12.9% and 10.5% respectively.

The rate of total output of Gauteng in 2015 was 2.5%, twice that of the national average. The sectors that contributed 
most to growth were transport, finance, manufacturing and electricity; while agriculture, mining and community 
services shrank as a result of the negative impacts of the 2014 mining strike and the reduction of fiscal expenditure 
by government in the province.
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Spatial Distribution of Metros and Municipalities’ GDP

The City of Johannesburg (CoJ) has the largest economy of all Gauteng municipalities with a GVA (Gross Value 
Added) of R455bn in 2015. The growth of its economy is largely driven by the business and financial sectors, 
which contributed towards its 4% growth. In 2015, the City of Tshwane (CoT) had the fastest growing economy in 
Gauteng (4.4% growth with a total GDP-R of R270.7bn), driven predominantly by its transport, communications and 
government sectors. Ekurhuleni’s economy, driven largely by its manufacturing sector, resulted in a 3% growth and 
GDP-R of R232.7bn. Gauteng’s two district municipalities - the West Rand and Sedibeng - contributed -0.4% and 
-2% of the province’s GVA respectively.

Sectorial Performance

Gauteng’s finance sector remains by far its most dominant sector. Gauteng’s sector share to National total in most 
sectors was above 30% in 2014, with only textile and agro processing at 14.3% and 29% respectively. Gauteng’s 
performance was the same for 2013 and 2014 with primary at 4%, secondary at 22% and tertiary at 74%. 
These figures indicate that Gauteng is not a primary sector based province and should instead focus attention on its 
secondary and tertiary sectors if it is to become the industrial hub of Africa. Gauteng’s financial sector is not labour-
intensive and employs mostly medium to highly skilled professionals.

It is also worth noting that the increase in Gauteng’s government, social and personal sector has been bolstered by 
the government’s increasing involvement in the economy. Gauteng’s private sector has not been growing fast enough 
to absorb the responsibility of unemployment and economic development in the province, which has compelled 
government to pick up the slack. Gauteng’s provincial economy is driven predominantly by its service sectors - 
government services, financial services wholesale, and its retail and transport sector. There has also been a gradual 
decline in Gauteng’s primary sector from 2003 to date - its manufacturing, mining and agricultural sectors, in 
particular. This structural economic shift does, however, provide growth prospects for the years to come.

Gauteng’s trade with the rest of the world

Gauteng’s total exports in 2014 amounted to R666bn with imports amounting to R622bn, indicating a trade deficit 
of R44bn with the rest of the world (Quantec 2015). Top exports included pearls, precious stones, mineral products, 
and base metals. The province’s top five exports also comprised machinery, mechanical/electrical appliances, 
motor vehicles (and parts), aircraft and other transport equipment. Most popular imports included machinery, with 
mechanical/electrical equipment topping the list as the single largest import in terms of rand value. Mineral products, 
vehicles and aircrafts, and chemical products follow machinery in order of precedence. Trade figures from 2010 to 
2014 reflect that the province has chiefly been running a trade surplus other than in 2014 when it incurred a deficit 
of R44bn.
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Gauteng trade with world regions

Gauteng Trade with industrial countries

Historically, developed countries have focused on the exportation of industrial goods and advanced manufactured 
goods, with China dominating the export of advanced manufactured goods. South Africa’s exports to industrial 
countries are diverse across a number of sectors, with exports to the BRIC comprising mainly of commodities and 
raw materials.

Gauteng Trade with EU

In Europe, Gauteng’s most important trading partner is Germany (20%), followed by the United Kingdom (20%), the 
Netherlands (15%), Belgium (9%) and Italy (8%). Gauteng’s primary exports to the EU are fuels and mining products, 
machinery and transport equipment, and other semi-manufactured goods. EU exports to Gauteng and South Africa 
are dominated by machinery and transport equipment, chemicals and other semi-machinery, while South Africa’s 
exports to Germany are driven mainly by mining, and whole vehicle and automotive component exports. Gauteng 
also exports refined petroleum products and Agricultural Products (wines), although relatively small amounts when 
compared with Mining and Automotive sector exports. Vehicle exports are most likely to be driven by intra-industry 
trade within the automotive sector, as German vehicle manufacturers based in South Africa import and export different 
makes of vehicles.

Gauteng Trade with USA

In 2014, Gauteng exports to the USA amounted to R42bn, with imports coming to roughly R58b (resulting in a trade 
deficit with the USA). Top import categories for 2014 were: machinery, precious stones (gold), vehicles, electrical 
machinery, and optical and medical instruments. The main export categories were: precious stones (platinum and 
diamonds), vehicles, iron and steel, ores, slag, ash and machinery. These results indicate that Gauteng’s trade with 
the USA is balanced across all sectors.

Gauteng Trade with BRICs Countries

The growth in South Africa’s mineral products and commodities exports has shifted from targeting the traditional major 
markets in EU and the USA to a focus on the southern engines. Total trade between SA and the BRIC countries jumped 
from 4.13% in 2000 to 13.84% in 2009, decreasing marginally to 11.3% in 2014 as a result of recessions in 
Brazil and Russia, and strong Gauteng exports to Africa. Today China, India, Brazil and Russia rank as SA’s 1st, 6th, 
17th and 40th largest trade partners (Quantec 2015). Gauteng and SA mainly import manufactured goods from 
China, India and Brazil, and export metals to China and India. There is very little trade between Gauteng/ South 
Africa and Brazil as they are both resource rich and consider resources to be their main export products. It is therefore 
imperative that Gauteng enhance its industrial capacity and manufacturing sector so as to be able to participate in 
a fair exchange with its BRIC partners.

Gauteng Trade with Africa

Gauteng, and South Africa as a whole, runs imbalanced trade with trading partners from the continent (with the 
exception of Nigeria and Angola where imports of petroleum outweigh exports from South Africa and Gauteng). 
The majority of exports to Africa consist of manufactured, agricultural, and processed goods, and Gauteng’s exports 
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to and imports from Africa still increased even in the midst of a global slowdown. Exports to the continent in 2014 
totalled R173bn (as opposed to 203bn in 2013, reflecting the a cooling of the commodity boom) and imports 
totalled R77bn. Gauteng runs trade surplus with the African continent (with the exception of Nigeria and Angola), 
with imports composed primarily of petro carbons. Because our export basket is varied across sectors, trade activities 
between Gauteng and Africa have the potential to provide a much-needed boost to the province’s industrialisation.

Organisational Environment 

The performance of the GGDA group is directly aligned with the DED’s Programme 2 (IEDS), Programme 3 (Trade 
and Sector Development) and the Governance element of Programme 4 (Business Regulation and Governance). The 
GGDA Group will collaborate with and assist the DED’s Programme 5, which is responsible for Economic Planning.

In terms of this model, the GDED is responsible for strategy, policy and oversight, while the agency is accountable for 
the implementation of approved initiatives. This is done within a framework of control and governance that provides 
Gauteng with a mechanism with which to encourage the development of existing economic activity, create new 
opportunities (in order to grow the base of sustainable employers and employment opportunities), and stimulate the 
growth of Gauteng’s economy as a whole.

In summary, GDDA’s strategic programmes aim to radically transform, modernise and re-industrialise Gauteng’s 
economy through strategically shifting and enhancing its role and function. This entails the following:

• Initiator and Project Manager - of key projects focused on:  
1. Revitalising township economies
2. Supporting and growing the eleven identified sectors
3. Building new, smart knowledge-based industries
4. Ensuring energy security, environmental sustainability and efficient use of existing resources 
5. Supporting the provision of strategic economic infrastructure

• Facilitator and Implementer - of combined and aligned initiatives with national and local government.
• Funder - of strategic key projects such as those mentioned above, and especially strategic economic  

infrastructure projects.
• Promoter - of domestic and foreign investment into the key projects and focus areas of the Province.
• Analyst - of key economic and sectorial data (business intelligence). The aim is to facilitate and implement 

key projects in order to achieve the current government’s strategic and socio-economic development directives.

Strategic Outcome Oriented Goals

The performance delivery environment of the GGDA for the 2015/16 financial year is informed by both the strategic 
positioning of its shareholder (the GDED), and its role within this positioning – namely, to serve as Gauteng’s major 
institutional driving force to radically transform, modernise and re-industrialise Gauteng’s economy. 
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STRATEGIC OUTCOME-ORIENTED GOALS    

1. Gauteng’s economy radically transformed. 
2. Gauteng’s economy re-industrialised and modernised.
3. GGDA capacitated to deliver and implement efficiently and effectively.

PROGRAMME 1: GGDA HOLDINGS

The Administration Sub-programme will work towards the following strategic objectives
1. Financial accountability and compliance to all prescribed financial regulations and guidelines.
2. Employment Equity targets in respect of women and persons with disabilities achieved or surpassed.
3. Effective implementation of the GPG BB BEE Strategy.
4. GCR marketed (and positioned) as an investment destination of choice locally and internationally. 

The Business Intelligence and Planning (BIP) Sub-programme will work towards the following strategic 
objectives:
• Research based reports and plans that inform the radical transformation, modernisation and re-industrialisation 

of Gauteng’s economy.
• Develop and packaging of strategic “Big Ideas” projects. 
• Develop and implement an economic resource centre, economic leadership seminars and bulletins. 
• Develop integrated strategic and annual performance plans within the GGDA Group and with the DED.

The Trade, Investment and Regulatory Enablement (TIRE) Sub-programme will work towards the 
following strategic objectives:
1. Facilitate industry development programmes to grow key identified sectors.
2. Facilitate investment that supports modernisation and re-industrialisation of Gauteng’s economy.
3. Increased global trade activities from Gauteng.

The Enterprise Project Mangament Office (EPMO) Sub-programme will work towards the following 
strategic objectives:
1. To develop and support SEZs in Gauteng.
2. To support sustainable economic development and green economic approaches.
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Strategic Outcome Oriented Goals (continued)

STRATEGIC OUTCOME-ORIENTED GOALS    

PROGRAMME 2: AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT CENTRE (AIDC)

1. Revitalised and modernised township economies reflecting radical transformation and re-industrialisation of 
Gauteng’s economy through automotive sector development.

2. SMME’s, township enterprises and cooperatives participating in the automotive sector in Gauteng.
3. Appropriately skilled human resource and business capacity that meet the needs of the automotive sector in the 

re-industrialised Gauteng economy.
4. Establish, maintain and manage strategic infrastructure 
5. IGR – unlocking opportunities linked to SADC and Africa.

PROGRAMME 3: THE INNOVATION HUB

1. Facilitate and support innovation and commercialisation of new innovation towards building new, smart, 
knowledge-based industries and economy.

PROGRAMME 4: GAUTENG IDZ DEVELOPMENT COMPANY (GIDZ)

1. To stimulate employment-led growth and development through the facilitation of strategic economic infrastructure 
interventions.

2. To facilitate the development of high value, low mass manufactured products at the IDZ that can be airfreighted. 
3. To facilitate the development of sector specific skills required to meet the needs of the jewellery economic sector.

PROGRAMME 5: CONSTITUTION HILL (ConHill)

1. Strategic economic infrastructure that supports Gauteng’s political heritage and integrated urban development.
2. Develop and grow Gauteng’s tourism sector.

PROGRAMME 6: GREATER NEWTOWN DEVELOPMENT COMPANY (GNDC)

1. Effective facilities and financial management over the Greater Newtown Development Company (GNDC).
2. Winding down of GNDC.
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PROGRAMME 1: 
GGDA HOLDINGS
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PROGRAMME 1: GGDA HOLDINGS

Description of Programme 1: GGDA Holdings

Programme 1 contributes directly to Strategic Goal 3: GGDA capacitated to deliver and implement efficiently 
and effectively; and supports delivery of: Strategic Goal 1: Gauteng’s economy radically transformed; and 
Strategic Goal 2: Gauteng’s economy re-industrialised.

ADMINISTRATION PROGRAMME

PURPOSE FUNCTIONS

Provide strategic and operational leadership, support 
and transversal business solutions

• Accounting Authority in terms of Section 51 of the 
PFMA 

• The scope of authority includes:
o GGDA
o AIDC
o TIH
o GIDZ
o CONHILL
o NEWTOWN
• Strategic Management of the GGDA Group
• Operational Management of the GGDA Group
• Financial Management
• Management Accounting
• Supply Chain Management
• Risk Management
• Human Resource Management
• Communication, Marketing and Destination Promotion
• Auxiliary and Legal Services
• Information and Communication Technology

BIP

Provide Business Intelligence Planning support services • Provide research-based information to support 
planning, decision making and optimal resource 
utilisation in respect of radical economic transformation 
and re-industrialisation interventions

• Strategic projects that contribute to spatial economic 
transformation

• Integrated and holistic planning of knowledge 
management

TIRE

Facilitate trade and investment towards radical 
transformation, modernisation and re-industrialisation 
of Gauteng’s economy

To drive economic growth and job creation through 
value-added facilitation of targeted investment in strategic 
sectors and delivery of trade linkages globally through:
• Gauteng Investment Centre
• Trade facilitation and export development
• Investment attraction and facilitation
• Business expansion, retention and aftercare

EPMO

Provide project management support for strategic 
economic infrastructure projects

Provide transversal services in respect of centralised and 
coordinated management of capital infrastructure projects, 
i.e. project management support functions along the 
project cycle to:
• Gauteng ICT Park SEZ
• Green Economy
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KPI’s Not Achieved
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Programme 1: GGDA Holdings 

The purpose of the GGDA Holding’s Company is to provide strategic and operational leadership, support and trans-
versal business solutions. The programme is structured into the following sub-programmes:

Sub-Programmes

1.1  Trade, Investment and Regulatory Enablement (TIRE) 
1.2  Business Intelligence and Planning
1.3  Enterprise Project Management Office 
1.4  Administration

Trade, Investment and Regulatory Enablement (TIRE)

The objectives of the sub-programme are to:
• Facilitate industry development programmes in order to grow key identified sectors
• Facilitate investment that supports the modernisation and re-industrialisation of Gauteng’s economy
• Increase global trade activities from Gauteng

The sub-programme has the following functional areas:
a)  Investment attraction and facilitation
b)   Trade facilitation and export development
c)   Business expansion, retention and aftercare
d)  Regulatory enablement services

The GGDA was successful in achieving main impact targets in investments and facilitated trade for the year 
under review. It also surpassed a number of targets as a result of the TIRE units’ dedicated facilitation work and 
a single-minded commitment to exceed client expectations where possible. The GGDA’s enhanced relations with 
municipalities, national and provincial departments, including their support institutions that are key for overseeing 
the business regulatory environment, also proved invaluable in the reaching of these targets. The highlights are listed 
below per objective area:
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Investments 
The GGDA took a proactive approach to generating leads by engaging with various sources including South Afri-
can missions abroad, foreign embassies, dual and local chambers, and industry bodies. This approach helped to 
build a rapport between the GGDA and these various entities, while also positioning the agency as a gateway for 
business investors.

In terms of numbers, this strategic exercise successfully resulted in 136 investment enquiries – a third of which were 
developed into investment leads (recorded in the project pipeline). The total value of projects in the pipeline is in the 
region of R20bn, excluding mega property developments that, if added, will bring the pipeline value to over R70bn.

The period under review also saw a number of investments projects facilitated from the project pipeline, which 
generated 5,093 jobs and a contribution in the region of R1,56bn. These investment projects fell predominantly 
in the property, manufacturing, agro-processing and services sectors. It is important to note that this achievement 
rate would have been higher were it not for challenging economic conditions that resulted in a percentage of 
projects adopting extended rollout periods.

Foreign Direct Investment (FDI)
The FDI component was R1bn through investments in property, agro-processing, textile manufacturing and electrical 
components from China, Ireland and Portugal respectively. These investment projects are located in the Central 
corridor, however there is clear indication that agro-processing projects will be expanding to the Northern corridor 
in the coming year.
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Domestic Direct Investment (DDI)
The project pipeline added new mega property investments that commenced implementation during this period, 
resulting in the increased DDI investments of R567 million. The contribution to investment from the construction and 
property sector was a third of the total investment amount, with the remainder being from various manufacturing sub-
sectors. The projects were concentrated in the Central and Eastern corridors.

Jobs
There was a substantial increase in the number of jobs created by investment projects, which resulted in a total of 
5,093 jobs.

Business Retention and Expansion

During the period under review, 41 companies were assisted with retention and expansion projects through joint 
action with Gauteng municipalities. The process involved factory visitations in the three metropolitan municipalities 
and Emfuleni in order to engage companies in their operational environments and create awareness of the support 
available to them. More than 50% of companies were in the manufacturing sector and contributed to the overall 
investment amount, with some companies also expanding their footprint in the region. Continuous conversations with 
local and dual chambers also resulted in the reaching of a consensus with these companies to establish business 
forums with the GGDA. Members of these chambers are informed of the support services available to them and 
can, in turn, feed back on any group challenges that are emerging. These exercises have successfully facilitated the 
establishment of links between various businesses that are emerging from new investment projects, the results of which 
will be clearly reflected in the next financial year.
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Trade and Facilitation
Significant advances have been made in engaging with key stakeholders required to provide an effective service 
to companies wanting to be involved in export markets. As such, the GGDA established a Gauteng Exporter 
Development Forum, comprising the DTI, SEDA and Gauteng municipalities. The forum aims to coordinate issues 
of training and market information as part of the implementation of the National Exporter Development Programme 
(NEDP). As a result of this forum and its resulting coordinated approach, 424 emerging companies have been trained 
on export. This exceeded the target of 200 companies by more than 100% - a significant milestone.

In terms of commercial aspects, the GGDA successfully facilitated 33 deals, which resulted in R355m in exports 
being recorded. The bulk of this figure is attributed to direct facilitation with companies in the agro-processing, 
electrical cables, materials and furniture manufacturing sub sectors. It is worth noting that the agro goods were largely 
destined for Western Europe while the remaining manufactured goods were for the African continent. Although there 
were queries on substantial export orders from India, the deals were not closed by the end of the financial year by 
the companies involved. The establishment of an export trade desk will be one of the measures introduced to ensure 
that Gauteng exports are accelerated to new markets. To date, this initiative has received positive feedback from 
national partners, which is critical to its operational success.

As part of support services provided to Gauteng companies, the GGDA facilitated the participation of 42 emerging 
companies in local exhibitions - the Township Business Expo, Africa Energy Indaba, Manufacturing Indaba, 
Tradewinds, Homemakers, and many more. The GGDA also facilitated the process whereby Gauteng companies 
could participate in outward selling missions and exhibitions. A total of 37 companies gained access to DTI incentives 
and took part in international shows and exhibitions.
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Gauteng Investment Centre
The Gauteng Investment Centre (GIC) has continued to build on their hard-earned reputation of being a “one-stop-
shop” that successfully connects business to government. Interest in the GIC continues to grow exponentially as 
interested parties seek to understand the nature of assistance they are able to receive. The synchronisation of national 
and provincial “one stop shop” operations aims to further enhance the experience of the business sector by reducing 
costs and the amount of red tape required.

The Department of Home Affairs launched the Premium Lounge of the Visa Facilitation Service (VFS) on 20 May 
2015. This addition ensures that the GIC is relevant to the expatriate business community and their extended families. 
The DHA facilitated a visit to the GIC by other provincial governments whereby they could view the delivery model 
and be encouraged to replace it in their relevant provinces.

During the course of the year, 133 requests were successfully resolved with GIC partners. 45 delegations from 
various countries were also hosted and engaged, the most noteworthy being large delegations from the Netherlands 
(House of the Future) and United States (Tradewinds).

Business Intelligence and Planning 

The strategic objectives of the Business Intelligence and Planning Unit are to:

• Provide research-based reports and plans that inform the radical transformation, modernisation and re- 
industrialisation of Gauteng’s economy.

• Develop an economic resource centre, as well as economic leadership seminars and bulletins.
• Develop integrated strategic and annual performance plans within the GGDA Group and with the DED.

Research working papers
Research Working Papers have been created to explore the volume, composition and direction of trade and investment 
flows /activities between Gauteng and Africa. The themes of these reports cover issues such as: South African trade 
with the BRICS, the decline of the manufacturing sector, South Africa Trade and Investment trends with regards to other 
African countries, and the extent to which official definitions of unemployment satisfy the employment agenda. The 
resulting four research papers have been shared with the Executives of DED Economic Planning. 

Economic Bulletins 
During the period under review, four quarterly economic bulletins were produced, detailing economic issues that 
impact the South African and Gauteng economy. These bulletins have been distributed to Group Executives, and 
shared with the Department of Economic Development Economic Planning division. 

Annual Trade and Investment Flow Report 
The Annual Gauteng Trade and Investment Flow Report is aimed at gathering intelligence that will inform TIRE on 
specific countries and sectors to target with trade missions. The report looks at issues relating to Gauteng performance 
in global trade, recommends which countries or regions should receive or supply Gauteng’s goods or investments, as 
well as the types of products and locations from which we should import. The target of producing an Annual Trade 
and Investment Flow report was met in the period under review.
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Sector Reports
Four sector reports were produced for the financial year, which focused on the current state of various sectors of 
Gauteng economies and South Africa as a whole. These reports included a valuable update on the industry’s 
performance in the first quarter of 2016, as well as feedback on trade and FDI performances. They also served to 
highlight sector growth performance and employment trends, as well as the crucial impact of various economic issues 
on the performance of Gauteng and other economic sectors.  

Economic Spatial and Infrastructural deficiencies and opportunities report and plan 
A Spatial report was produced during the period under review with the intention of realising and unlocking economic 
potential within the Premier of Gauteng’s defined corridors. The report aimed to inform configurations; prioritise 
and promote inter-related infrastructure; promote trade and investment-led economic growth; promote value-added 
processing; and specify applicable policies and by-laws. 

Knowledge Management sessions 
Four thought-leadership sessions were held as per the national target. These sessions were aimed at sharing knowledge 
and information that could assist key stakeholders with investment and trade decisions. Four knowledge sessions were 
scheduled to be held during this financial year – two being canceled due to poor attendance. 

Enterprise Project Management Office (EPMO) 

The purpose of the Enterprise Project Management Office (EPMO) is to provide transversal services that successfully 
centralise and coordinate the management of capital infrastructure projects. In other words, project management 
support functions for SEZ’s in Gauteng.

ICT Special Economic Zone (SEZ)
The Special Economic Zone (SEZ) aims to accelerate the implementation of Government’s industrial programme as outlined 
in IPAP.

The planning and development of proposed SEZs is done with the assistance of the DTI, who also offer land preparations, 
general preparatory work and value chains, the implementation of government priorities, and valuable resources with 
which to identify industrial clusters. 

Attainment of the target was subject to land acquisition. Targeted and earmarked land at Nasrec became unavailable, 
which necessitated the exploration of various alternative sites. Each site was then evaluated on the following selection 
criterion:

• Ownership and ease of control 
• Zoning and proclamation issues
• Technical parameters such as geo-technical, environmental, heritage, land claims etc
• Access to optic fibre 
• Access to reliable power supply, integration to existing ICT clusters
• Attainable physical security 
• Feasibility costs of setting up, operation, telecoms and broadband, labour, skills availability 
• Proximity to major beneficiaries and suppliers
• Proximity to trade ports 
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Marketing and Strategic Promotions 

During the period under review, the GGDA’s marketing unit focused predominantly on building the brand of the 
organisation amongst key stakeholders, promotional platforms and forums.

Marketing
The GGDA repositioned its brand primarily through media bulk buying on major national routes (M1 South and 
North, N3) and on domestic and international OR Tambo airport screens. This initiative aimed at strengthening 
brand equity, attracting potential investors, and showcasing the strength of the Gauteng City Region’s infrastructure 
and technology.

In the year under review key highlights for the unit included the positioning of the GCR through the Gauteng 
Infrastructure Investment Conference which aimed to showcase key infrastructure investment initiatives within the 
province to potential investment partners locally and internationally.  Strategic partnerships were also secured with 
partners to promote the leadership role of the organisation in relation to economic development.  Such partnerships 
included that secured with the CNBC in the AABLA (All Africa Business Leadership Awards) awards. Through this 
partnership GGDA’s brand and leadership role was profiled to local and international markets especially within 
the continent. 

Key audiences were also interacted through various promotion and exhibitions platforms including the Manufacturing 
Indaba; Africa Energy Indaba, the Township Business Expo, Municipal Infrastructure Summit as well as the Buy Local 
Summit Expo – targeting local businesses; all in promoting the GCR to key investment communities.

Strategic Promotions
The Strategic Promotions Unit continued in its role of developing the organisation’s collateral material. Its key focus 
has been on providing potential local and international investors with a platform in which to engage with strategic 
information on the Gauteng City Region. It has also successfully created platforms for the organisation to market 
itself, assisted the Trade and Investment Unit with meeting potential investors, and generated leads both locally and 
internationally. During the period under review, the unit partnered with the Business Intelligence unit to host four 
effective thought-leadership seminars.

Media
A public company’s reputation is largely driven by the manner in which its work is reported to the general public 
via the media. The GGDA continued to monitor and track media sentiments to gain a deeper understanding of the 
Group’s positioning, while also discussing corrective strategies and future brand positioning on a continuous basis. 
The media report for the year under review reflects a positive reporting sentiment of 63%, neutral reporting of 37%, 
and negative reporting of 0%.
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PERFORMANCE INFORMATION 
BY ADMINISTRATIVE PROGRAMME 

Programme 1: GGDA Holdings 

Pogramme 1 contributes directly to Strategic Goal 3(GGDA capacitated to deliver and implement efficiently and 
effectively). It also supports delivery of Strategic goal 1(Gauteng’s economy radically transformed) and Strategic Goal 
2(Gauteng’s economy re – industrialised). 

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 
2015/2016

COMMENT ON 
DEVIATIONS

% of resolved 
14/15 AG audit 
findings

Unqualified 100% 71%                                    
(15 of 

21 findings 
resolved)

-29% 6 matters will be 
attended to by 
AG at the next 
audit cycles

Variance 
between 
budget & actual 
expenditure

- <5% 11% 6% Implementation of 
capital projects 
lagged behind 
schedule 

% of invoices paid 
within 30 days

- 100% 100% None -

Number of 
GCR marketed 
platforms imple-
mented

New indicator 5 7 + 2 Annual target 
was achieved in 
Q3. The agency 
however hosted 
and participated 
in two additional 
events in March 
2016

% compliance 
to BBBEE 
preferential 
procurement 
targets per 
annum

HDI: 80%
Women: 

30%
Youth: 10%
PWD: 5%

HDI: 103%
Women: 17%

Youth: 6%
PWD: 0%

HDI: +21%
Women: - 13%

Youth: -4%
PWD: -5%

The majority of 
the suppliers are 
SMME’s and 
QSE’s
Challenges still 
exist in sourcing 
100% women 
and youth owned 
companies

% spend on local 
procurement

98% 75% 87% +12% Pre-approved 
companies on 
the database 
focuses on local 
procurement

Number of 
“annual trade 
and investments 
flows”report

New indicator 1 1 None -
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Programme 1: GGDA Holdings (continued)

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 
2015/2016

COMMENT ON 
DEVIATIONS

Number of 
“economic spatial 
& infrastructural 
deficiencies and 
opportunities” 
report and plan

New indicator 1 1 None -

Number of 
research working 
papers produced 

New indicator 4 4 None -

Number of 
sectoral trends 
reports

5 4 4 None -

Number of 
economic 
bulletins 
produced

4 4 4 None -

Number of 
economic  
seminars hosted

New indicator 4 2 -2 Sessions had to 
be canceled due 
to lack of appetite 
for the seminars 
by targeted 
audiences  

Number 
of thought 
leadership 
sessions hosted  

New indicator 4 4 None - 

Development 
of integrated 
strategic annual 
performance 
plans within the 
GGDA Group 
and with the DED 

New indicator 6 6 None - 

Number of sector 
development/
support 
programmes 
implemented 

- 3 (CTFL, 
furniture, 
Agri)

3 None - 
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Programme 1: GGDA Holdings (continued)

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 
2015/2016

COMMENT ON 
DEVIATIONS

Number of 
companies 
assisted to 
expand/retained 
in target sector

10 40 41 +1 Concerted efforts 
to enhance 
aftercare service 
provision 

Rand value of FDI 
facilitated

R1.3 billion R 700m 
worth of FDI 

facilitated

R 1 bn. worth of 
FDI facilitated

+R300m Increase in number 
of companies 
provided with 
facilitation services

Rand value of 
DDI facilitated

R76.5 million R 300m 
worth of DDI 

facilitated

R 567.5m 
worth of DDI 

facilitated

+ R267.5m Increase in number 
of companies 
provided with 
facilitation services

Number of 
contract jobs 
facilitated

1101 1060 2476 +1416 The increase 
in number of 
companies 
provided with 
services resulted in 
more than forecast 
jobs being 
facilitated

Number of 
permanent jobs 
facilitated

1116 879 2617 +1738 The increase 
in number of 
companies 
provided with 
services resulted in 
more than forecast 
jobs being 
facilitated

% of requests/
queries 
successfully 
facilitated 
through the GIC

New indicator Baseline + 
20%
= 103

129 + 26 Increased visibility 
and provision of 
services provided 
by the GIC

Total value of 
trade deals 
facilitated

- R200 million R355m + R155m Matching buyers 
and Gauteng 
firms during 
trade exhibitions 
attended
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Programme 1: GGDA Holdings (continued)

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 
2015/2016

COMMENT ON 
DEVIATIONS

Number of 
companies 
assisted to secure 
DTI incentives

38 35 
companies 
assisted to 
secure DTI 
incentives

37 companies 
assisted to 
secure DTI 
incentives

+2 Additional 
companies were 
approved for 
funding by the DTI

Number of 
enterprises 
assisted through 
export readiness 
programme

163 200 
enterprises 
assisted 
through 
export 
readiness 
programme

424 enterprises 
assisted through 
export readiness 
programme

+224 Partnerships with 
municipalities and 
the DTI

Number of Trade 
deals facilitated 
for Gauteng 
based firms

20 25 Trade 
deals 
facilitated 
for Gauteng 
based firms

33 Trade deals 
facilitated for 
Gauteng based 
firms

+8 Matching buyers 
and Gauteng 
firms during 
trade exhibitions 
attended

Africa 
infrastructure 
build 
opportunities 
pursued reports

New indicator 4 4 None - 

Initiated the 
Gauteng ICT 
Park – SEZ

50% business 
case developed

Initiate 
Gauteng 
ICT Park - 
SEZ

Land earmarked 
for the SEZ 
unavailable 

Not achieved The earmarked 
land became 
unavailable 
and a process 
to acquired 
alternative land 
was initiated 
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PROGRAMME 2: 
AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME



GAUTENG GROWTH AND DEVELOPMENT AGENCY

LEADING THE AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

AIDC Chief Executive Officer
Dr David Masondo

Chairperson of AIDC Board
Dr Sydney Mufamadi
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Programme 2: Automotive Industry Development Centre (AIDC) 

The table below depicts the purpose of Programme 2, its Sub-programmes and their functions.

BUDGET 
PROGRAMME:2

PURPOSE SUB-
PROGRAMMES

FUNCTIONS

Automotive 
Industry 
Development 
Centre (AIDC)

To develop 
the automotive 
manufacturing 
sector to globally 
competitive 
standards of 
excellence through 
a world-class 
value proposition 
which enables 
effective and 
sustainable socio-
economic growth

Industry 
Development

Supplier and Enterprise Development 
Township Enterprise development
Incubator Programmes 
SD&T (Skills, Development and Training – also ESDA)
Learning Centre (with two simulator facilities)
Special Programmes (including Tshwane Automotive 
City))
Industrial policy development support to key 
stakeholders
Automotive export support into SADC/Africa

Operations Facilities maintenance and improvement 
Planning execution
Construction projects
ICT Management (also responsible for Business 
Continuity Management) 
SHEQMAN (Safety, Health, Environmental Quality 
Management System – all AIDC sites)
Soft Services – AIDC office support
Conference Venue and Lap at ASP
Contact Centre and Help desk (facilities support, ICT 
and SHEQ)

M&E and Risk Strategic and operational planning coordination
Business Plan Coordination 
Enterprise Risk Management and Risk Registers
Operations risk management – across all projects 
and all sites
Reporting – performance tracking
Projects monitoring
Jobs Fund reporting (e-portal)
Oversee M&E of operational and performance 
effectiveness
Performance audit evidence collection

Business 
Development

New Business Sourcing – business intelligence 
Alternative Funding 
Enterprise Business Analysis – including township 
concept development
Marketing, corporate identity and events 
tenants leases, relationships, and tenant pipeline

Finance Operations
Projects
Procurement
Payroll

Human 
Resources

Recruitment and administration
Employee wellness and relations
Skills, development and training
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Programme 2 contributes directly to Strategic Goal 1: Gauteng’s economy radically transformed and Strategic 
Goal 2: Gauteng’s economy re-industrialised; and supports delivery of Strategic Goal 3: GGDA capacitated to 
deliver and implement efficiently and effectively.

Nissan Incubation Centre (NIC)

Construction 
The construction of the Incubation Centre at Nissan (ICN) began on 10 September 2015. A payment progress of 
51% was reported by year-end (payment certificate measured against budget).

SMME Incubates 
The selection and appointment of BEE SMME incubates for the AIDC’s Automotive Incubation Centre at Nissan has 
been deferred to 2016/2017. This is the result of the decision to postpone the manufacturing of their new pick-up 
truck to FY 2017/2018. However, the recruitment process has continued and a short list of potential candidates 
has been compiled.

Ford Incubation Centre 
The Ford Incubation Centre was the first new Incubate to be appointed, and has commenced with business induction 
and the process of settling into the programme’s requirements. One Incubate was given ‘notice to graduate’ out of 
the Centre by 31 March 2016 under a separate production order from Ford (who will also host this business on their 
premises) and a replacement Incubate was contracted. Work has not yet begun, as the off-take agreement with Ford 
and the Tier 1 still needs to be signed.

Winterveld Enterprise Hub (WEH) 
TThe Winterveld Enterprise Hub (WEH) has been implemented within the Township Enterprise Revitalisation Strategy 
with the aim of providing local SMMS’s with access to external business inflow. The hub has been set up with modern 
repair equipment, modern repair methods and OEM insurance accreditation readiness. 

In terms of the WEH’s numbers, there are eight SMME’s employing 28 people, a total of 80 vehicles (of which 
28 were EMS vehicles) have been processed, and a turnover of R962k (self-sufficiency ratio) was attained, which 
equates to 35.7% of the R2.9m opex budget allocation for the year. Discussions with public sector organisations 
(e.g. City of Tshwane, SA Police Service and G-fleet) have been held to ensure they use the hub for all their auto 
repairs going forwards.

Gauteng Automotive Learning Centre (GALC)
The Gauteng Automotive Learning Centre (GALC) project is a partnership between Nissan SA (NSA) and the Gauteng 
Provincial Government. The centre was launched as a result of the NSA investment support programme that saw 
Nissan bidding to manufacture the next generation pick-up truck at their Rosslyn vehicle assembly facility. The GALC is 
primarily (but not exclusively) utilised by Nissan SA for all its technical and non-technical related training activities, and 
has successfully achieved full training service provider accreditation with merSeta for the further education training 
certificate: Automotive Sales and Support Services, NQF level 4. The total number of people trained at the learning 
centre during this period was 2285 – significantly higher than the planned target of 1595.

The centre provides services to industry within Gauteng within the following key focus areas; 
• OEM 
• Automotive component manufacturers 
• Dearler networks and after market services 
• Informal body and mechanical repair sector
• Unemployed youth and school leavers 
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The total number of people trained at the learning centre is 2285 against the planned year - target of 1595. 
 
Supplier Efficiency Programme
Government plans to grow the auto sector by doubling current production capacity to 1.2 million units per annum 
and increasing local content from 35% to 70% by 2020. The Supplier Efficiency Programme was created by the 
AIDC to help address the efficiency improvement needs of over 100 companies in the period towards 2020. It aims 
to address key issues around quality, cost reduction, productivity improvement and manufacturing/ supplier stability.

During the year under review, twenty two companies have signed up for the SEP while also signing off on 
planned interventions.

The following is a list of companies that participated in the programme; 

COMPANY PRODUCT LOCATION PROGRAMME

1 Widney Transport Sliding windows Alberton Total Productivity 
maintenance2 Autoliv Seatbelts & Airbags Krugersdorp

3 Frys Metals Lead recycling 
(automotive batteries) 

Wadeville 

4 Auto Industrial Chassis components Kempton Park 

5 Kaizan Assemble of HVAC units 
for the ford T6 ranger

Ford, Sylverton, Pretoria SHEQ Management 
Systems

6 Rusticana Assemble of front & 
Rear bumper & grill for 
ford ranger

Ford, Sylverton, Pretoria

7 Babute Robotic trimming of 
load liners for ford 
ranger

Ford, Sylverton, Pretoria

8 Butyl Seal Butyl tape Kya Sand, 
Johannesburg 

Cleaner Production

9 Feltex Trim Garankuwa Non-woven textiles    
i.e boot packs, sound 
insulators, & main floor 
carpets 

Garankuwa, Pretoria

10 Iveco Bus and truck Rosslyn, Pretoria Rapid Improvement

11 MA Automotive Automotive press 
components

Rosslyn, Pretoria

12 Venture Automotive Passenger vehicles 
bumpers 

Rosslyn, Pretoria

13 Foseco Foundry Consumables Alrode, Johannesburg

14 Durrans RMS Foundry Consumables Boksburg, 
Johannesburg 

15 Diesel Line Diesel pipe lines Kya Sands, 
Johannesburg 

16 Dehlberg Engineering Buss accessories Centurion, Pretoria 

17 Kappa Engineering Truck Trailers Brakpan, Johannesburg 

18 Feltex Trim, Rosslyn Non-woven textiles    
i.e boot packs, sound 
insulators, & main floor 
carpets

Rosslyn, Pretoria
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COMPANY PRODUCT LOCATION PROGRAMME

19 Naledi Inhlanganiso Brake drums and cast 
iron products 

Benoni

20 Prevail Engineering Automotive castings 
– alternators, starter 
motors

Meyerton Lean Manufacturing 

21 Auto industrial foundry Automotive castings – 
brakes drums, discs

Germiston, 
Johannesburg

22 Pabar Metal pressings & roll 
formed components

Krugersdorp, 
Johannesburg

Mini Factories

Phase 2 
An anticipated 58 percent progress against a planned target of 50 percent construction completed as measured 
against payment invoices.

PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME 
(AUTOMOTIVE INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME) 

Programme 2: Automotive Industry Development Programme (AIDC) 

Programme 2 contributes directly to Strategic Goal 1: Gauteng’s economy radically transformed and Strategic Goal 
2: Gauteng’s economy re-industrialised; and supports delivery of Strategic Goal 3: GGDA capacitated to deliver 
and implement efficiently and effectively.

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 
2015/2016

COMMENT 
ON 
DEVIATIONS

Winterveld 
Enterprise Hub 
(WEH) sustained 
and managed

WEH fully 
operationally

WEH 
operational

 5 SMMEs 
operating in the 
Hub

10% self- 
sustaining

WEH 
Operational 

8 SMME’s 
operating in the 
hub 

35.7% self-
sustainability

None

+3 SMMEs

+25.7%

-

More local 
SMMEs 
applied to 
operate in 
the Hub than 
planned

Sustainability 
calculated on 
the basis of 
turnover and 
not income. 
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PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 
2015/2016

COMMENT 
ON 
DEVIATIONS

No of auto 
industry 
companies in 
the efficiency 
programme

26 companies 22 companies 
in the auto 
sector signed 
up under the 
efficiency 
programmes

Improvement 
average across 
all interventions 
is 10% 
productivity 
improvements

22 companies 
registered on 
the efficiency 
programme

None -

No of BEE 
SMMEs 
incubated at 
the Incubation 
Centre at Ford 
(including uptake 
agreements

6 BEE SMME 
maintained 
operations at 
Ford IC

6 operating

2 SMMEs 
graduating from 
the Hub

2 new BEE 
incubates 
recruited as 
replacements

6 SMME’s 
operating from 
the incubation 
centre

2 SMMEs 
graduated

2 new BEE 
incubates 
recruited as 
replacements for 
the graduated 
SMMEs

None -

Number of 
BEE SMME’s 
incubated at 
the incubation 
centre at Nissan 
(including uptake 
agreements

New indicator Shortlisting of 
candidates to 
incubate
Up to 8 
candidates.
Draft legal 
incubation 
agreements

8 candidates 
identified and 
legal incubation 
agreements 
drafted

None -

Number of 
people trained 
at the Learning 
Centre

914 1 595 people 
trained at the 
Learning Centre

2 285 people 
trained at the 
Learning Centre

+690 Pro-active 
marketing of 
the training 
programmes 
and growing 
interest in 
utilising the site 
by industry

Programme 2: Automotive Industry Development Programme (AIDC) 
(continued)
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Programme 2: Automotive Industry Development Programme (AIDC) 
(continued)

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 
2015/2016

COMMENT 
ON 
DEVIATIONS

Learning Centre 
Students placed 
in Jobs

New indicator 239 39 -200 Inadequate 
partnerships 
to implement 
the placement 
programme

Established the 
Mini Factory 11 
at the Rosslyn 
ASP

Mini Factory 
10 completed 

Construction 
commenced – 
50% progress 
based on 
payment 
certificates 
measured 
against the 
budget

Construction 
commenced  
with 58% 
progress based 
on payment 
certificates 
measured 
against the 
budget

+8% Employment 
of additional 
capacity 
to oversee 
capex projects 
assisted to 
guide the 
fast-tracking of 
delivery

Constructed 
the Nissan 
Incubation Centre

30% 
construction 
completed

50% 
Construction 
of Nissan 
Incubation 
Centre

Construction 
commenced  
with 51% 
progress based 
on payment 
certificates 
measured 
against the 
budget

1% Employment 
of additional 
capacity 
to oversee 
capex projects 
assisted to 
guide the 
fast-tracking of 
delivery
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PROGRAMME 3: 
THE INNOVATION HUB
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Chairperson of TIH Board
Dr Nhlanhla Msomi
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Programme 3: The Innovation Hub (TIH)

The table below depicts the purpose of Programme 3, its Sub-programmes and their functions. 

BUDGET 
PROGRAMME:2

PURPOSE SUB-
PROGRAMMES

FUNCTIONS

The Innovation 
Hub (TIH)

The Innovation Hub’s 
mission is to promote 
the socio-economic 
development and 
competitiveness of 
Gauteng in targeted 
sectors through innovation 
by:
• creating new business 

opportunities and 
adding value to 
mature companies 
in technology and 
knowledge based 
sectors;

• fostering 
entrepreneurship 
and incubating new 
innovative companies;

• providing attractive 
spaces for emerging 
knowledge companies;

• ensuring human 
capacity development 
of critical skills 
matching industry 
needs in priority 
sectors;

• enhancing the synergy 
between industry, 
government and 
academic and research 
institutions.

Maxum A business incubation programme that accelerate 
the growth of technology start-up companies 
by providing business mentorship and life 
cycle business development support to start- up 
companies

CoachLabTM Post-graduate Leadership and Business Skills 
Development Programme whose aim is to instill 
business principles and the value of innovative and 
entrepreneurial thinking amongst the participants 
through mentorship by project sponsors

mLab including 
Code Tribe 
Academy

A programme to support mobile technology 
entrepreneurs by providing them physical space 
where they can access the tools, platforms 
(laboratory) expertise and support network 
necessary to develop solutions and build new 
businesses as well as technical support

Climate 
Innovation Centre

A centre to support and develop entrepreneurs in 
the climate innovation space

GAP- Green, 
GAP-Smart 
Industries

The purpose of this programme is to stimulate 
innovations in mobile applications, green 
technologies, health innovations and in Bio 
economy

Open Innovation 
Solutions 
Exchange 
(OpenIX)

The purpose of the project is to create a 
mechanism that will connect innovation seekers 
(municipalities, government departments etc.) 
to innovation providers so that government can 
find innovative solutions to its service delivery 
challenges

Biosciences Park 
Facility

Biosciences Park aims to provides nurturing 
environment for biotechnology start-ups to 
develop, thrive, and eventually become important 
commercial players, contributing to economic 
growth
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Programme 3 contributes directly to Strategic Goal 1: Gauteng’s economy radically transformed and Strategic 
Goal 2: Gauteng’s economy re-industrialised; and supports delivery of Strategic Goal 3: GGDA capacitated to 
deliver and implement efficiently and effectively.

Programme 3: Strategic Objectives

The Innovation Hub Programme Area will work towards the following strategic objectives:
• Radically transform the Gauteng economy through new, smart, knowledge-based economy.
• Radically transform and re-industrialise Gauteng’s economy through the contribution of Green Industries 

to energy security.
• Radically transform and re-industrialise Gauteng’s economy through appropriately skilled human 

resources and businesses.
• Facilitate and support innovations in building new, smart, knowledge-based industries and economy.

TIHMC’s technology business incubator, the Maxum Business Incubator, focuses on early stage and start-up SMEs 
with a view to maximising opportunities for high-tech entrepreneurs. It provides an enabling environment whereby 
start-up companies (operating in TIHMC’s priority sectors) are fast-tracked to compete globally. The programme seeks 
to increase companies operating within the knowledge sectors in Gauteng, so that they contribute towards growing 
Gauteng’s economy, thereby reducing poverty and increasing employment.

• Maxum Business Incubator 
The Maxum programme currently had 44 companies in Maxum Core and 64 companies in the Innovation Factory.

• Maxum Pre-Incubation
The pre-incubation annual target of 26 companies has been met with the recruitment of three companies into the 
programme during the period under review. 

• Maxum Incubation 
The Maxum Incubation programme exceeded its annual target of 16 by achieving a year-end actual of 20 companies 
enrolled in the programme. 

• Maxum Graduation 
Four companies (Quickconnect, Limu, Embizo, XS Health) graduated from Maxum – right on target for the financial year. 
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Climate innovation Centre 
The Climate Innovation Center (CICSA) was established to provide  “one-stop shop” 
enterprise development support to Green SMEs and researchers, and to develop, 
transfer and deploy advanced climate-smart/green economy technologies to local 
needs.  The support comprises both financial and non-financial services. The support  
provided comprises both financial and non-financial services designed 
to benefit and guide growth. The CICSA met its annual target of recruiting twenty 
companies for incubation.

Biopark 
The BioPark@Gauteng is a Bio-economy targeted SME support programme that 
supplements and complements initiatives aimed at building the Bioeconomy industry 
in Gauteng. This is achieved through incubation-related activities that include 
promoting the creation of small businesses, linking entrepreneurs with potential 
funders or partners, and helping young biotechnology entrepreneurs to establish sound business management 
processes. 

The BioPark supports start-up companies, university / science council spin-offs and SMEs in the Bio-economy sector.

The BioPark has exceeded the annual target of 5 by 3 (CLINTON – THREE WHAT), its success being attributed to the 
improved speed of execution in contract handling from the GAP Biosciences and medical winners. Furthermore, the 
provision of virtual incubation and approval to appoint more mentors gave a room to recruit more companies. BioPark 
has in total recruited 12 new companies into its incubation programme during the 2015/2016 financial year.

CoachLab 
CoachLab® is TIHMC’s flagship Leadership and Skills Development programme that 
aims to develop human capability in engineering, information and communication 
technology (ICT) post-graduate students. The programme is sponsored by industry 
partners, as well as the Media, Information and Communication Technologies 
Sector Education and Training Authority (MICT SETA).

In terms of numbers, CoachLab recruited 118 learners in the last financial review, thereby exceeding its annual target of 
100. A total of 24 participants in the CoachLab programme have successfully secured jobs from sponsoring companies 
and other various IT companies; 12 of the 62 interns that participated in the programme have secured employment; 50 
interns are scheduled to complete the internship programme in June 2016; and a learner from the CoachLab Green 
Learnership has successfully secured employment. The programme is expected to end early in the new financial year.
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mLab
mLab Southern Africa is an initiative that was established by a consortium (TIHMC, CSIR/ Meraka, Ungana Africa, 
Innovation Lab and Nokia) in order to support mobile application developers from concept development to prototype 
testing stage. mLab Southern Africa also serves as a feeder programme into the Maxum Business Incubator pipeline, 
and has three stages of developer support - the Ideas Lab, the Accelerator Lab, and the Launch Lab.

The year under review included a number of highlights for mLab and its startups, developers, designers and 
entrepreneurs, including the fact that its target of incubating 20 applications was met. The close of the financial year 
represents the end of the programme’s academic/ incubation year and includes a number of events and challenges, 
as well as the opportunity for start-ups and teams to showcase their work and achievements. 

Open Innovation Solution Exchange (OISE)
The Open Innovation Solutions Exchange (OISE) platform is a TIHMC initiative aimed at finding solutions for 
challenges posed by regional innovation seekers (government, academia, large and small business and community), 
while also providing a window for innovations looking for markets. The annual target of five (what? innovations or 
solutions) has been met.

Gauteng Accelerator Programme (GAP)
GAP is a programme that focuses on stimulating innovation in the sectors of Green, ICT, Medical and Biosciences. 
The programme uses competitions as a means to identify innovations in these priority sectors, before accelerating 
their initial product and business development through short training interventions. Seed funding and full incubation 
for winners is also guaranteed.

GAP-Biosciences is a programme hosted in partnership with Technology Innovation Agency (TIA) and in collaboration 
with Emory University, USA, Atlanta, and Pfizer Inc. This programme is aimed at developing bio-entrepreneurship skills 
and identifying high growth biosciences businesses that can address and grow Gauteng’s economy.

• GAP Medical
The winners for GAP Biosciences and Medical Competitions each signed incubation contracts.
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• GAP Green and ICT 
Award notifications for GAP ICT and Green (Innovation Competition) were issued to each competition’s four winners for 
incubation in Maxum Business Incubator, mLab and the Climate Innovation Centre. In 2015/16 the GAP ICT and GAP 
Green innovation competitions attracted a record number of entries of excellent quality. Finalists in both competitions were 
offered incubation to accommodate the growing demand. A number of participants from townships were awarded finalist or 
winner positions in GAP Green and GAP ICT, however a more in-depth engagement with township entrepreneurs is needed 
for 2016/17. In addition to providing a targeted award for township innovators, it is expected that the awards ceremony 
will be held in a township.

Start-Up Support Programme
The SSP is a leveraged support mechanism aimed at providing investment support, with priority being given to 
enterprises in TIHMC’s incubation and mLab programmes. The purpose of the SSP is to support entrepreneurs in the 
incubation programmes, as well as others outside this programme, who have promising and commercially viable 
and/or high social impact potential innovative ideas, and require bridging finance to access larger amounts of 
funding from institutional investors or to pilot their innovations with the aim of ensuring commercialisation of those 
technologies/ innovations.

The Start-Up Support Fund (SSP) has fallen short of its annual target, which was to support 8 entrepreneurs. Only 6 
entrepreneurs were supported during the year. SSP received R2,5m from TIA who have recommended to their board 
that the contract between TIA and TIHMC be renewed for the next three years.
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eKasi labs Programmes 
The goal of the eKasiLab programmes is to take innovation to the people by establishing co-creation and innovation 
spaces in the townships where the community is able to access the services and facilities on offer at The Innovation Hub. 
TIHMC, through the eKasiLabs, aims to address problems of access and seeks to re-industrialise the community and 
unemployed youth so that employment is created in their area of residence through skills and enterprise development.

• eKasiLab Garankuwa
5 entrepreneurs graduated into the Maxum core programme during the year, thereby achieving its financial year 
target. A series of intake activities were undertaken, including entrepreneurship, basic computer training, ICT and 
manufacturing training. To date 35 to 40 candidates have participated in the recruitment process, and it is anticipated 
that 15 companies will successfully make it into incubation.

• eKasiLab Soweto 
The aim of the eKasiLab programmes is to take innovation to the people by establishing co-creation and innovation 
spaces in the townships where the community is able to access the services and facilities that are offered at The 
Innovation Hub.  TIHMC through the eKasiLabs aims to address problems of access and seeks to re-industrialise 
the community and unemployed youth so that employment is created in their area of residence through skills and 
enterprise development.

The year to date target of five (5) has been met. There are currently 17 entrepreneurs in the programme. 
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PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME 3
(THE INNOVATION HUB)

Programme 3: The Innovation Hub (TIH) 

Programme 3 contributes directly to Strategic Goal 1: Gauteng’s economy radically transformed and Strategic 
Goal 2: Gauteng’s economy re-industrialised; and supports delivery of Strategic Goal 3: GGDA capacitated to 
deliver and implement efficiently and effectively.

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 
2015/2016

COMMENT 
ON DEVIATIONS

Number of 
companies 
graduated from 
Maxum Core

New Indicator 4 4 None -

Number of 
new companies 
incubated at 
Maxum Core

23 16 20 +4 Programme 
marketing and 
increase in number 
of competitions

No of companies 
in the Maxum 
pre-incubation 
programme

41 26 27 +1 Programme 
marketing and 
increase in number 
of competitions

Number of 
companies 
incubated at 
BioPark

New Indicator 5 12 +7 Increased 
recruitment resulting 
from the virtual 
incubation platform 

Number of 
innovation 
commercialised

12 15 18 +3 Continued 
support offered 
by the maxum 
programme

No of OISE 
Platform 
technology 
solutions that 
respond to 
service delivery

New Indicator 5 5 None -

No. of 
technologies 
identified for 
incubation at 
the Gauteng 
Accelerator 
Programme 
(GAP)- 
Biosciences, 
Green, Medical, 
ICT

14 14 25 +11 Increase in number 
of applicants
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Programme 3: The Innovation Hub (TIH) (continued)

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION 
FROM PLANNED 
TARGET TO 
ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
FOR 2015/2016

COMMENT 
ON DEVIATIONS

Number of new 
ICT mobile apps 
incubated at the 
mLab

20 20 20 None -

Number of 
entrepreneurs 
supported through 
SSP

13 8 6 -2 Insufficient funds to 
support additional 
entrepreneurs

Number of green 
companies incubated 
at the Climate 
Innovation Centre 
(CIC)

35 20 green 
companies 
incubated at 
the Climate 
Innovation 
Centre (CIC)

20 green 
companies 
incubated at 
the Climate 
Innovation 
Centre (CIC)

None -

Number of 
entrepreneurs 
incubated in 
eKasiLabs (Soweto 
and Garankuwa)

New Indicator 30 32 +2 eKasiLabs pitching 
sessions as well 
as activities 
that improved 
the pipeline 
have ensured 
an increase in 
entrepreneurs 
entering eKasiLabs 
programme

Number of 
entrepreneurs entered 
into Maxum Core 
from the eKasi 
Garankuwa Labs

New Indicator 5 5 None -

Number of 
entrepreneurs entered 
into Maxum Core 
from the eKasi 
Soweto  Labs 
initiative (ICT, Green, 
Retail, creative 
industries)

New Indicator 5 5 None -

Number of 
individuals reached 
through appropriate 
accredited training 
programmes through 
Coachlab for youth 
development

129 100 118 +18 Increased intake  
due to additional 
funding 
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Programme 3: The Innovation Hub (TIH) (continued)

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT FOR 
2015/2016

COMMENT 
ON DEVIATIONS

Number of 
SMME’s/
entrepreneurs 
completing 
growth and 
development 
training

251 200 284 84 Course relevance 
attracted 
entrepreneurs to 
attend training

Constructed 
phase 2 of the 
Biosciences Park 
Facility

New Indicator Constructed 
phase 
2 of the 
Biosciences 
Park Facility

Contractor 
appointed with 
construction to 
commence in 
quarter 1 of FY 
2016/17

Not achieved Implementation of 
capital projects 
lagged behind 
schedule

Level of  
occupancy of the 
BioPark phase I 
Manufacturing 
space

New Indicator 95% 100% 5% High demand for 
space in the park

Level of 
occupancy of the 
BioPark phase I  
office space

75% 95% 95% None -

Number of 
contract jobs 
facilitated

56 60 64 +4 Viable industry 
partnerships

Number of 
permanent jobs 
facilitated

158 140 136 -4 Viable industry 
partnerships
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PROGRAMME 4: 
GAUTENG INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT ZONE
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PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME 4
(GAUTENG INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT ZONE)

Programme 4: Gauteng Industrial Development Zone (GIDZ) 

The table below depicts the purpose of Programme 4, its Sub-programmes and their functions. 

BUDGET 
PROGRAMME:2

PURPOSE SUB-
PROGRAMMES

FUNCTIONS

This table serves 
to depict the 
purpose of
Programme 4, its 
sub-programmes 
and their 
functions

To manage the 
development 
of the Industrial 
Development Zone 
at the OR Tambo 
International Airport

Skills 
development

• Increased jewellery sector skills 

Infrastructure 
development

• Development master plans
• Spatial development plans
• Construction plans
• Construction monitoring 
• Facilities and operations management 

Investor attraction 
and management 

• Development concept and model 
• Investor attraction value proposition and 

strategy
• Investor contract negotiation and close 
• Investor retention 
• Stakeholder liaison and management
• Programme monitoring and evaluation

Mineral 
beneficiation 

• Beneficiation concept identification and 
feasibility

• Beneficiation development planning and 
implementation 

Programme 4 contributes directly to Strategic Goal 1: Gauteng’s economy radically transformed and Strategic 
Goal 2: Gauteng’s economy re-industrialised; and supports delivery of Strategic Goal 3: GGDA capacitated to 
deliver and implement efficiently and effectively.

Programme 4: Strategic Objectives

The GIDZ Programme Area will work towards the following three (3) strategic objectives:
1. To stimulate employment-led growth and development through the facilitation of strategic economic 
   infrastructure interventions 
2.  To facilitate the development of sector specific skills required to meet the needs of the jewellery economic sector.

Infrastructure Development
Construction of the bulk infrastructure and enablement works continues to take place, with a clear focus on the 
completion of platform earthworks and attenuation dams. Progress-to-date is at 29%.
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Investor Attraction 
The Gauteng IDZ concluded a Co-operation Agreement with GIFA to facilitate the implementation of the works 
envisaged from the bid appointment. The parties agreed to the following:

• Finalisation of contract negotiations and conclusion of the Service Level Agreement between GIFA and 
Grant Thornton by April 2016;

• A revised commission rate of 5% regarding the commission fee to be paid to Messrs. Grant Thornton for 
identification and facilitation of lease agreements to be concluded for space uptake at the JMP.

Jewellery Sector Skills Development 
A total of 15 students underwent the annual training programme on commercial jewellery design. The students 
presented their final products to the Product Developer on 10 March 2016. All 15 students will be graduating in 
April 2016, marking the end of their time with the programme.

Expansion Phase 
During Q1, it was resolved that the Gauteng IDZ work closely with Ekurhuleni Metropolitan Municipality to develop of 
a feasibility report for the IDZ’s expansion phase (in lieu of the strategic linkages between Gauteng IDZ and Ekurhuleni, 
specifically in relation to the implementation of the OR Tambo International Airport Aerotropolis Concept). A final strategic 
land parcel feasibility report has been completed, identifying various concepts that could be considered for development 
at the proposed Tambo Springs Inland Port development. Option preferences (regarding the land inspected by Gauteng 
IDZ [inclusive of Tambo Springs]) have been submitted to Ekurhuleni and feedback is on their formal position regarding 
allocation of the land.

Concurrent to Ekurhuleni engagements, Gauteng IDZ also engaged with Impala Platinum to reach an understanding 
regarding the proposed development of a Fuel Cell Localisation SEZ on land owned by Impala that was identified for such 
purposes. These engagements resulted in the development of a draft Heads of Agreement and Project Implementation Plan 
to guide the further roll out of the project.

In support of the proposed development of a Fuel Cell Localisation SEZ, draft Terms of Reference were finalised for the 
appointment of a service provider to undertake a detailed feasibility study and develop a commercial case report on the 
proposed establishment of a Fuel Cells Localisation SEZ. Appointment of the service provider is therefore targeted for Q1 of 
2016/2017 and will be form part of the report for the quarter ending June 2016.
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Programme 4: Gauteng Industrial Development Zone (GIDZ) 

Programme 4 contributes directly to Strategic Goal 1: Gauteng’s economy radically transformed and Strategic 
Goal 2: Gauteng’s economy re-industrialised; and supports delivery of Strategic Goal 3: GGDA capacitated to 
deliver and implement efficiently and effectively.

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
FOR 2015/2016

COMMENT 
ON 
DEVIATIONS

Bulk infrastructure 
complete 
according to 
the  development 
plan

Procurement 
Process 
Initiated

Bulk 
infrastructure 
complete 
according to the  
development 
plan - 80% 
construction

Construction of 
bulk earthworks, 
attenuation dam 
and setting of 
platforms

None -

JMP investor 
attraction drive

Strategy and 
Prospectus 
finalised

Investor & tenant 
acquisition and 
contractual 
close per 
investor and 
tenant pipeline

Tenants not 
contracted

Lack of market 
appetite for 
the issued RFI 
resulted in the 
tender being re-
issued in the last 
quarter of the 
financial year

Conceptualisation, 
Design and Project 
Approval for 
expansion phases

Pre-feasiblity 
of preferred 
concept 
and for 
development

Detailed 
feasibility on  
expansion 
phase concept

Final strategic 
land parcel 
allocation 
feasibility report 
from EMC

None -

No. of young 
people 
graduating 
from a 1 year 
jewellery 
design and 
manufacturing 
course

15 15 students 
trained

15 students 
attended 
training

None -
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CONSTITUTION HILL
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Programme 5: Constitution Hill (Conhill) 

The table below depicts the purpose of Programme 5, its Sub-programmes and their functions. 

BUDGET 
PROGRAMME:5

PURPOSE SUB-
PROGRAMMES

FUNCTIONS

Constitution Hill 
(ConHill)

Constitution Hill’s 
mandate is to 
offer an informed 
and engaging 
experience related 
to constitutionalism, 
human rights 
and democracy 
therefore strives to 
further develop the 
precinct. We use 
our resources wisely 
and sustainably to 
provide professional 
and excellent service 
in preserving, 
and promoting 
Constitution Hill.

Education 
and Public 
Programmes

• Deliver programmes to further constitutional 
education and to provide a platform for 
relevant public dialogue which impacts on 
Social Cohesion and Nation Building

• Stakeholder liaison and management
• Planning and implementation of projects

Exhibitions • Develop cutting edge, educational and 
informative exhibitions that are relevant to the 
issues of constitutionalism, human rights and 
democracy

• Provide a space for the creative industry to 
showcase works that engage citizens on issues 
relevant to the site’s mandate

• Exhibitions development and maintenance 

Facilities 
Management

• Develop the Constitution Hill precinct to 
contribute to creating a Globally Competitive 
City Region through heritage tourism and inner 
city revitalisation

• The primary role of Facilities Management 
is to determine the most effective program of 
providing the organisation with appropriate 
physical resources for its present and future 
planned operations.

• Facilities, manages the physical resources of 
the precinct which embraces the planning 
and development of major projects, precinct 
development plan, repairs, maintenance 
and refurbishments, space allocation, risk 
management, property portfolio, grounds, 
telephone communications, security, cleaning 
and asset management.

• The principal objective of facilities is to plan, 
provide, operate and maintain Constitution 
Hill facilities and other resources within the 
limits of allocated funds whilst at all times 
maintaining a client focused service.

Venue Hire • Use the space by preserving and maintaining 
the site in its historical and contemporary 
context

• Conferencing 

Tourism (Visitors) • Tourism offerings development and 
management

• World Heritage status declaration process 
management
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The Constitution Hill Programme will work towards the following strategic objective:
1. Fostering inclusive development and social transformation through the Heritage, Education and Tourism  

Programme.
2. Supporting and facilitating the radical economic transformation and re-industrialisation of Gauteng’s 

economy.

Archives
Constitution Hill aims to preserve and conserve its valuable historical data and artifacts for the purposes of research. 
This includes the conservation of museum items, the collection of material related to the site’s history, and the archiving 
of historical documents – all of which has been completed and made accessible online with the full support of South 
African History Archives (SAHA). There is still a need to secure funding to ensure that ConHill can independently 
archive its own collections. Feedback is that students from surrounding universities have shown an interest in using the 
archive and that seventy-five students have accessed the materials during 2015.

Exhibitions 
Exhibitions are the core of the museum and provide an opportunity for the public to come into contact with the material 
being preserved. These exhibition spaces are where the past becomes tangible, and the experience offered is an 
unforgettable one. Exhibitions form an essential element of the site and provide an invaluable platform for Constitution 
Hill to showcase its story. 
Target: 20 exhibitions
Actual: 21 exhibitions

Educational Programmes 
Educational programmes promote constitutional education in schools and through a number of activities that the 
general public can enjoy. 
Target: 100 educational programmes
Actual: 103 programmes

Public Programmes 
Public programmes promote active citizenry, nation building and social cohesion by encouraging discussions and 
engagement with the various offerings of ConHill. 
Target: 75 public programmes
Actual: 77 public programmes 

Venue Hire 
Venue hire continues to play an import role in income-generation. 
Target: R 3 568 807 revenue
Actual: R 2 546 418,85 revenue

Footfall
Footfall indicates the total number of people that visited all activities hosted onsite. This number includes visits to 
guided tours, exhibitions, public programmes, educational programmes and events. The monthly target was based 
on a 20% increment from last year’s footfall.
Target: 153, 527 visitors
Actual: 142, 733 visitors

Revenue Generation 
The revenue generated in admission fees is 11% above target, indicating a total of R 1,1M.
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PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME 5
(CONSTITUTION HILL)

Programme 5: Constitution Hill (Conhill)

Programme 5 contributes directly to Strategic Goal 1: Gauteng’s economy radically transformed and Strategic Goal 
2: Gauteng’s economy re-industrialised; and supports delivery of Strategic Goal 3: GGDA capacitated to deliver 
and implement efficiently and effectively.

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
FOR 2015/2016

COMMENT 
ON DEVIATIONS

Percentage 
increase in 
visitor numbers 
at ConHill from 
previous year

127 939 Actual 
2014/15 + 
20% = 153 

527

143 657 - t9 870 Challenges in 
capturing large 
numbers attending 
big events. Exploring 
appropriate systems 
to ensure all footfall  is 
captured

Number of 
activities carried 
out to market the 
precinct

25 18 29 +11 Increase in 
programme 
collaborations 
yielded increased 
Marketing activities

Increase in 
exhibitors from 
previous year

20 20 21  +1 Increased 
collaborations 
to develop and 
implement exhibitions 
on site

Increase in public 
programmes from 
previous year

63 75 77       + 2 Increased 
collaborations for the 
undertaking of public 
programmes

Increase in 
education 
programmes from 
previous year

83 100 103      + 3 Increased 
collaborations 
in constitutional 
education 
programmes

Revenue 
generation from 
tours

New Indicator

R 930 000

2014/15 
actual +10% 

= R995K

R1, 1 M +R113K Continued 
partnership with 
Tour operators 
and packaging 
offerings for different 
audiences to 
position the site as a 
destination of choice

Revenue 
generation from 
Conferencing

New Indicator

R2 M

2014/15 
actual +10% 

= R3,5M

R2,5M -R 1M Inability to 
accommodate 
large groups due 
to the capacity of 
conferencing facilities

Number of 
MOU’s/SLA’s 
signed with other 
like minded 
institutions

7 6 6 None -
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PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY PROGRAMME 6
(GREATER NEWTOWN DEVELOPMENT COMPANY)

Programme 6: Greater Newtown Development Company (GNDC)

Newtown, in the western quadrant of the Johannesburg CBD, is a Special Economic Zone. It aims to become the 
creative capital of the city and South Africa. A dynamic, vibrant, sophisticated and cosmopolitan space is being 
created, boasting the best cultural offerings in Africa. The vision for Newtown has been reached thanks to the efforts 
of GGDA and the City of Johannesburg, including the following accomplishments:

• The Nelson Mandela bridge
• The on and off ramps to the M1 motorway
• Upgrading Mary Fitzgerald Square and the public environment

The day to day management of the precinct is carried out by the Johannesburg Development Agency. The intervention 
works towards inner-city regeneration in partnership with the GGDA and the Johannesburg City Council. Originally, 
the intention was to transform Newtown into a safe and attractive place to work, live and visit.

The GNDC is in the process of being wound down and this will happen parallel to the transfer of Number 1 Central 
Place to the GGDA through the sale agreement between the GGDA and City of Joburg.

The City of Johannesburg and the GGDA have taken a decision to transfer the land on which the building, Number 
1 Central Place is situated and to dissolve the greater Newtown Development Company. The land will be transferred 
from the City of Johannesburg to a subsidiary of the GGDA, the Supplier Park Development Company.

The programme contributes directly to Strategic Goal 1 (Gauteng’s economy radically transformed) and Strategic 
Goal 2 (Gauteng’s economy reindustrialised) and supports delivery of Strategic Goal 3 (GGDA capacitated to 
deliver and implement efficiently and effectively).
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PERFORMANCE INFORMATION BY ADMINISTRATIVE PROGRAMME 

Programme 6: Greater Newtown Development Company (GNDC) 

Programme 6 contributes directly to Strategic Goal 1(Gauteng’s economy radically transformed) and Strategic Goal 2 
(Gauteng’s economy re – industrialised) and supports delivery of Strategic Goal 3 (GGDA capacitate to deliver and 
implement efficiently and effectively)  

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE: 

PERFORMANCE 
INDICATOR

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
2014/2015

PLANNED 
TARGET
2015/2016

ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT
2015/2016

DEVIATION FROM 
PLANNED TARGET 
TO ACTUAL 
ACHIEVEMENT 
FOR 2015/2016

COMMENT 
ON DEVIATIONS

Level of 
completion of 
winding down 
process for 
GNDC 

Regulation 
38 certificate 
from the COJ 
received 

Completion of 
the winding 
down process

Rate clearance 
certificate from 
the City of 
Johannesburg 
obtained

The liquidation 
could not be 
finalised because 
there was a need 
to subdivide the 
ERF and create 
right of way 
servitude prior to 
the land transfer 
and liquidation 
commencing. 
The process to 
subdivide and 
create right of 
way servitude 
took more time 
than anticipated 
due to the 
various approvals 
required
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INTRODUCTION

Corporate governance embodies processes and systems by which public entities are directed, controlled and 
held to account. In addition to legislative requirements based on a public entity’s enabling legislation, and the 
Companies Act, corporate governance with regard to public entities is applied through the precepts of the Public 
Finance Management Act (PFMA) and run in tandem with the principles contained in the King’s Report on Corporate 
Governance. The Board of GGDA is ultimately responsible for ensuring high governance standards, assisted by 
management, and aims to instill a culture of compliance and good governance. The GGDA Group remains fully 
committed to business integrity, fairness, transparency and accountability in all its activities.

Executive Authority

The GGDA reports to the Department of Economic Development on a quarterly basis on progress made towards the 
achievement of predetermined objectives and the implementation of the business plan. These matters are detailed in 
Part  B of this annual report.

Standing Committee on Public Accounts (SCOPA)

The role of SCOPA is to exercise oversight over Provincial and Local Government on behalf of the Gauteng Provincial 
Legislature, to ensure accountable utilisation of resources, prudent financial management, and to make recommendations 
to the Legislature. The Committee considered the Annual Report, including the Auditor-General’s Report on GGDA for the 
year ended 31 March 2015. The Committee notes that the GGDA obtained an unqualified audit opinion under Annual 
Financial Statements, predetermined objectives and compliance with laws and regulations.
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THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY / BOARD

The GGDA is an entity established in terms of the Amendment to the Blue IQ Investment Holdings Act No. 1 of 2012 
by the Gauteng Provincial Government in its Department of Economic Development.

The Role of the Board

In terms of the PFMA, the Board is the accounting authority of the GGDA and has a fiduciary duty to act in good 
faith, with due diligence and care and in the best interest of the Company and all its stakeholders. It is the guardian 
of the values and ethics of the Company and is accountable to the shareholder. The Board has full and effective 
control over the GGDA. The Board and committee charters set out the roles, duties and responsibilities of the Board, 
as well as salient corporate governance principles. The Board and committee charters are reviewed annually to 
ensure effectiveness and relevance.

The role of the Board is described by the following activities:

• Providing strategic direction and leadership
• Determining the goals and objectives of the Company
• Approving key policies, including investment and risk management
• Reviewing the Company’s goals and strategies for achieving its objectives
• Approving and monitoring compliance with corporate plans, financial plans and budgets
• Reviewing and approving the Company’s financial objectives, plans and expenditure
• Considering and approving the Annual Financial Statements, interim statements and notices to the shareholder
• Ensuring good corporate governance and ethics
• Monitoring and reviewing performance and effectiveness of controls
• Ensuring effective communication with relevant stakeholders
• Liaising with and reporting to the shareholder
• Guiding key initiatives
• Approving transactions beyond the authority of management
• Considering and adopting if appropriate, operating budgets and business plans proposed by management 

for the achievement of its strategic direction
• Delegating authority for capital expenditure
• Ensuring ethical behaviour and compliance with relevant laws and regulations, audit and accounting 

principles and the GGDA’s internal governing documents and codes of conduct
• Acting responsibly towards the GGDA’s relevant stakeholders

The Board regularly reviews its annual work plan to ensure that sufficient time is allocated towards the review of its 
strategy, which involves the analysis and choice of such strategy, and the ongoing review of progress against the 
approved plans.
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Board Charter

The Board Charter sets out the roles, duties and responsibilities of the Board, as well as salient corporate governance 
principles. The Board and committee charters are revised annually to ensure effectiveness and relevance. In line with 
the Charter, the Board met a minimum of four times this year to discharge its duties as set out in the PFMA and the 
King Code of Corporate Governance. Proceedings at meetings are directed by a formal agenda. The proposed 
agenda is circulated prior to the meeting to allow Board members sufficient opportunity to request additional agenda 
items. In addition, a comprehensive Board pack is distributed to all members in advance of meetings, to ensure that 
they are properly informed and to enable them to undertake meaningful discussion and effectively discharge their 
duties. These packs typically include:

• Agenda
• Previous meeting minutes
• Copies of any resolutions passed since the last Board meeting
• Minutes of all Board Committee meetings which have taken place since the last Board meeting
• Governance update to assist Board members in keeping abreast with relevant legislation

All Board members have unrestricted access to the Company Secretary and all Board records, as well as to 
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances.
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Composition of the Board

The members of the entity during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

NAME DESIGNATION DATE 
APPOINTED

DATE 
RESIGNED

QUALIFICATIONS AREA OF EXPERTISE BOARD DIRECTORSHIPS (OTHER) OTHER COMMITTEES 
OR TASK TEAMS

M Mokoena Chairman 01 June 2012 B Com Hons (UNISA) Public management; Financial 
management and auditing; 
Infrastructure and urban 
development; trade and investment 
promotion

Gauteng IDZ Development Company, Nedwater, 
Clinix Lesedi Private Hospital, Nareli Investment 
Holdings, INCA Portfolio Managers, INCA 
Capacity Building Fund

Remuneration 
Committee
Trade and Investment 
Committee

Z Malele Deputy Chairman 25 September 
2012

B.Sc (UoL), BAP, MAP (WBS) ICT, Economic development, 
Marketing, Financial 
management, Sales management, 
HR, Operations management, 
Strategic Management, Risk 
Management, Governance and 
Project management

Sec-Itech, Meadow Star Investments 28, Stanford 
Estates and State Information Technology Agency

N Balton Non-Executive 
Director

01 June 2012 Bachelor’s Degree  in Education,
Masters Degree in Public 
Management and Finance

Education, Public Management 
and Finance

Ahmed Kathrada Foundation, Greater Newtown 
Development Company, Constitution Hill

Group Audit and Risk 
Committee, Social and 
Ethics Committee

D Dondur Non-Executive 
Director

14 March 2013 B Acc, B Compt Honours, MBA, CA 
(SA), WITS and London, Business 
School International, Executive 
Development Certificate, University 
of Nevada, Reno Executive 
Development, Certificate in Labour 
Relations, Fellow member at the 
IoDSA, Member of the Institute of 
Internal Auditors, Member of the SA 
Institute of Chartered Accountants

Finance, Business Administration, 
Auditing, Accounting, IT 
Governance, Enterprise Risk 
Management, Corporate 
Governance, Labour relations and 
HR

SA Civil Aviation Authority, Gautrain Management 
Agency, South African National Blood Services, 
Basil Read Holdings, PPS

GGDA Group Audit 
and Risk Committee, 
Social and Ethics 
Committee

Dr P Jourdan Non-Executive 
Director

01 June 2012 B.Sc., B.A, M.Sc.(Eng) x2, Ph.D. 
(Leeds University)

Resource-based and spatial 
development

Coega Development Corporation (Chair),  
Gauteng IDZ Development Company

Social and Ethics 
Committee

Dr T Moema Non-Executive 
Director

25 September 
2012

2 October 
2015

Masters Degree in Sociology, 
Doctorate in Philosophy, MBA, 
Strategic  Management  and 
Project, Management  Certificate, 
Aviation Operations (Cert. various)

Project Management, Change 
Management Processes, Aviation

Empowerment Trustee Member  of the African 
Rainbow Minerals

Remuneration 
Committee,
Board Member of 
the Constitution Hill 
Development Company

Dr S Mufamadi Non-Executive 
Director

01 June 2012 2 October 
2015

Doctorate in Philosophy
Masters Degree 

Conflict Resolution National Bank of Commerce (Tanzania), Barclays 
Bank (Mozambique), Amplats, Zimplats

Remuneration 
Committee, Social 
and Ethics Committee, 
Board Members of 
SPDC t/a AIDC
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Composition of the Board
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Composition of the Board (Continued)

The members of the entity during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

NAME DESIGNATION DATE 
APPOINTED

DATE 
RESIGNED

QUALIFICATIONS AREA OF EXPERTISE BOARD DIRECTORSHIPS (OTHER) OTHER COMMITTEES 
OR TASK TEAMS

S Nicolaou Non-Executive 
Director

01 June 2012 B.Pharm(WIT), FPS(SA) Trade, Manufacturing, 
Pharmaceuticals

Brand SA, Proudly SA, Aspen Polska, Aspen 
France, BRICS Business Council, Business Unity 
South Africa, Public Health Enhancement Fund
PHARMISA, Sifiso and Nxasana Paediatrics Fund 
for Children

GGDA Group Audit 
and Risk Committee, 
Trade and Investment 
Committee

P Ntsobi Non-Executive 
Director

25 September 
2012

2 October 
2015

Masters Degree in Administration, 
Bachelor’s Degree in Military

Policy Analyst, Communications, 
Public Administration

Mtha Aviation, Small Business  Development  
Institute

Audit and Risk 
Committee of GGDA

Q Gungubele Non-Executive 
Director

1 February 
2015

B Iuris., LLM in Labour Law Labour Law, Corporate 
Governance 

Kumaka Board Remuneration 
Committee, Social and 
Ethics Committee

Dr N Msomi Non-Executive 
Director

2 October 2015 PhD, International Executive 
Development, Diploma in Finance

Innovation, Corporate Finance 
Entrepreneurship

Board of Governors -ICGEB, Board Member of 
the Innovation Hub Management Company

P Mafojane Non-Executive 
Director

2 October 2015 B.Proc, LLB Law Board Member of the Constitution Hill Devco Remuneration 
Committee

T Setiloane Non-Executive 
Director

2 October 2015 Dip. Mash. Mech, BSc Mechanical 
Engineering

Engineering, Marketing African Holding Renaissance Holdings Limited, 
Oppenheimer Memorial Trust, Heating Ventilation 
and Air-Conditioning (Pty)Ltd, Oro Group (Pty) Ltd, 
University of Cape Town, Board Member of the 
Supplier Park Development Company 

S Zamxaka Executive Director 1 March 2016 B. Admin, B.Econ Honours, Diploma 
Program in International Education

Developmental Economics, Project 
Management 

Board member of Greater Newtown Devco, 
Constitution  Hill Devco, Gauteng IDZ, the 
Innovation Hub Management Company and 
Supplier Park Development Company

S Ngwenya Executive Director 25 September 
2012

30 
November 
2015

Certificate  in Agronomy and 
Soil Science, Bachelor’s Degree 
in Agricultural Economics, BSc 
Honours In agriculture Economics 
and International Economics, 
Masters  in Public  and Development 
Management, Masters in 
Development Finance

Natural Resource Economics, 
Policy Formulation, Development 
Finance, Public Development 

Board member of Greater Newtown Devco, 
Constitution  Hill Devco, Gauteng IDZ, the 
Innovation Hub Management Company and 
Supplier Park Development Company

C Pillay Executive Director 14 March 2013 30 
September 
2015

Bachelor’s Degree in Commence, 
Post Graduate Diploma in 
Commerce, MBA

Finance Institute of Municipal Finance Officers, Board 
member of Greater Newtown Development 
Company
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Composition of the Board (Continued)
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board may establish committees to assist it in the execution of its duties, powers and authorities. The committees 
established by the Board are Audit and Risk Committee, Social and Ethics Committee, Nomination, Human Resource 
and Remuneration Committee and the Trade and Investment Committee. The role of these committees is set out in 
their respective charters.

Board and Committee Attendance

Details of the attendance of Board members appears on page and 126 - 127.

Directors’ Remuneration

Non-executive directors receive fees for their contribution to the Board and the committees on which they serve. The 
shareholder determines this rate in terms of a policy. Non-executive directors are also reimbursed for out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred on the Company’s behalf. Further information on directors‘ remuneration appears on page 192 - 193.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The GGDA has a risk management policy and strategy and conducts regular risk assessments to determine the 
effectiveness of its risk management strategy and to identify new and emerging risks. The GGDA has an Audit and 
Risk Committee that advises management on the overall system of risk management (especially the mitigation of 
unacceptable levels of risk) and independently monitors the effectiveness of the system of risk management.

The GGDA has achieved 85% of planned risk mitigation actions during the 2015/16 financial year, which is 
consistent with the Agency’s achievements of planned annual performance targets. Submission of quarterly reports in 
line with the PFMA and the institutionalisation of risk management into the day to day operations of the entity continues 
to find expression in all management, departmental and subsidiary meeting sessions. The Risk Management process 
has indeed matured and continues to receive attention and support from the Board.

Audit and Risk Committee and Executive Management.

The GGDA, together with its management, continues to implement sound principles of corporate governance and 
ensure that risk management continues to remain a way of thinking and operation, and not just a tick box or 
compliance exercise.

INTERNAL CONTROL UNIT

GGDA does not have an Internal Control Unit.
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The Internal Audit (IA) function of the GGDA is an independent appraisal activity of the various operations and 
systems of control to determine whether acceptable policies and procedures are followed, legislative requirements 
and established standards are met, resources are used efficiently and economically and planned missions are 
accomplished effectively. 

IA’s primary purpose is to provide its stakeholders with assurance regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the GGDA’s governance, risk and internal control systems and, where appropriate, the quality of performance of 
its business operations as evaluated against agreed performance standards. Such assurance has been based on 
objective information, in the form of audit conclusions.

IA has had no direct operational responsibility or authority over any of the activities audited. Accordingly it has not 
implemented internal controls, developed procedures, installed systems, prepared records or engaged in any other 
activity that may have impaired IA’s judgment, objectivity and/or independence. The controls subject to evaluation 
encompassed the following:

• The information systems environment
• The reliability and integrity of financial and operational information
• The effectiveness of operations
• Safeguarding of assets
• Compliance with laws and regulations

In line with the PFMA and Treasury Regulations, Internal Audit has provided the Audit and Risk Committee and 
management with assurance that controls are adequate and effective. This has been achieved by means of 
appropriate and effective risk based internal audit process.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE

The Board has delegated the oversight of risk management to the Audit and Risk Committee. The purpose of the Audit 
and Risk Committee is to assist the Boarding discharging its duties relating to:

• the safeguarding of assets, 
• the operation of adequate systems and control processes,
• the operation of adequate risk management processes, and 
• the review of the preparation of accurate and timely financial reports and statements by management.

The Committee provides a forum for discussing business risks and control issues and for developing relevant 
recommendations for consideration by the Board. The Committee acts as a channel of communication between the 
GGDA management and the internal and external auditors.
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The Committee acts primarily in an advisory capacity and does not have executive responsibilities except in relation to:

• The approval of non-audit services performed by internal and external auditors
• The approval of terms of engagement, and fees to be paid to the external auditors
• Approval of the appointment of internal auditors if the function is outsourced, and the head of internal 

audit
• Whether an in-house internal audit function is established

The identification and management of risk is central to achieving the GGDA’s mandate in terms of the Act. Each year 
the Board reviews and considers the risk profile of the whole business. This risk profile covers both operational and 
strategic risks.

In addition, the Board specifically requires management to implement a system of control for identifying and managing 
risk. The Board, through the Audit and Risk Committee, regularly reviews the effectiveness of the system.

In this regard the role of the Audit and Risk Committee is to ensure that:

• Appropriate risk and control policies are in place and are communicated throughout the organisation
• The process of risk management and the system of internal control are regularly reviewed for effectiveness
• There is an ongoing process of identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks faced by the 

GGDA (including compliance and IT-related risks) and that this is in place throughout the year
• A formal risk assessment is undertaken annually
• There is an adequate and effective system of internal control in place to manage the more significant 

risks faced by the Group to an acceptable level
• A risk register is maintained and kept up-to-date
• Appropriate insurance cover is in place and regularly reviewed, and that all uninsured risks are reviewed 

and managed

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE

GGDA has a Social and Ethics Committee. The role of the Committee is to assist the Board with the oversight of social 
and ethical matters relating to the GGDA.

Members of the Committee

The members of the Committee and the meetings attended are set out in pages 126 - 127.
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Responsibilities
The objectives and responsibilities of the Committee are recorded in its charter and are aligned with the Committee’s 
statutory functions as set out in the Companies Regulations of 2011. The Committee’s duties are summarised below:

1. Monitor GGDA’s activities, having regard to any relevant legislation, other legal requirements or prevailing 
codes of best practice, with regard to matters relating to Social and economic development; and Good 
corporate citizenship, including the GGDA’s:

• Promotion of equality, prevention of unfair discrimination, and reduction of corruption
• Contribution to development of the communities in which its activities are predominantly conducted or 

within which its products or services are predominantly marketed
• Record of sponsorship, donations and charitable giving

2. The environment, health and public safety, including the impact of the GGDA’s activities and of its products 
or services.

3. Stakeholder relationships.

4. Labour and employment, including to draw matters within its mandate to the attention of the Board as required. 
During the year under review, the Committee has considered presentations and reports on the following:

• Gift registers
• Financial disclosures
• Quarterly reports on legislative updates
• Quarterly reports on employment equity
• Quarterly reports on ethics performance and management
• Quarterly reports on environment, health and public safety
• Whistle blowing reports
• Risk management reports

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Management of the organisation is responsible for the day-to-day management of the activities of the institution and 
Board members embrace their responsibilities imposed by the Blue IQ Amendment Act, the PFMA and other relevant 
laws and regulations. In addition, each individual manager undertakes to maintain a working understanding of the 
laws, rules, codes and standards applicable to the GGDA’s operations. The individual managers are supported by 
the Legal Advisory and Company Secretary Department which provides the following services:

• Identifying and advising on existing, new or amended legislation that is applicable to the GGDA’s 
business, including giving recommendations on applicable rules

• Facilitating legal compliance with relevant laws and rules and assigning responsibility for areas  
of compliance

• Facilitating legal compliance with internal policies, rules, guidelines and procedures
• Facilitating and reviewing management’s monitoring of compliance
• Accordingly, the entire management team is responsible for the implementation of effective 

compliance and processes
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FRAUD AND CORRUPTION

The government of South Africa identified fraud and corruption as a serious concern that affects the quality of 
service delivery. By remaining silent about fraud, corruption and other malpractices, an employee contributes to, and 
becomes part of a culture of fostering such improprieties. To address this concern the GGDA has adopted a fraud 
prevention policy, as well as a policy on whistle blowing which emphasises the GGDA’s commitment to ensure that 
its exposure to corrupt activity is constrained, mitigated, regularly monitored and subject to periodic risk assessments. 
These policies provide the means by which employees and other stakeholders are able to raise concerns with 
appropriate line management or via the Tip-Offs Anonymous Hotline, where they have reasonable grounds to believe 
that there are irregular activities involving the GGDA. The whistle-blowing policy that was adopted provides the 
means for informing the GGDA of any suspect reportable conduct or any other inappropriate activity. 

The GGDA commits to doing everything practically possible within its powers and reach to protect a whistle-blower 
that has made a protected disclosure in terms of this policy. In support of the expectation for employees and all 
stakeholders to report incidents, the GGDA has established the Tip-Offs Anonymous Hotline. This hotline can be used 
to report known or suspected incidents without fear or occupational detriment and/or victimisation. In the year under 
review, there were two tip-offs received of which one was investigated, reviewed, and the final reports have been 
presented to the respective boards with recommendations being duly implemented. The remaining tip-off is currently 
still under review. 

MINIMISING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

The Board and staff members are required to declare any conflict of interest in matters that are considered by the 
Board. In addition Board members are required to provide an annual declaration of conflict of interest. At every 
meeting there is a second stage of declaration of potential conflict of interest for matters on the agenda for the 
meeting. A related party policy was drafted that provides guidance and details of disclosures to be made. Where 
conflict of interest was identified, an evaluation was made on its materiality and corrective measures taken to address 
the matter.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Board of the GGDA is committed to ensuring a safe and healthy workplace for all its employees, visitors and 
invitees. The GGDA complies with all relevant legislation, in particular, the Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) 
Act of 1993. This includes monitoring risks in the workplace, addressing reported incidents and raising awareness 
and responsibility among employees around serious diseases.

CODE OF CONDUCT

The GGDA Group confirms and acknowledges its responsibility to comply with the Public Finance Management Act 
(PFMA), Act 1 of 1999, and Treasury Regulations and where applicable and practical, with the Code of Corporate 
Practices and Conduct (“the Code”) laid out in the King 3 Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2009. 
The Board discusses the responsibilities of management in this respect at Board meetings and monitors the entity’s 
compliance with the Code on a quarterly basis.
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COMPANY/BOARD SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is appointed by and is accountable to the Board. This person is the corporate governance 
knowledge manager and information officer of the GGDA and its subsidiaries, and is responsible for the execution of 
all statutory requirements applicable to the GGDA and its subsidiaries. In relation to their fiduciary duties and how to 
discharge such duties, the directors have unrestricted access to the advice and guidance of the Company Secretary 
as well as the Secretariat Department. In addition, the directors are entitled to obtain independent professional advice 
at GGDA’s expense, should they deem this necessary. In addition to the performance of other assurance functions, 
the Company Secretary monitors the GGDA’s compliance with the requirements of good corporate governance, the 
Amendment to the Blue IQ Act, Public Finance Management Act, Companies Act and other relevant legislation. In 
terms of Section 88(2) (e) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended. The company secretary certifies that the 
company has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commissioner all such returns as are required of 
a public company in terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up-to-date.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Smart Young Mindz (SYM) is a GGDA corporate social investment project that strives to help prepare Gauteng youth 
for a knowledge-based economy. The objectives of Smart Young Mindz (SYM) is to stimulate interest in the areas 
of maths, science, technology and entrepreneurship. Learners are encouraged to submit business ideas, motivating 
them to investigate problems and needs in their communities. In addition, they are encouraged to generate plans 
for bankable products and services that will fill a gap in the market. SYM is managed in partnership with the 
Gauteng Department of Education (GDE). The Gauteng Government’s vision of Transformation, Modernisation and 
Reindustrialisation (TMR) has been included in the competition.

Over 8000 entries were received from Secondary Schools throughout Gauteng. Hoërskool Akasia walked away 
with the first prize and scooped R45 000 in cash for the pupils. Second place went to Gibson Pillay Secondary 
School who won R30 000, and third place went to Strauss Secondary School who won R15 000.
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PART D
HUMAN 
RESOURCE 
MANAGEMENT 
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INTRODUCTION

The Gauteng Growth and Development Agency (GGDA) was effectively formed in June 2012 as part of the 
reconfiguration of Gauteng provincial agencies. In this context, the reconfiguration of two historical DED agencies, 
namely Blue IQ Investment Holdings and the Gauteng Economic Development Agency (GEDA) into an agency, 
through the amendment of the Blue IQ Act (No 5 of 2003), and the dissolution of GEDA.

A Human Resources strategy and implementation plan has been put in place to manage the Human Capital function 
within the GGDA group. The Strategy constitutes the framework for managing the GGDA’s human capital system and 
builds upon the strengths of the former Blue IQ and GEDA’s competencies. It also addresses the needs of a merged 
organisation consisting of various subsidiaries with different human capital needs. Through business partner and 
shared services delivery models, the Strategic HR Plan continues to deliver integrated and coherent services that will 
enhance the capacity of the newly formed GGDA to act as a collective and united employer brand where people 
make the difference.

The GGDA Group Human Resources Department is responsible for providing strategic and transactional human 
resources services intended to enable the organisation to achieve its goals. The GGDA Group Human Resources 
Departments are comprised of the following functions:

FUNCTION DESCRIPTION

Recruitment and selection To attract, retain a skilled workforce

Training and development To identify and implement training and development 
interventions responsive to organisational and employee 
training needs

Performance management To manage and review employee performance

Employee relations To maintain sound employee relations 

HR policies To ensure good HR practices and legislative compliance

Employee wellness To manage and implement employee wellness 
programmes and activities

Compensation and benefits To administer payroll, leave and benefits

Organisational development To maintain organisational design and facilitate change 
management interventions

HR systems and processes To maintain functional HR systems and processes

HR reporting and compliance To produce HR reports and ensure legislative compliance 
to all labour laws and other applicable laws
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Key Achievements

In the 2015/16 financial year, a number of key milestones that had not been previously achieved, were reached by 
the Group HR. These include, amongst others:

Skills Audit

A Group Skills Audit took place throughout the Group, aimed at establishing the skills level of the Human Capital at 
GGDA, identifying skills gaps, and compiling a skills dictionary. This project was a great success and its resulting 
information will enable the GGDA to improve by providing the appropriate training and development of individuals 
in the current financial year up until 2019.

Benchmarking of remuneration packages 

The benchmarking of salary packages for Constitution Hill, Supplier Park Development Company (trading as 
Automotive Industrial Development Centre) and The innovation Hub was conducted, concluded and adopted in 
the past financial year. The purpose of the exercise was to standardise salary packages with similar state- owned 
entities, noting specific sectors we operate within as a Group of Companies. Management is currently reviewing all 
recommendations for the cost to move the affected staff members who happen to be below the 25th percentile of 
each approved salary benchmarking report. The same shall apply for those employees within the Group who are 
identified as “outliers” for the purpose of developing principles of how to manage their salary increases, however, 
noting the principle of “Equal Pay for work of Equal Value” and all its associated enablers, e.g. Experience, Seniority 
in the position, Skills, etc. 

Performance Management System Training

In order to have common understanding and to re-establish the culture of performance an intervention was launched 
in 2015/16 FY stating with Senior Management cascading to employees at large. This will also enable the 
organisation to have common understanding of the performance management system given the changing priorities 
and expectations that have been identified. Further to entrenching the culture of performance, this intervention is part 
of a change management and harmonisation process of the GGDA Group.

Labour Relations Training

In addition to the above key milestones, the Group HR has also managed to source and coordinate Labour Relations 
Training for Senior Managers. This was aimed at providing an understanding of the labour law framework, developing 
advanced labour relations skills, and getting to grips with labour law essentials. This was further aimed at enhancing 
the application and understanding of the Group HR policies and best practices.

Continuous Harmonisation of Conditions of service

During the 2015/16 financial year, a new leave policy was concluded through a collective agreement with 
NEHAWU and endorsed by the GGDA Group Board. This has made it possible to harmonise a contested issue of 
unequal leave provision for GGDA employees. This move was necessary in order to bring uniformity of leave across 
the Group.
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Review of Group HR Policies

The HR Department consulted broadly with all the stakeholders on both the old and new policy proposals. The 
consultation process and approach ensured that the Organised Labour (NEHAWU), Group HR Forum, respective 
Management Committees (Mancom’s) and Group Management Forum (GGMF) were sufficiently consulted on the 
policies and their inputs were obtained and considered.

The revised policies were subsequently submitted to Nominations, Human Resources and Remuneration Committee 
(NHREMCO) for consideration and recommendations passed to the GGDA Board for approval. The revised and new 
HR policies will strengthen the Group Human Resources practices and processes, while also assisting Management 
and GGDA Group employees with compliance and implementation. Mini workshops will continue to be conducted 
to ensure that sharing of information is constant. The understanding of how the HR policies are worded is key to 
each employee.

Furture HR Plans/ Goals 

The GGDA Group HR has identified the following key HR activities for prioritisation and implementation to ensure that 
the Group HR Operational Plans for 2015/16 are realised. This will then enable the implementation of the GGDA 
Group HR Strategy. The key activities identified for implementation include the following, amongst others:

• Streamlining of HR functions across the Group to achieve efficiencies and value for services,
• Continuously enforcing the implementation of approved HR policies and practices by ensuring that all Line 

Managers and Supervisors are sufficiently training to implement the HR policies;
• Working towards instilling and entrenching performance management culture at all employment categories 

and levels through strict adherence to the performance management system and processes as per the 
approved Performance Management Policy;

• Strengthening on the job training, based on the individual performance development plans and all other 
approved training to ensure value for money;

• Finalisation of Recruitment Programme to enable filling of critical vacancies and strengthening capacity 
of the GGDA Group to deliver on the mandate. This includes employment of targeted groups to fulfill the 
employment equity and transformation objectives. These groups include women at senior management 
positions and people with disabilities in various employment categories;

• Implementation of the recommendations contained in the Skills Audit report.
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HUMAN RESOURCE OVERSIGHT STATISTICS 

The information below presents 2014/15 performance rewards paid out to employees. The 2015/16 performance 
rewards have not been paid pending conclusion of performance assessments and performance moderation process.

Personnel Cost by programme/activity/objective 

PROGRAMME/
ACTIVITY/
OBJECTIVE

TOTAL 
EXPENDITURE 

FOR THE ENTITY 
(R’000)

PERSONNEL 
EXPENDITURE 

(R’000)

PERSONNEL 
EXP. AS A % OF 

TOTAL  EXP. 

NO. OF 
EMPLOYEES

AVERAGE 
PERSONNEL 

COST PER 
EMPLOYEE 

(R’000)

AIDC 166 58 34 135 431

ConHill 30 7 26 32 247

GGDA 
(Holdings)

220 71 32 102 697

TIH 105 26 25 56 480

TOTAL 521 162 31 325 505

Personnel Cost by Salary Band

LEVEL PERSONNEL 
EXPENDITURE 

(R’000)

% OF PERSONNEL 
EXP. TO TOTAL 

PERSONNEL COST

NO. OF 
EMPLOYEES

AVERAGE 
PERSONNEL COST 

PER EMPLOYEE 
(R’000)

Top Management 16 10% 7 2 303

Senior Management 31 19.0% 15 2 068

Professional qualified 73 45.0% 118 623

Skilled 28 17.7% 109 265

Semi-skilled 12 7.7% 66 189

Unskilled 1 0.8% 6 222

TOTAL  161 100% 325 5 670

The difference in personal expenditure in personal cost by programme and salary band (tables above) are attributed 
to the acting allowance paid during the year. 
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Performance Rewards

PROGRAMME/ACTIVITY/
OBJECTIVE 

PERFORMANCE 
REWARDS

(R’000)

PERSONNEL 
EXPENDITURE 

(R’000)

% OF PERFORMANCE 
REWARDS TO TOTAL 

PERSONNEL COST 

Top Management 2 16 14.34%

Senior Management 3 31 10.80%

Professional qualified 38 73 5.27%

Skilled 24 28 8.41%

Semi-skilled 12 12 9.65%

Unskilled 0.50 1 4.49%

TOTAL 79.50  161 8.10%

Training Costs

The training budget for GGDA Group entities ranges between 1% - 4% of personnel cost, which is in line with 
the Skills Development Act, No. 31 of 2003 (as amended) and Skills Development Levies Act, No 09 of 1999 
(as amended).

PROGRAMME//
ACTIVITY/ 
OBJECTIVE

PERSONNEL 
EXPENDITURE 

(R’000)

TRAINING BUDGET 
(R’000)

TRAINING 
EXPENDITURE 

AS A% OF 
PERSONNEL 

COST

NO. OF 
EMPLOYEES 

TRAINED

AVG 
TRAINING 
COST PER 

EMPLOYEE

AIDC 58 1.5 1% 135 11 588

ConHill 7 0.2 3% 25 9 293

GGDA 
(Holdings)

71 0.9 1% 62 5 854

TIH 26 0.4 2% 56 8 320

TOTAL 162 3 1% 278 10 791
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Employment and Vacancies

The intended 2015/16 recruitment programme could not be implemented in full. This was a direct result of unintended 
delays in the finalisation of the organisational structure alignment process, which required all GGDA Group Entities to 
align the organisational structures to the revised strategic plans and frameworks such as Transformation Modernisation 
Revitalisation (TMR) Requirements. As a result, the process only took off towards the end of the year, with 29 positions 
so far having been filled across the Group, thereby strengthening the capacity of the GGDA Group to deliver on the 
mandate.

This includes employment of targeted groups to fulfill the employment equity and transformation objectives, including 
women at senior management positions and people with disabilities in various employment categories.

PROGRAMME/
ACTIVITY/
OBJECTIVE

2014/2015 
NO. OF 

EMPLOYEES

2015/2016 
APPROVED POSTS

2015/2016 
NO. OF 

EMPLOYEES)

2015/2016 
VACANCIES

% OF 
VACANCIES

AIDC 144 218 135 83 38

ConHill 35 46 32 14 30

GGDA 
(Holdings)

107 142 102 40 28

TIH 49 66 56 10 15

TOTAL 335 472 325 147 31

PROGRAMME/
ACTIVITY/OBJECTIVE

2014/2015 
NO. OF 

EMPLOYEES

2015/2016 
APPROVED 

POSTS

2015/2016 
NO. OF 

EMPLOYEES)

2015/2016 
VACANCIES

% OF 
VACANCIES

Top Management 5 7 7 - -

Senior Management 17 22 15 7 31

Professional qualified 122 166 118 48 28

Skilled 106 155 109 46 29

Semi-skilled 84 115 70 45 39

Unskilled 1 7 6 1 0.14

TOTAL 335 472 325 147 31

Employment changes

SALARY BAND EMPLOYMENT AT 
BEGINNING OF 

PERIOD

APPOINTMENTS TERMINATIONS EMPLOYMENT 
AT END OF THE 

PERIOD

Top Management 5 5 3 7

Senior Management 14 4 5 15

Professional qualified 122 8 11 118

Skilled 110 3 8 109

Semi-skilled 83 9 10 70

Unskilled 1 - - 6

TOTAL 335 29 37 325
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Reasons for staff leaving 

The majority of employees exiting GGDA Group employment in 2015/16 financial year was as a result of 
resignations, followed by expiry of contract and finally, death and dismissals.

REASON NUMBER % OF TOTAL NO. OF STAFF LEAVING

Death 2 5

Resignation 24 65

Dismissal 1 3

Retirement - -

Ill health - -

Expiry of contract 9 24

Other 1 3

TOTAL 37

Labour Relations: Misconduct and disciplinary action

NATURE OF DISCIPLINARY ACTION NUMBER 

Verbal Warning 4

Written Warning 11

Final Written warning 3

Dismissal 3
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Equity Target and Employment Equity Status 

In 2015/16 financial year, GGDA Group Companies had proactively identified the lack of black women in senior 
management positions and the inability to recruit people with disability (PWD) in various job categories.

On the recruitment of black women in senior management positions, the GGDA Group Management resolved 
to target all senior management positions for the appointment of women, black women in particular. Whilst on 
the recruitment of people with disability, the GGDA Group Management and Nominations, Human Resources & 
Remuneration Committee (NHREMCO) resolved to implement targeted recruitment for PWD, whereby reputable 
organisations dealing with matters of people with disability are engaged on vacant positions so as to assist in 
identifying suitably qualified and experienced candidates and/or candidates with potential.

In the 2015/16 financial year, GGDA Group has been below some of the provincial employment equity targets 
as indicated in the Gauteng Strategic Policy Framework on Gender Equality and Women Empowerment (GEWE) 
– specifically the % of black women in senior management, % of black women in other management and % of 
employees with disabilities as a % of the total workforce. A concerted effort has been put in place in the 2016/17 
financial year towards targeted recruitment and the appointment of women and people with disabilities senior levels, 
as well as other levels.

LEVELS MALE

AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE

CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET

Top Management 3 2 - - 1 3 - -

Senior Management 7 7 - - 1 1 1 2

Professional qualified 50 47 1 1 6 7 11 12

Skilled 39 42 1 1 - - 3 4

Semi-skilled 29 34 - - - - 1 1

Unskilled 1 1 - - - - - -

TOTAL 129 133 2 2 8 11 16 19

LEVELS FEMALE

AFRICAN COLOURED INDIAN WHITE

CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET

Top Management 2 - 1 - - - - -

Senior Management 5 5 - 2 - - 1 2

Professional qualified 34 38 2 2 3 1 11 9

Skilled 54 49 2 1 2 1 8 10

Semi-skilled 35 42 2 2 1 1 2 3

Unskilled 4 - - - - - 1 -

TOTAL 134 134 7 7 6 3 23 24
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LEVELS PEOPLE LIVING WITH DISABILITY 

MALE FEMALE

CURRENT TARGET CURRENT TARGET

Top Management - - - -

Senior Management - - - -

Professional qualified - - - -

Skilled - - - -

Semi-skilled 2 2 - 2

Unskilled - - - -

TOTAL 2 2 - 2
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The reports and statements set out below comprise the Group Annual Financial Statements presented to the 
Provincial Legislature:
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Approval        112

Audit and Risk Committee Report         113

Report of the Auditor-General         117

Directors’ Report           119

Company Secretary’s Certification         127

Statement of Financial Position         129

Statement of Financial Performance         130

Statement of Changes in Net Assets         132

Cash Flow Statement          133

Accounting Policies          134

Notes to the Group Annual Financial Statements       164

The following supplementary information does not form part of the Group Annual
Financial Statements and unaudited: Detailed Statement of Financial Performance 
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL

The directors are required by the Public Finance Management Act 1 of 1999 as amended, and the Companies Act of 
South Africa Act 71 of 2008, to maintain adequate accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity 
of the financial statements and related financial information included in this report. It is our responsibility to ensure that the 
financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the company, the results of its operations and cash flows for the 
year ended 31 March 2016, in conformity with the Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP). 
The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion of the Annual Financial Statements and were given 
unrestricted access to financial records and related data.

The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting 
Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting Standards Board in Public 
Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) as prescribed by National Treasury and the Companies Act.

The annual financial statements are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by 
the company and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment. To enable the directors 
to meet these responsibilities, the directors set standards for internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a 
cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, 
effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls 
are monitored throughout the company and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring 
the company’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of 
risk management in the company is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across 
the company. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the company endeavors to minimise it by ensuring that 
appropriate controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures 
and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management and internal audit, that 
the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation 
of the annual financial statements. However, any system of internal financial controls can provide only reasonable, and not 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for the year to 31 March 2017 and, in 
the light of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the company has or has access to adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The company is wholly dependent on the receipt 
of grant funding from the Gauteng Provincial Government of R405m for continued funding of operations for the 2016/17 
financial year. This funding has been approved as per the Medium Term Expenditure Framework of the Gauteng Provincial 
Government.

The Annual Financial Statements of the company as set out, were prepared on a going concern basis. The directors have 
reviewed current and future plans of the company and are satisfied with the appropriateness of the basis.

The external auditors are responsible for auditing and reporting on the company’s group annual financial statements.
The group annual financial statements have been examined by the company’s external auditors and their report is presented 
on page 117.

Approval of Company and Group Annual Financial Statements
The Annual Financial Statements of Gauteng Growth and Development Agency SOC Limited, set out on page 129 to 202 
were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 July 2016 and signed on their behalf by:

Mr Mogopodi Mokoena (Chairman)
Gauteng Growth and Development Agency
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Name of member Total meetings No. of meetings
D Dondur (Chairman) 12 12

N Balton 12 9

Z Malele 12 11

S Nicolaou 12 9

P Ntsobi (resigned on 2/10/2015) 5 2

T Setiloane (appointed on 2/10/2015) 7 4

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE REPORT

The GGDA Group Audit and Risk Committee (“the Committee”) is established as an independent statutory committee 
in terms the PFMA and the Companies Act. The Committee oversees all audit and risk matters for the company, 
however, the Board is ultimately accountable for risk management. The committee functions within approved terms of 
reference and complies with relevant legislation, regulation and governance codes.

The Committee submits this report for the year ended 31 March 2016, as required by the Treasury Regulations
27.1.7 and 27.1.10 (b) and (c) issued in terms of sections 51 (1) (a)(ii) and 76(4)(d) of the PFMA and section 37
(c) of the Companies Act.

The GGDA Group has, in terms of Treasury Regulation 27.1.2, established the GGDA Group ARC as a shared 
audit committee for GGDA Holdings and all its subsidiaries under the ownership and control of GGDA Holdings.

1. Audit and Risk Committee Membership, Members’ Qualifications 
and meeting attendance

The Committee consists of six Independent Non-Executive Members and is chaired by Ms Doris Dondur. The Chief 
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Internal and External Auditors have a standing 
invitation to all meetings of the Committee. A brief profile of each of the Committee Members, as well as their 
qualifications can be viewed in the Governance section of the Group Annual report, under Members of the Board.

The Chairperson of the Committee reports to the Board quarterly, or as and when necessary with regard to the 
Committee’s deliberations, decisions and recommendations.

Audit and risk committee members and meeting attendance

2. Roles and responsibilities

During the period under review, the Committee fulfilled its statutory duties as required by the PFMA and Treasury 
Regulations, as well as various additional responsibilities assigned to it by the Board. The Committee’s activities are 
also guided by its Terms of Reference which are approved by the Board.

In conducting its duties, the Committee has performed the following activities:
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2.1 Effectiveness of the internal control and risk management

Section 51(1) (a) (i) of the PFMA states that the Board must ensure that a public entity has and maintains effective, 
efficient and transparent systems of financial, risk management and internal control.

The Committee is responsible for overseeing risk management and reviewing the internal controls. Reviews on the 
effectiveness of the internal controls were conducted and they covered financial, operational, compliance and risk 
assessment.

During the year under review, the Committee conducted the following activities:

REVIEWED AND RECOMMENDED THE FOLLOWING 
MATTERS TO BOARD FOR APPROVAL

REVIEWED AND APPROVED THE FOLLOWING

Company’s Enterprise Wide Risk Management 
Framework defining campany’s risk management 
methodology.

Company’s policies on risk assessment and risk 
management, Including fraud risks and information 
technology.

Quarterly risk reports containing pertinent risks and 
opportunities aligned to the company’s vision and 
mission, emerging events and reportable incidents.

Quarterly reports on legal compliance, litigation and 
fraud incidents.

Quarterly Risk reports in line with the Annual Risk Plan.

The Board conducted the risk assessment during February 2015. An overview of risks management for the 2015/16 
Financial Year is discussed under the Governance section of the GGDA Group Annual report.

2.2 Group Internal audit

The Internal Audit Unit is responsible for reviewing and providing assurance on the adequacy of the Governance, 
Risk Management and Internal control environment across all of the significant areas of the company’s operations.

The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the company’s internal audit function is independent and has the 
necessary resources, skills, standing and authority within the organisation to enable it to discharge its responsibilities 
effectively. The Internal Auditors have unrestricted access to the Committee.

The Committee reviews and approves the Internal Audit Plan annually. Internal audit’s activities are measured against 
the approved internal audit plan and the Head: Internal Audit tables progress reports in this regard to the Committee.
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During the reporting period the Committee conducted the following activities:

REVIEWED AND 
RECOMMENDED THE 
FOLLOWING MATTERS TO 
BOARD FOR APPROVAL

•  Quarterly Financial and Performance Information Reports;
•  Company policies;
•  Annual Financial Statements and Performance Information Reports;
•  Quarterly Risk reports in line with the Annual Risk Plan
•  Quarterly Litigation and Fraud reports; and
•  Whistle blowing reports.

REVIEWED THE 
FOLLOWING MATTERS

•  Internal Audit Charter for the 2015/16 financial year;
•  Combined Assurance Framework
•  Annual Internal Audit Plan;
•  Capacity within the Internal Audit Unit; and
•  Internal Audit’s quarterly reports in line with the approved Internal Audit Plan.

The Committee has formed an opinion that adequate, objective internal audit policies and procedures exist within 
the company and that the company’s Internal Audit Unit has complied with the internal audit standards, the required 
legal, regulatory and other responsibilities as stipulated in its charter during the period under review.

2.3 External auditors

The Committee, in consultation with the company’s management, agreed to the terms of the Auditor-General South 
Africa’s engagement letter, audit strategy and audit fees in respect of the 2015/16 financial year.

The Audit and Risk Committee also monitored the implementation of the action plan to address matters arising from 
the Management Report issued by the Auditor-General South Africa for the 2014/15 financial year. All the action 
items were closed during the Financial Year.

The Audit Committee has met with the Auditor-General of South Africa to ensure that there are no unresolved issues.

2.4 Evaluation of the annual financial statements

During the reporting period, the Committee reviewed the Annual Financial Statements of the company and is 
satisfied that they comply with International Financial Reporting Standards and that the accounting policies used are 
appropriate. The Annual Financial Statement was reviewed with the following focus:
•  Significant financial reporting judgments and estimates contained in the Annual Financial Statements;
•  Clarity and completeness of disclosure and whether disclosures made have been set properly in context;
•  Changes in the Accounting Policies and Practices;
•  Significant adjustments resulting from the Audit;
•  Compliance with accounting standards and legal requirements;
•  Explanation for the accounting treatment adopted;
•  Reasons for year-on-year fluctuations;
•  Asset valuations and revaluations; and
•  The basis for the going concern assumption.

The review of the Annual Financial Statements and the Draft Annual Report for the 2015/16 Financial Year was 
done at the Committee’s meeting held on 20 May 2016 and recommended them to the Board for approval on  
27 May 2016.
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3. Quality of quarterley management reports submitted in terms of 
the PFMA

The Committee is satisfied that it received sufficient, reliable and timely information from Management in order to 
enable it to fulfill its responsibilities. During the period under review, quarterly management reports were presented 
by Management to enable the Committee to:
•  Monitor the integrity, accuracy and reliability of the financial position of the company;
•  Review the management accounts of the company and provide the Accounting Authority with an authoritative and 

credible view of the financial position of the company;
•  Review the company’s internal financial and operational controls, as well as the risk management systems,
•  Review the disclosure in the financial reports of the company and the context in which statements on the financial 

health of the company are made; and
•  Review all material information presented together with the management accounts.

The Committee reviewed the quarterly and annual reports on company’s performance against predetermined 
objectives.

4. Conclusion

The Audit and Risk Committee has executed on its roles and responsibilities in terms of its Board approved charter. 

The Audit and Risk Committee concurs with and accepts the conclusions and the audit opinion of the Auditor-General 
on the Annual Financial Statements and is of the view that the audited financial statements be accepted and read 
together with the report of the Auditor-General. 

Ms D Dondur
Chairman: GGDA Group Audit and Risk Committee
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL SOUTH AFRICA

Report on the consolidated financial statements

Introduction

1. I have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Gauteng Growth and Development Agency Group 
SOC Limited and its subsidiaries set out on pages 129 to 202, which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 March 2016, the consolidated statement of financial performance, statement of 
changes in net assets, and cash flow statement for the year then ended, as well as the notes, comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Accounting Authority’s responsibility for the consolidated financial 
statements

2. The board of directors, which constitutes the accounting authority, is responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with South African Standards of 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and the requirements of the Public Finance 
Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1of 1999) (PFMA) and the Companies Act of South Africa, 2008 (Act No. 
71 of 2008) (Companies Act), and for such internal control as the accounting authority determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

Auditor-general’s responsibility

3. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on my audit. I 
conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that I 
comply with ethical requirements, and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

4. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the consolidated financial statements. 

5. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.

Opinion

6. In my opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
GGDA Group and its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2016 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year 
then ended, in accordance with SA Standards of GRAP and the requirements of the PFMA and the Companies Act.
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Emphasis of matter

7. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these matters.

Restatement of corresponding figures

8. As disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements, the corresponding figures for 31 March 2015 have been restated 
as a result of an error discovered during 31 March 2016 in the financial statements of the Gauteng Growth and 
Development Agency SOC Limited at, and for the year ended, 31 March 2015.

Additional matter 

9. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other reports required by the Companies Act

10. As part of our audit of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016, I have read the Directors’ Report, 
the Audit Committee’s Report and the Company Secretary’s Certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there are 
material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited financial statements. These reports are the responsibility 
of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports I have not identified material inconsistencies between 
the reports and the audited financial statements. I have not audited the reports and accordingly do not express an 
opinion on them.

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

11. In accordance with the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) and the general notice issued in 
terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report findings on the reported performance information against predetermined 
objectives of selected programmes presented in the annual performance report, compliance with legislation and 
internal control. The objective of my tests was to identify reportable findings as described under each subheading but 
not to gather evidence to express assurance on these matters. Accordingly, I do not express an opinion or conclusion 
on these matters.

Predetermined objectives

12. I performed procedures to obtain evidence about the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information 
of the following selected programmes presented in the annual performance report of the public entity for the year 
ended 31 March 2016:
• Programme 1: GGDA Holdings on pages 38 to 51
• Programme 2: Automotive Industry Development Centre on pages 52 to 59
• Programme 3: The Innovation Hub on pages 60 to 70
• Programme 4: Gauteng Industrial Development Zone on pages 71 to 75
• Programme 5: Constitution Hill on pages 76 to 80
• Programme 6: Greater Newtown Development Company on pages 81 to 84

13. I evaluated the reported performance information against the overall criteria of usefulness and reliability. 
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14. I evaluated the usefulness of the reported performance information to determine whether it was presented in accor-
dance with the National Treasury’s annual reporting principles and whether the reported performance was consistent 
with the planned programmes. I further performed tests to determine whether indicators and targets were well defined, 
verifiable, specific, measurable, time bound and relevant, as required by the National Treasury’s Framework for Man-
aging Programme Performance Information (FMPPI).

15. I assessed the reliability of the reported performance information to determine whether it was valid, accurate and 
complete.

16. I did not raise any material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information for 
the selected sub-programmes.

Additional matter

17. Although I identified no material findings on the usefulness and reliability of the reported performance information 
for the selected programmes, I draw attention to the following matter:

Achievement of planned targets

18. Refer to the annual performance report on page(s) 38 to 84 for information on the achievement of planned 
targets for the year.

Compliance with legislation

19. I performed procedures to obtain evidence that the public entity had complied with applicable legislation re-
garding financial matters, financial management and other related matters. I did not identify any instances of 
material non-compliance with specific matters in key legislation, as set out in the general notice issued in terms 
of the PAA.

Internal control

20. I considered internal control relevant to my audit of the financial statements, annual performance report and 
compliance with legislation.

21. I did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal control.

Johannesburg
31 July 2016
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

1. Incorporation

The Gauteng Growth and Development Agency SOC Limited (GGDA) is legally constituted by the Blue IQ Act 5 of 
2003 (as amended).

2. Review of activities

Main business and operations

a) GGDA Holdings

The GGDA Group is an investment and management entity with trading controlled entities engaged in investing in 
infrastructure projects of strategic importance to Gauteng Provincial Government. The Group operates principally in 
South Africa.

The overarching aim of the GGDA is to provide specialised and focused competence for the Gauteng Province to 
implement its economic development goals. As the implementation arm of GDED’s economic growth and development 
strategy, the GGDA works towards the achievement of the following outcomes:
• Promotion and application of smart and green development, technologies and processes
• Creation of decent work and reduced levels of unemployment
• Contribution to increased Gross Domestic Product (GDP)
• Demographic inclusion in the mainstream economy and big business
• The marginalised sectors of women, youth and persons with disabilities participating in mainstream economic 

activities
• An appropriately skilled work force and private sector (SMME, Co-operatives and emerging businesses) to meet 

and grow the economy and the needs of key sectors

To contribute to the attainment above the outcomes, the GGDA focuses on the optimisation of efficiency as a ‘single 
strategically coherent and integrated institution’ (Business Case, 2011) and has established the following subsidiaries 
and business units to deliver on same.

b) IDZ Development Company

The Gauteng IDZ Development Company was established to develop and operate the Industrial Development Zone 
(IDZ) designated in and around the OR Tambo International Airport (ORTIA).

The Gauteng IDZ will identify, design and enable focused export-driven manufacturing and beneficiation programmes 
within the OR Tambo International Airport. These programmes will serve to increase industrialisation and manufacturing 
capability in targeted, export-driven sectors in the region, whilst promoting foreign direct investment and stimulating 
skills development, job creation and technological advancement, diversifying the province’s economy.

Phase I of the IDZ programme aims to deliver the development of a Jewellery Manufacturing Precinct and Expansion 
Phases explores other export-driven sub-sectors of the economy that are considered to have a catalytic impact.
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c) SPDC T/A SPDC

The SPDC T/A AIDC was established to support the automotive industry in Gauteng. This is achieved by providing 
enabling economic infrastructure and sector development interventions. The Automotive Supplier Park (ASP), the 
Winterveld Enterprise Hub and the Incubation Centres in Silverton and Rosslyn are such examples.

d) The Innovation Hub (TIH)

The Innovation Hub (TIH) is the first Science and Technology Park in Africa that was accredited by the International 
Association of Science Parks (IASP). TIH managed by The Innovation Hub Management Company (SOC) Ltd 
(“TIHMC”) was established by the Gauteng Provincial Government with a view to spur the development of smart 
industries (high technology sectors) in Gauteng.

TIH’s role in the provincial innovation ecosystem is to catalyse innovation and to be a key knowledge economy driver, 
in line with the Gauteng Growth and Development Strategy. The primary priority sectors for TIH are information 
and communications technology, biosciences and green economy (renewable energies and low carbon economy 
technologies).

e) Constitution Hill Precinct

The purpose of the Constitution Hill Project is to preserve historically significant buildings from the Old Fort in a 
manner which makes them publicly and commercially useful and catalyse the regeneration of the Braamfontein and 
Hillbrow Precincts. Historic buildings have been upgraded over the past year and ConHill has extended its education 
programmes and exhibitions to increase public participation and attendance to the precinct.

f) Trade, Investment and Regulatory Enablement

The trade, investment and regulatory enablement functions of the organisation contributes towards the achievement 
of the provincial outcomes on economic development. The attraction of investments in targeted sectors contributes 
to the development of the province’s priority sectors. Both domestic and export trade, needs to be developed and 
stimulated to increase the GDP contribution leading to growth of the Gauteng economy. These are critical ingredients 
for the creation of jobs which are vital for turning the tide on poverty and inequality in the province and nationally.

The level of effort targets the focus on the input activities that must be undertaken especially in relation to promotion and 
attraction of trade and investment. These would be on number of missions abroad, events undertaken, delegations 
hosted and businesses supported in the province. The output-focused targets speak to the outcome of investments 
attracted, value of trade generated, investments facilitated and jobs created.

g) Greater Newtown Development Company

The Greater Newtown Development Company aims to develop and promote the Newtown district as the creative 
capital of Johannesburg and South Africa. It advances a city that is dynamic, vibrant, sophisticated and cosmopolitan, 
boasting the best cultural offerings in Africa”. One of its primary goals is to assist in the rejuvenation of the inner city 
of Johannesburg.

The original vision was framed within a long-term perspective – 2030.
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The GGDA’s Group performance is represented by the following core focus areas to which subsidiaries and business 
units at Holdings all contribute:
• Identify and facilitate strategic economic infrastructure
• Skills Development
• Sector Development
• Enterprise Development (Pre-incubation and Incubation and Mentorship)
• Direct job creation in Gauteng
• Facilitation of Investments and Trade

Identify and facilitate strategic economic infrastructure

Bio Park Phase 2
The main contractor for the construction of the Biopark Phase 2 Work Package consisting of the Biopark Phase 2 
Building and the extension of the Phase 1 Warehouse, was appointed during the period under review. The site hand 
over will be done by the end of the first quarter in the new financial year. The commissioning and hand over of the 
buildings is expected to be by the end of the 2016/2017 financial year.

Enterprise Building 2 and 3 PPP Project
The Request for qualification was evaluated and the Request for Proposals processes will be undertaken during the first 
quarter of the new financial year. It is expected that the successful developer will be selected by the end of December 
2016 and site hand over done by the end of this financial year. The commissioning and hand over commitment is 
the end of 2018 for both buildings.

Nissan Incubation Centre (NIC)
The construction of Incubation Centre at Nissan (ICN) officially commenced on 10 of September 2015. 51% 
progress based on payment certificates measured against budget. 

Mini Factory Phase 2
A 58% progress against a planned target of 50% construction completed as measured against payment invoices.

JMP
Construction of the bulk infrastructure and enablement works is proceeding with focus in the period under review being 
on the bulk earthworks viz. completion of the platform earthworks and attenuation dams. Progress to-date is at 29%.

Skills Development
A total of 2758 people underwent the various Skills Development Programme, which was delivered by the GGDA. 
The training programmes spanned export development, targeting export ready companies. The training of youth 
people was aimed at those that wish to become welders, boiler makers, fitters, diesel mechanics, qualified artisans 
and master jewellers, as well as those that want to enter the furniture industry. Other programmes included the 
Leadership and Skills Development Programme aimed at human capability development in respect of engineering, 
information and communication technology (ICT) post-graduate students.

Sector Development
The sector development interventions are aimed at improving the competitiveness and efficiencies of Gauteng based 
companies and improving the value offering of the GGDA Group. This includes development interventions in the sectors 
of focus, including the automotive industry, green industries, ICT, bio-sciences, medical, fashion industry and tourism.
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Enterprise Development (Pre-incubation, Incubation and Mentorship)
The GGDA Group contributes to enterprise development by providing various incubation platforms and mentorship 
programmes. These platforms are offered through the AIDC and TIH. At the Holdings level, sector support interventions 
were provided to the furniture, agro-processing and the CTFL industries.

Direct job creation in Gauteng
The GGDA Group successfully facilitated the creation of 5 332 jobs.

Investments and Trade
GGDA managed to successfully facilitate Domestic Direct Investment projects amounting to R567m and FDIs worth R 
1bn. These investments facilitated the creation of 5 093 jobs.

a) Export Development
As at the end of March 2016, a total of 424 companies were trained to be export ready against a planned target 
of 200 companies.

b) Export facilitation
During the financial year 37 companies were assisted to access the DTI export support programmes and incentives. 
These companies were assisted to secure 33 trade deals to the value of R355m.

In giving attention to the Trade and Investment function, the dedicated Board Committee continued to provide 
guidance and monitor this core function of the organisation.

Financial Results
Net surplus of the Group was R 73.8 million (2015: restated surplus R57.5 million), after a tax refund of R2 444k 
(2015: R1 305k)

3. Going concern

The annual financial statements as set out on pages 117, were prepared on a going concern basis. This basis 
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of 
liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

The directors have reviewed the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern for the year to 31 March 2016 and, 
in the light of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the group has or has access to 
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. The group is wholly dependent on 
the receipt of grant funding from the Gauteng Provincial Government of R405m for continued funding of operations 
for the 2016/17 financial year. This funding has been approved as per the Medium Term Expenditure Framework 
of the Gauteng Provincial Government.

4. Directors’ interest in contracts

None of the directors at the date of this report have interests in contracts entered into by the company.

5. Accounting policies

The group annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the effective Standards of Generally 
Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the 
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Accounting Standards Board in accordance with the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) as prescribed 
by the National Treasury and the Companies Act.

6. Share capital / contributed capital

Authorised share capital
The authorised share capital of the company is 4 000 shares.

There were no changes in the authorised share capital of the company during the 2015/16 financial year.

Issued share capital
At 31 March 2016 the issued share capital comprised of 100 ordinary shares issued at R1 each. 

There were no shares issued during the financial year.

7. Distributions to owners

No dividends were paid or declared during the year. In terms of the Dividend policy, the directors have discretionary 
power to determine the timing and amount payable at any given financial year. However, in terms of Section 53(3) 
of the PFMA, the company is not allowed to retain surpluses without Treasury approval.

8. Borrowing limitations

In terms of the PFMA, the company is prohibited from borrowing. During the year under review, the company did not 
enter into any borrowing activities. The entity had to capitalise copier rental agreements, which gave rise to a small 
interest bearing debt in terms of GRAP 13.

9. Board

The board of directors of the company during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

Name      Appointed    Resigned
M Mokoena (Chairman)    01 June 2012
Z Malele (Deputy Chairman)   25 September 2012
N Balton     01 June 2012
D Dondur     14 March 2013
Dr P Jourdan     01 June 2012
Dr T Moema     25 September 2012   02 October 2015
Dr S Mufamadi     25 September 2012   02 October 2015
S Nicolaou     31 March 2012
P Ntsobi      25 September 2012   02 October 2015
Dr N Msomi     01 October 2015
Q Gungubele     01 February 2015
T Setiloane    01 October 2015
Dr N Msomi    01 October 2015
S Ngwenya (GCEO)    25 September 2012   30 November 2015
C Pillay (GCFO)     14 March 2013    31 October 2015
S Zamxaka (GCEO)    04 April 2016
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10. Secretary

The secretary of the company as at 31 March 2016 and up to the date of this report is:

M Mulaudzi

Physical address    124 Main Street
     Cnr Main and Kruis Streets
     Marshaltown
     Johannesburg
     2001

Postal address    Private Bag 10420
     Johannesburg
     2000

11. Corporate governance
General

Gauteng Growth and Development Agency SOC Ltd confirms and acknowledges its responsibility to comply with 
the Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), Act 1 of 1999, Treasury Regulations and where applicable and 
practical, with the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct (“the Code”) laid out in the King III Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa 2009. The Board discusses the responsibilities of management in this respect at Board 
meetings and monitors the company’s compliance with the Code on a quarterly basis.

The salient features of the group’s adoption of the Code is outlined below:

Board of directors

The Board:
• Retains full control over the company, its plans and strategy;
• Acknowledges its responsibilities as to strategy, compliance with internal policies, external laws and regulations, 

effective risk management and performance measurement, transparency and effective communication both 
internally and externally by the company;

• Is of a unitary structure comprising:
 - non-executive directors, all of whom are independent directors as defined in the Code, and
 - executive directors.
• Non-executive directors have access to all members of management of the company.

Chairman and Chief Executive
The Chairman is a non-executive and independent director (as defined by the Code).

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are separate, with responsibilities divided between them, so that no individual 
has unfettered powers of discretion. Non-executive directors have access to all members of management of the company.
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Board meetings
The Board has met in line with the requirements of the code. During the current year eleven meetings were held.

Audit and risk committee

For the current financial year, the chairman of the Group Audit and Risk Committee was D. Dondur (non-executive 
director).

The committee met in line with the requirements of the code to review matters necessary to fulfill its role.

Meetings held in the year:

Nomination, Human Resource and Remuneration Committee

For the current financial year, the chairman of the remuneration committee was Q. Gungubele (non-executive director). 
The committee met in line with the requirements of the code to review matters necessary to fulfill its role.

Name Total meetings Meetings attended

M Mokoena (Chairman) 11 11

Z Malele (Deputy Chairman) 11 11

N Balton 11 8

D Dondur 11 8

Dr P Jourdan 11 7

Dr T Moema - Resigned 6 4

Dr S Mufamadi - Resigned 6 6

S Nicolaou 11 9

P Ntsobi - Resigned 6 2

Dr N Msomi 5 5

Q Gungubele 11 9

S Ngwenya (GCEO) - Resigned 8 6

C Pillay (GCFO) - Resigned 6 5

P Mafojane 5 4

T Setiloane 5 4

Name Total meetings Meetings attended

D Dondur (Chairman) 12 12

N Balton 12 9

Z Malele 12 11

S Nicolaou 12 9

P Ntsobi - Resigned 5 2

T Setiloane 7 4
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Meetings held in the year.

Social and Ethics committee

The committee met in line with the requirements of the code to review matters necessary to fulfill its role.

Meetings held in the year:

12. Internal Audit
Gauteng Growth and Development Agency SOC Ltd has co-sourced its internal audit function and complies with the 
Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (PFMA).

13. Auditors
The Auditor-General of South Africa will continue in office in accordance with Public Audit Act No.2 of 2005 and 
Section 90 of the Companies Act.

Name Total meetings Meetings attended

Q Gungubele (Chairman) 6 6

Dr T Moema - Resigned 3 3

M Mokoena 7 7

P Mafojane 4 4

Dr S Mufamadi - Resigned 3 3

Name Total meetings Meetings attended

S Nicolaou (Chairman up to 9 Nov 14) 3 3

Z Malele - Resigned 4 4

Dr P Jourdan 4 4

D Dondur 4 4

N Balton (Chairman after 9 Nov 14) 4 3

Dr S Mufamadi - Resigned 4 2
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COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATION

Declaration by the company secretary in respect of Section 88(2)(e) of 
the Companies Act

In terms of Section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended, I certify that the company has lodged 
with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commissioner all such returns as are required of a public company in 
terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up-to-date.

MJ Mulaudzi
Company Secretary
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2016

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

NOTE(S) 2016

R’000 

2015
RESTATED*

R’000

2016

R’000

2015
RESTATED*

R’000
Assets

Current Assets
Receivables from exchange transactions 3 30 546 31 507 4 006 1 613

Cash and cash equivalents 5 269 847 205 823 73 795 49 639

Current tax receivable 45 4 554 3 807 1 239 581

Other financial assets 6 – – 35 000 35 000

Operating lease asset 7 14 1 358 14 –

Receivables from non-exchange 
transactions

4 20 989 2 500 20 989 –

VAT receivable 44 13 842 9 085 – –

Prepayments 43 26 112 46 852 19 919 12 416

Deposits paid 42 2 329 2 539 – –

Total current assets 368 233 303 471 154 962 99 249

Non-Current Assets
Investment property 8 680 572 686 681 – –

Property, plant and equipment 9 430 368 293 936 7 501 7 197

Intangible assets 10 2 681 1 266 236 512

Heritage assets 11 177 702 177 703 – –

Investments in controlled entities 12 – – 259 084 259 084

Deferred tax 13 8 744 6 728 1 952 2 442

Operating lease asset 7 9 681 9 148 – –

Other receivables 35 2 317 – – –

Total non-current assets 1 312 065 1 175 462 268 773 269 235
Total Assets 1 680 298 1 478 933 423 735 368 484
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 MARCH 2016 (CONTINUED)

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

NOTE(S) 2016

R’000 

2015
RESTATED*

R’000

2016

R’000

2015
RESTATED*

R’000
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Current tax payable 45 1 097 1 344 – –

Finance lease obligation 15 560 817 127 402

Payables from exchange transactions 16 44 084 49 202 6 757 7 652

Payables from non-exchange transactions 17 12 905 4 238 – –

Provisions 18 29 859 21 924 8 747 9 860

Unspent conditional grants and receipts 41 13 124 20 962 11 424 –

Unutilised government grants (MTEF) 20 98 024 58 926 69 392 36 254

Unutilised conditional grants (other) 20 105 277 94 103 – –

Operating lease liability 7 9 295 5 498 9 047 5 489

VAT payable 46 – 7 – –

Deposits received 19 6 372 5 318 – –

Total current liabilities 320 597 262 339 105 494 59 657

Non-Current Liabilities

Loans from shareholders 21 52 915 52 915 – –

Finance lease obligation 15 202 527 46 70

Deferred tax 13 7 586 9 498 – –

Unutilised government grants 20 7 737 7 737 – –

Total non-current liabilities 68 440 70 677 46 70
Total Liabilities 389 037 333 016 105 540 59 727

Net Assets 1 291 261 1 145 917 318 195 308 757

Net Assets
Net Assets Attributable 
Controlling Entity
Accumulated surplus 1 320 646 1 175 990 318 195 308 757

1 320 655 1 175 990 318 195 308 757

Non-controlling interest (29 385) (30 073) – –

Total Net Assets 1 291 261 1 145 917 318 195 308 757
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
AS AT 31 MARCH 2016

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

NOTE(S) 2016

R’000 

2015
RESTATED*

R’000

2016

R’000

2015
RESTATED*

R’000
Revenue from exchange transactions 23 181 143 154 084 – –

Revenue from non-exchange 
transactions – grants 24 449 082 341 267 342 872 335 739
Other income 25 3 990 1 199 3 226 105

Grants transfered and expensed 26 – – (198 059) (203 421)

Administrative expenses (24 792) (16 552) (14 346) (7 434)

Other operating expenses (286 124) (242 135) (48 903) (55 892)

Employee costs (193 972) (187 841) (78 185) (75 525)

Operating surplus (deficit) 27 129 327 50 022 6 605 (6 428)
Finance Income 28 13 857 9 060 4 400 3 280

Finance expense 29 (420) (285) (25) (62)

Surplus (deficit) before taxation 142 764 58 797 10 980 (3 210)
Taxation 30 2 580 (1 305) (1 542) (655)

Surplus (deficit) for the year 145 344 57 492 9 438 (3 865)

Attributable to:
Net asset holders of the company 144 656 58 018 9 438 3 865

Non-controlling interest 688 (526) – –

145 344 57 492 9 438 (3 865)
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
AS AT 31 MARCH 2016

ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS

R‘000

TOTAL 
ATTRIBUTABLE 

TO OWNERS OF 
THE GROUP/

CONTROLLING 
ENTITY
R ‘000

NON-
CONTROLLING 

INTEREST

R ‘000

TOTAL NET 
ASSETS

R ‘000
Group
Opening balance as previously 
reported 1 101 687 1 101 687 (29 547) 1 072 140
Adjustments

Prior year error (note 14) 16 285 16 285 – 16 285

Balance at 01 April 2014 
as restated* 1 117 972 1 117 972 (29 547) 1 088 425
Changes in net assets 

Surplus for the year 58 018 58 018 (526) 57 492

Total changes 58 018 58 018 (526) 57 492

Opening balance as previously 
reported 1 175 990 1 175 990 (29 547) 1 146 452

Adjustments
Prior year adjustments – – (526) (526)

Restated* Balance at 
01 April 2015 as restated* 1 175 990 1 175 990 (30 073) 1 145 917
Changes in net assets 

Surplus for the year 144 656 144 656 688 145 344

Total changes 144 656 144 656 688 145 344

Balance at 31 March 2016 1 320 646 1 320 646 (29 385) 1 291 261

Controlling entity
Balance at 01 April 2014 312 622 312 622 – 312 622
Surplus for the year (3 865) (3 865) – (3 865)

Total changes (3 865) (3 865) – (3 865)

Restated* Balance at  
01 April 2015 308 757 308 757 – 308 757
Deficit for the year 9 438 9 438 – 9 438

Total changes 9 438 9 438 – 9 438

Balance at 31 March 2016 318 195 318 195 – 318 195
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT 31 MARCH 2016

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

NOTE(S)
2016
R’000 

2015
RESTATED*

R’000
2016
R’000

2015
RESTATED*

R’000
Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts
VAT refund – 91 – –

Receipts from customers 159 605 142 581 – –

Government grants – MTEF 359 046 426 626 359 046 357 157

Finance revenue received 12 494 7 968 4 015 2 944

Conditional grants – non-MTEF 138 445 12 285 7 398 –

Other income 34 696 22 836 935 145

Total receipts from operating activities 704 286 612 387 371 394 360 246

Payments
Employee costs (202 235) (190 251) (86 607) (79 201)

Payments suppliers (263 557) (256 855) (59 095) (50 020)

Finance expense (376) (192) (22) (62)

VAT payments (8 445) (14 259) – –

Taxation 34 (2 296) (7 876) (1 763) (4 420)

Government grants to subsidiaries 46 – – (198 059) (214 253)

Total payments from operating 
activities (476 909) (469 433) (345 546) (347 956)
Net cash flows from operating 
activities 31 227 377 142 954 25 848 12 290
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment 9 (152 619) (60 355) (1 290) (1 833)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and 
equipment 9 90 35 – –
Acquisition of investment property 8 (7 944) (11 389) – –

Acquisition of intangible assets 10 (2 022) (638) – (421)

Purchases of heritage assets 11 – (1 864) – –

Net cash flows from investing activities (162 495) (74 211) (1 290) (2 254)
Cash flows from financing activities
Finance lease payments (858) (1 003) (402) (572)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents 64 024 67 740 24 156 9 464
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the year 205 823 138 083 49 639 40 175
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
end of the year 5 269 847 205 823 73 795 49 639
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

1. Presentation of Group Annual Financial Statements
The group annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any interpretations, guidelines and directives issued by the Accounting 
Standards Board in accordance with Section 91(1) of the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999) and 
Companies Act of 2008.

These group annual financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting and are in accordance 
with historical cost convention as the basis of measurement, unless specified otherwise. They are presented in South 
African Rand.

A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in the preparation of these 
group annual financial statements, are disclosed below.

Basis of measurement

The Group Annual Financial Statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. 

Functional and presentation currency

These Group Annual Financial Statements are presented in South African Rand which is the Group’s functional 
currency. All financial information presented in Rand has been rounded to the nearest thousand.

These accounting policies are consistent with the previous period except for the adoption of GRAP 18 (Segment 
Reporting) which came into effect in the current financial year and resulted in additional disclosure under note 49 
(Segment information).

1.1 Going concern assumption

These group annual financial statements have been prepared based on the expectation that the group will continue 
to operate as a going concern for at least the next 12 months.

1.2 Consolidation

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Control exists when the Group has the power to govern financial 
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting 
rights that presently are exercisable are taken into account. The Annual Financial Statements of subsidiaries are 
included in the consolidated Annual Financial Statements from the date that control commences until the date that 
control ceases. The accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed when necessary to align them with the 
policies adopted by the Group.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, 
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated Annual Financial Statements. 
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1. Presentation of Group Annual Financial Statements (continued)
1.3 Transfer of functions between entities under common control

Definitions
An acquirer is the company that obtains control of the acquiree or transferor.

Carrying amount of an asset or liability is the amount at which an asset or liability is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Position.

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of another company so as to benefit from its 
activities.

A function is an integrated set of activities that is capable of being conducted and managed for purposes of achieving 
a company’s objectives, either by providing economic benefits or service potential.

A merger is the establishment of a new combined company in which none of the former entities obtains control over 
any other and no acquirer can be identified.

Transfer date is the date on which the acquirer obtains control of the function and the transferer loses control of that 
function.

A transfer of functions is the reorganisation and/or the re-allocation of functions between entities by transferring 
functions between entities or into another company.

A transferer is the company that relinquishes control of a function.

Common control 
For a transaction or event to occur between entities under common control, the transaction or event needs to be 
undertaken between entities within the same sphere of government or between entities that are part of the same 
economic company. Entities that are ultimately controlled by the same company before and after the transfer of 
functions are within the same economic company

Accounting by the company as acquirer
Initial recognition and measurement
As of the transfer date, the Company recognises the purchase consideration, if any, paid to the transferor and all 
the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a transfer of functions. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed are 
measured at their carrying amounts.

The consideration, if any paid, by the Company can be in the form of cash, cash equivalents or other assets. If the 
consideration paid is in the form of other assets, the Company de-recognises such assets on the transfer date at their 
carrying amounts.

The difference between the carrying amounts of the assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and the consideration 
paid to the transferor, is recognised in accumulated surplus or deficit.

Subsequent measurement
The Company subsequently measures any assets acquired and any liabilities assumed in a transfer of functions in 
accordance with the applicable Standards of GRAP.
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1.3 Transfer of functions between entities under common control (continued)

At the transfer date, the Company classifies or designates the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as necessary 
to apply other Standards of GRAP subsequently. The Company makes those classifications or designations on the 
basis of the terms of the binding arrangement, economic conditions, its operating or accounting policies and other 
relevant conditions that exist at the transfer date. An exception is that the Company classifies the following contracts 
on the basis of the contractual terms and other factors at the inception of the contract (or, if the terms of the contract 
have been modified in a manner that would change its classification, at the date of that modification, which might 
be the transfer date):

• classification of a lease contract as either an operating lease or a finance lease in accordance with the 
Standard of GRAP on Leases; and

• classification of a contract as an insurance contract in accordance with the International Financial Reporting 
Standard on Insurance Contracts. 

1.4 Significant judgements and source of estimation uncertainty

In preparing the Group Annual Financial Statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the amounts represented in the Group Annual Financial Statements and related disclosures. Use of available information 
and the application of judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from these 
estimates which may be material to the Group Annual Financial Statements. Significant judgements include:

Trade receivables and/or other receivables
The Group assesses its trade receivables and loans and receivables for impairment at each statement of financial 
position date. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the Statement Of Financial 
Performance, the Group makes judgements as to whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease 
in the estimated future cash flows from a financial asset.

The entity assesses its trade receivables and loans and receivables for impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in surplus or deficit, the entity makes judgements as to 
whether there is observable data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a financial 
asset. Each receivable is reviewed individually at year end.

Property and equipment and intangible assets
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives and residual values of property and equipment and 
intangible assets. These assessments are made on an annual basis and use historical evidence and current economic 
factors to estimate the values. Administrative computer equipment, office furniture and equipment, exhibits and motor 
vehicles are not componentised. These assets do not have significant parts that are considered to have an estimated 
useful life different to the estimated useful life of the asset as a whole.

Fair value estimation
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair 
values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the entity for similar financial instruments. The carrying 
amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables approximated their 
fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.
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1.4 Significant judgements and source of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment testing
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units and individual assets have been determined based on the higher of 
value-in-use calculations and fair values. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions.

The entity reviews and tests the carrying value of assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows 
are largely independent of cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have 
occurred, estimates are prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of assets.

Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of tangible assets are inherently uncertain and could 
materially change over time. They are significantly affected by a number of factors, including supply demand, 
together with economic factors such as interest.

Provisions
The provisions raised by the Company are limited to performance bonus and leave pay provisions. For performance 
bonuses, the provision raised estimates the amount of the provision based on the anticipated performance of 
employees.

This anticipated performance is based on experience with the employees of the Company, taking into account 
performance trends in the prior periods. For the provision for leave pay, the amount is based on the accumulated 
leave days balances at the end of the financial year after taking into account the forfeited leave days.

Furthermore, the amount of the performance bonus and the provision for leave pay is determined with reference to 
the salary scales as at end of the financial year. 

Provisions were raised and management determined an estimate based on the information available. Additional 
disclosure of these estimates of provisions are included in note 18.

Taxation
Judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. There 
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary 
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were 
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such 
determination is made.

The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred income tax assets to the extent that it is probable 
that the deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred 
income tax assets requires the Group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. 
Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing 
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, 
the ability of the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the statement of financial position date could 
be impacted.
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1.4 Significant judgements and source of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and the 
amount and timing of future taxable income. The Group provides for taxation, based on reasonable estimates and 
interpretation of taxation laws and regulations. The amount of such provisions is based on various factors, such 
as experience of previous tax audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the 
responsible tax authority.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable surplus will 
be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine 
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable 
surplus together with future tax planning strategies.

Effective interest rate
The group used the prime interest rate to discount future cash flows.

Allowance for doubtful debts
On debtors an impairment loss is recognised in surplus and deficit when there is objective evidence that it is impaired. 
The impairment is measured as the difference between the debtors carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate, computed at initial recognition.

1.5 Investment property

Investment property is property (land or a building – or part of a building – or both) held to earn rentals or for capital 
appreciation or both, rather than for:

• use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
• administrative purposes, or
• sale in the ordinary course of operations.

Owner-occupied property is property held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative 
purposes.

Investment property is recognised as an asset when, it is probable that the future economic benefits or service 
potential that are associated with the investment property will flow to the group, and the cost or fair value of the 
investment property can be measured reliably.

Investment property is initially recognised at cost. Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement. Where 
investment property is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at the date of 
acquisition.

Costs include costs incurred initially and costs incurred subsequently to add to, or to replace a part of, or service a 
property. If a replacement part is recognised in the carrying amount of the investment property, the carrying amount 
of the replaced part is derecognised. 
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1.5 Investment property (continued)

Cost model
Investment property is carried at cost less depreciation less any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write down the cost, less estimated residual value over the useful life of the property, 
which is as follows:

Item  Useful life
Property – land  indefinite
Property – buildings  20-50 years

Investment property is derecognised on disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use 
and no future economic benefits or service potential are expected from its disposal.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of investment property is the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in surplus or deficit in the period of retirement or 
disposal.

1.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets (including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in 
the production or supply of goods or services, rental to others, or for administrative purposes, and are expected to 
be used during more than one period.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future 
economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the group the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is the purchase price and other costs attributable to bring 
the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Trade discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the cost.

Where an asset is acquired through a non-exchange transaction, its cost is its fair value as at date of acquisition.

Where an item of property, plant and equipment is acquired in exchange for a non-monetary asset or monetary 
assets, or a combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, the asset acquired is initially measured at fair value 
(the cost). If the acquired item’s fair value was not determinable, it’s deemed cost is the carrying amount of the asset(s) 
given up.

When significant components of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
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1.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)
 
Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or construct an item of property, plant and equipment and costs 
incurred subsequently to add to, replace part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in the carrying 
amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

The initial estimate of the costs of dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site on which it is located is 
also included in the cost of property, plant and equipment, where the entity is obligated to incur such expenditure, 
and where the obligation arises as a result of acquiring the asset or using it for purposes other than the production 
of inventories.

Recognition of costs in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment ceases when the item is in the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight line basis over their expected useful lives to their 
estimated residual value.

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows: 

Item Depreciation method Average useful life
Buildings Straight line 20 – 40 years
Plant and equipment Straight line 3 – 20 years
Furniture and fixtures Straight line Plant and equipment
Motor vehicles Straight line 5 – 7 years
Computer equipment Straight line 3 – 15 years
Infrastructure Straight line 20 years

The residual value, and the useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting date. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for as a change in 
accounting estimate.

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the 
item is depreciated separately.

The depreciation charge for each period is recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is included in the carrying amount 
of another asset.

Construction work in progress is not depreciated until it is utilised.

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognised when the asset is disposed of or when there are no further 
economic benefits or service potential expected from the use of the asset.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in surplus or 
deficit when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant 
and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount 
of the item.
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1.6 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Assets which the group holds for rentals to others and subsequently routinely sell as part of the ordinary course of 
activities, are transferred to inventories when the rentals end and the assets are available-for-sale. Proceeds from sales 
of these assets are recognised as revenue. All cash flows on these assets are included in cash flows from operating 
activities in the cash flow statement.

1.7 Intangible assets

An asset is identified as an intangible asset when it:
•  is capable of being separated or divided from an entity and sold, transferred, licensed, rented or exchanged, 

either individually or together with a related contract, assets or liability; or
• arises from contractual rights or other legal rights, regardless whether those rights are transferable or separate 

from the Company or from other rights and obligations.

An intangible asset is recognised when:
•  it is probable that the expected future economic benefits or service potential that are attributable to the asset 

will flow to the group; and
• the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost.

Should an intangible asset be acquired at no or nominal cost, the cost shall be its fair value as at the date of acquisition. 
Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical knowledge and 
understanding is recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance as an expense in the period incurred.

Expenditure on development activities, whereby research findings are applied to a plan or design for the production 
of new or substantially improved products and processes, is capitalised if the development costs can be measured 
reliably, the product or process is technically and commercially feasible, future economic benefits are probable, and 
the Group has sufficient resources to complete development, and to use or sell the asset. The expenditure capitalised 
includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.

Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised when:
• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale.
• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it.
• there is an ability to use or sell it.
• it will generate probable future economic benefits or service potential.
•  there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell 

the asset.
• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.
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1.7 Intangible assets (continued) 

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is no 
foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset is expected to generate net cash inflows or service potential. 
Amortisation is not provided for these intangible assets, but they are tested for impairment annually and whenever 
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other intangible assets amortisation is provided on a 
straight line basis over their useful life.

Computer software
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use 
the specific software.

The cost of minor software and licences are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance as an expense 
when incurred.

Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance as an expense when incurred.

Amortisation
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed at each reporting date.

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is an 
indicator that the asset may be impaired. As a result the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining carrying 
amount is amortised over its useful life.

Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are not 
recognised as intangible assets.

Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an intangible asset.

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible assets, on a straight line basis, to their residual values as follows:

Item  Useful life 
Capitalised development expenditure  5 years 
Computer software, other  3 years

Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal; or when no future economic benefits or service potential are expected 
from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss is the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount. It is recognised 
in surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognised.
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1.8 Heritage assets

Heritage assets are assets that have a cultural, environmental, historical, natural, scientific, technological or artistic 
significance and are held indefinitely for the benefit of present and future generations. 

Recognition
The group recognises a heritage asset as an asset if it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the asset will flow to the group, and the cost or fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Initial measurement
Heritage assets are measured at cost.

The cost of an item of heritage assets is the purchase price and other costs attributable bringing the asset to the 
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by the Company.

The cost of an item of heritage assets acquired in exchange for non-monetary assets or monetary assets, or a 
combination of monetary and non-monetary assets is measured at the fair value of the asset given up, unless the fair 
value of the asset received is more clearly evident. If the acquired item could not be measured at its fair value, its cost 
is measured at the carrying amount of the asset given up.

Subsequent measurement
After recognition as an asset, a class of heritage assets is carried at its cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Costs incurred to enhance or restore the heritage asset to preserve its indefinite useful life should be capitalised as part 
of the carrying amount of the heritage asset. These costs should be recognised only if the recognition criteria are met.

The Company does not recognise in the carrying amount of heritage assets the costs of the day-to-day servicing of 
such assets. Rather, these costs are recognised in surplus or deficit when incurred.

Costs of day-to-day servicing are primarily the cost of inspecting the heritage assets, cost of labour and consumables, 
and may include the cost of minor parts or repairs.

Impairment
The group assess at each reporting date whether there is an indication that it may be impaired. If any such indication 
exists, the group estimates the recoverable amount or the recoverable service amount of the heritage asset.

Transfers
Transfers from heritage assets are only made when the particular asset no longer meets the definition of a heritage 
asset. Transfers to heritage assets are only made when the asset meets the definition of a heritage asset.

Derecognition
The group derecognises heritage asset on disposal, or when no future economic benefits or service potential are 
expected from its use or disposal.

The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of a heritage asset is determined as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount of the heritage asset. Such difference is recognised in surplus or 
deficit when the heritage asset is derecognised.
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1.9 Investments in controlled entities, group annual financial statements

Group annual financial statements
The group annual financial statements include those of the holding company and its subsidiaries. The results of the 
subsidiaries are included from the effective date of acquisition.

On acquisition the group recognises the subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at fair 
value, except for assets classified as held-for-sale, which are recognised at fair value less costs to sell.

Controlling entity annual financial statements 
In the entity’s separate Annual Financial Statements, investments in controlled entities are carried at cost less any 
accumulated impairment.

The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is the aggregate of the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, 
liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the entity; plus any costs directly attributable to the 
purchase of the subsidiary.

An adjustment to the cost of a business combination contingent on future events is included in the cost of the 
combination if the adjustment is probable and can be measured reliably.

1.10 Financial instruments

Classification
The entity classifies financial assets and financial liabilities into the following categories:

• Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit – held for trading
• Loans and receivables
• Available-for-sale financial assets
• Financial liabilities at fair value through surplus or deficit – held for trading

Classification depends on the purpose for which the financial instruments were obtained/incurred and takes place 
at initial recognition. Classification is re-assessed on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial assets 
designated as at fair value through surplus or deficit, which shall not be classified out of the fair value through surplus 
or deficit category.

Initial recognition
The entity recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its Statement of Financial Position when, and only when, 
the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. This is achieved through the application of 
trade date accounting.

Upon initial recognition the entity classifies financial instruments or their component parts as a financial liabilities, 
financial assets or residual interests in conformity with the substance of the contractual arrangement and to the extent 
that the instrument satisfies the definitions of a financial liability, a financial asset or a residual interest.

Financial instruments are evaluated, based on their terms, to determine if those instruments contain both liability and 
residual interest components (i.e. to assess if the instruments are compound financial instruments). To the extent that 
an instrument is in fact a compound instrument, the components are classified separately as financial liabilities and 
residual interests as the case may be.
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1.10 Financial instruments (continued) 

Initial measurement
When a financial instrument is recognised, the entity measures it initially at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 
asset or a financial liability not subsequently measured at fair value, transaction costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability. 

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition, financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value, amortised cost or 
cost. All financial assets and financial liabilities are measured after initial recognition using the following categories:

Financial instruments at fair value
• Derivatives
• Compound instruments that are designated at fair value i.e. an instrument that includes a derivative and a 

non- derivative host contract
•  Instruments held for trading
• Non-derivative financial assets or financial liabilities with fixed or determinable payments that are designated 

at fair value at initial recognition
• An investment in a residual interest for which fair value can be measured reliably
• Financial instruments that do not meet the definition of financial instruments at amortised cost or financial 

instruments at cost

Financial instruments at amortised cost
Non-derivative financial assets or non-derivative financial liabilities that have fixed or determinable payments, 
excluding those instruments that the entity designates at fair value at initial recognition or are held for trading.

Financial instruments at cost
Investments in residual interests, which do not have quoted market prices and for which fair value cannot be 
determined reliably.

The entity assesses which instruments should be subsequently measured at fair value, amortised cost or cost, based 
on the definitions of financial instruments at fair value, financial instruments at amortised cost or financial instruments 
at cost as set out above.

Gains and losses
A gain or loss arising from a change in the fair value of a financial asset or financial liability measured at fair value 
is recognised in surplus or deficit.

For financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost or cost, a gain or loss is recognised in surplus or 
deficit when the financial asset or financial liability is derecognised or impaired, or through the amortisation process.

Impairment of financial assets
At each end of the reporting period the Group assesses all financial assets, other than those at fair value through 
surplus or deficit, to determine whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets 
has been impaired.
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1.10 Financial instruments (continued)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost:

The entity first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are 
individually significant and individually or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the 
entity determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and 
collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an 
impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in the collective assessment of impairment..

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets measured at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset‘s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the 
financial asset‘s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is recognised 
in surplus or deficit. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor‘s credit rating), the 
previously recognised impairment loss shall be reversed either directly or by adjusting an allowance account. The 
reversal shall not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the amortised cost would have 
been had the impairment not been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed. The amount of the reversal is 
recognised in surplus or deficit.

Financial assets measured at cost:

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred on an investment in a residual interest that 
is not measured at fair value because its fair value cannot be measured reliably, the amount of the impairment loss 
is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses 
are not reversed.

Derecognition
Financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised at trade date, when the cash flows from the asset expire, are settled or waived; 
Significant risks and rewards are transferred to another party; or Despite having retained significant risks and rewards, 
the entity has transferred control of the asset to another entity.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation is extinguished. Exchanges of debt instruments between a 
borrower and a lender are treated as the extinguishment of an existing liability and the recognition of a new financial 
liability. Where the terms of an existing financial liability are modified, it is also treated as the extinguishment of an 
existing liability and the recognition of a new liability.

Non Derivative financial instruments
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity securities, trade and other receivables, cash and 
cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.
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1.10 Financial instruments (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, for instruments not at fair value through 
profit or loss, any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition non-derivative financial 
instruments are measured as described below.

Available-for-sale financial assets
The Group’s investments in equity securities are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment losses, are recognised 
directly in equity. When an investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss in equity is transferred to the 
Statement of Financial Performance.

Loans to (from) Group companies
These include loans to and from the holding company and fellow subsidiaries are recognised initially at fair value 
plus direct transaction costs.

Loans to Group companies are classified as loans and receivables.

Loans from Group companies are classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Loans to shareholders, directors, managers and employees.

These financial assets are classified as loans and receivables. 

Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised 
in surplus or deficit when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of 
the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or delinquency 
in payments (more than 90 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The 
allowance recognised is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the deficit 
is recognised in surplus or deficit within operating expenses. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against operating expenses in surplus or deficit.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method.
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1.10 Financial instruments (continued) 

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value. These are initially and subsequently recorded at fair value.

Offset
Where a legally enforceable right of offset exists for recognised financial assets and financial liabilities, and there is 
an intention to settle the liability and realise the asset simultaneously, or to settle on a net basis, all related financial 
effects are offset.

1.11 Tax

Current tax assets and liabilities
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially 
enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to 
(recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the Statement of Financial Position date. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the extent that the deferred tax 
liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither accounting surplus nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
surplus will be available against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised. A deferred tax asset 
is not recognised when it arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither accounting surplus nor taxable profit (tax loss).

A deferred tax asset is recognised for the carry forward of unused tax losses and unused STC credits to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable surplus will be available against which the unused tax losses and unused STC 
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except when the deferred tax liability 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting surplus nor taxable surplus or deficit.

In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in 
joint ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that 
the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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1.11 Tax (continued) 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable surplus will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilised.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable surplus will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets 
against current income tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable company and the same taxation 
authority.

1.12 Financial Risk Management

Overview
• Credit risk;
• Liquidity risk;
• Market risk; and
• Interest rate risk.

This note presents information about the company’s exposure to each of the above risks, the company’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the company’s management of capital. Further 
quantitative disclosures are included throughout these annual financial statements.

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk management 
framework. The Board has established the Audit and Risk Management Committee, which is responsible for 
developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management policies. The Committee reports regularly to the Board of 
Directors on its activities.

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group’s activities. 

The Group aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand 
their roles and obligations.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the company’s receivables from customers and investment 
securities.

Trade and other receivables
The company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by debtors.
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The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade 
and other receivables and investments.

The main components of this allowance are a specific loss component that relates to individually significant exposures, 
and a collective loss component established for company of similar assets in respect of losses that have been incurred 
but not yet identified. The collective loss allowance is determined based on historical data of payment statistics for 
similar financial assets. The Group collects three months rentals from tenants and does upfront invoicing to manage 
the credit risk.

Deposits
The company limits its exposure to credit risk by only investing in liquid securities and only with counterparties that 
have a credit rating of at least A+. Given these high credit ratings, management does not expect any counterparty 
to fail to meet its obligations.

Investments
The company limits its exposure by ensuring that vigorous due diligence processes are performed prior to investing in 
ventures. Performance of the investments is continuously monitored.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity 
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or 
risking damage to the company’s reputation. The company is wholly dependent on MTEF and Provincial budget vote.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and equity prices will affect the company’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return. The company ensures 
that it reviews its cash management strategies to ensure interest income is maximised.

Interest rate risk
The company has neither significant interest bearing assets nor liabilities. Accordingly the company’s income and 
expenses are substantially independent of changes in markets rates of interest. As a result, changes in the market rate 
of interest have a negligible impact on the financial performance of the company.

Capital management
The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain creditor and market confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business.

1.13 Leases

A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease 
is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 

The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at 
inception date of whether the fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets or 
the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
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1.13 Leases (continued)

Finance leases – lessor
The group recognises finance lease receivables on the statement of financial position.

Finance income is recognised based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the group’s net 
investment in the finance lease.

Finance leases – lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position at amounts equal to the 
fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

The minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and reduction of the outstanding liability. 
The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of 
return on the remaining balance of the liability.

Operating leases – lessor
Operating lease income is recognised as an income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging operating leases are added to the carrying amount of the 
leased asset and recognised as an expense over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Income for leases is disclosed under revenue in the statement of financial performance.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 
between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease 
asset or liability. This operating lease asset or liability is not discounted.

Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.

1.14 Impairment of cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are those assets held by the Group with the primary objective of generating a commercial 
return. When an asset is deployed in a manner consistent with that adopted by a profit-orientated entity, it generates 
a commercial return.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic 
recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting 
any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon.

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets managed with the objective of generating a 
commercial return that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
from other assets or groups of assets.
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Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and 
income tax expense.

Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life. 

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.

Recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. Useful life is either:
(a) the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the group; or
(b) the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by the group.

Criteria developed by the group to distinguish cash-generating assets from non-cash-generating assets are as follow:

Identification
When the carrying amount of a cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable amount, it is impaired.

The group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a cash-generating asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the group also test a cash-generating intangible asset 
with an indefinite useful life or a cash-generating intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment annually by 
comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment test is performed at the same time every 
year. If an intangible asset was initially recognised during the current reporting period, that intangible asset was tested 
for impairment before the end of the current reporting period.

Value in use
Value in use of a cash-generating asset is the present value of the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived 
from the continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life.

When estimating the value in use of an asset, the group estimates the future cash inflows and outflows to be derived 
from continuing use of the asset and from its ultimate disposal and the group applies the appropriate discount rate to 
those future cash flows.

Basis for estimates of future cash flows
In measuring value in use the group:

• base cash flow projections on reasonable and supportable assumptions that represent management’s best 
estimate of the range of economic conditions that will exist over the remaining useful life of the asset. Greater 
weight is given to external evidence;

•  base cash flow projections on the most recent approved financial budgets/forecasts, but excludes any 
estimated future cash inflows or outflows expected to arise from future restructuring’s or from improving or 
enhancing the asset’s performance. Projections based on these budgets/forecasts covers a maximum period 
of five years, unless a longer period can be justified; and
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•  estimate cash flow projections beyond the period covered by the most recent budgets/forecasts by 
extrapolating the projections based on the budgets/forecasts using a steady or declining growth rate for 
subsequent years, unless an increasing rate can be justified. This growth rate does not exceed the long-term 
average growth rate for the products, industries, or country or countries in which the company operates, or 
for the market in which the asset is used, unless a higher rate can be justified.

Composition of estimates of future cash flows
Estimates of future cash flows include:

• projections of cash inflows from the continuing use of the asset;
•  projections of cash outflows that are necessarily incurred to generate the cash inflows from continuing use of 

the asset (including cash outflows to prepare the asset for use) and can be directly attributed, or allocated 
on a reasonable and consistent basis, to the asset; and

• net cash flows, if any, to be received (or paid) for the disposal of the asset at the end of its useful life.

Estimates of future cash flows exclude cash inflows or outflows from financing activities. 

The estimate of net cash flows to be received (or paid) for the disposal of an asset at the end of its useful life is 
the amount that the group expects to obtain from the disposal of the asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, after deducting the estimated costs of disposal.

Foreign currency future cash flows
Future cash flows are estimated in the currency in which they will be generated and then discounted using a discount 
rate appropriate for that currency. The group translates the present value using the spot exchange rate at the date of 
the value in use calculation.

Discount rate
The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money, represented by 
the current risk-free rate of interest and the risks specific to the asset for which the future cash flow estimates have not 
been adjusted.

Recognition and measurement (individual asset)
If the recoverable amount of a cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
is reduced to its recoverable amount. This reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

Any impairment loss of a revalued cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount of the cash-generating asset 
to which it relates, the group recognises a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the Standard of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the cash-generating asset is 
adjusted in future periods to allocate the cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value (if 
any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
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Cash-generating units
If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. 
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the group determines the recoverable 
amount of the cash- generating unit to which the asset belongs (the asset’s cash-generating unit).

If an active market exists for the output produced by an asset or group of assets, that asset or group of assets is 
identified as a cash-generating unit, even if some or all of the output is used internally. If the cash inflows generated by 
any asset or cash- generating unit are affected by internal transfer pricing, the group use management’s best estimate 
of future price(s) that could be achieved in arm’s length transactions in estimating:

• the future cash inflows used to determine the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use; and
•  the future cash outflows used to determine the value in use of any other assets or cash-generating units that 

are affected by the internal transfer pricing.

Cash-generating units are identified consistently from period to period for the same asset or types of assets, unless a 
change is justified.

The carrying amount of a cash-generating unit is determined on a basis consistent with the way the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit is determined.

An impairment loss is recognised for a cash-generating unit if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the 
carrying amount of the unit. The impairment is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the cash-generating assets 
of the unit on a pro rata basis, based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. These reductions in carrying 
amounts are treated as impairment losses on individual assets.

In allocating an impairment loss, the company does not reduce the carrying amount of an asset below the highest of:
• its fair value less costs to sell (if determinable);
• its value in use (if determinable); and 
• zero.

The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the 
other cash-generating assets of the unit.

Where a non-cash-generating asset contributes to a cash-generating unit, a proportion of the carrying amount of that 
non- cash-generating asset is allocated to the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit prior to estimation of the 
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit.

Reversal of impairment loss
The group assess at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for a cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the 
company estimates the recoverable amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. 
The carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. The increase is a reversal of an impairment 
loss. The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods.
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A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. Any 
reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation increase.
After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the cash-generating 
asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate the cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual 
value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit is allocated to the cash-generating assets of the unit 
pro rata with the carrying amounts of those assets. These increases in carrying amounts are treated as reversals of 
impairment losses for individual assets. No part of the amount of such a reversal is allocated to a non-cash-generating 
asset contributing service potential to a cash-generating unit.

In allocating a reversal of an impairment loss for a cash-generating unit, the carrying amount of an asset is not 
increased above the lower of:

•  its recoverable amount (if determinable); and
•  the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no 

impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

The amount of the reversal of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated 
pro rata to the other assets of the unit.

Redesignation
The redesignation of assets from a cash-generating asset to a non-cash-generating asset or from a non-cash-generating 
asset to a cash-generating asset only occur when there is clear evidence that such a redesignation is appropriate.

1.15 Impairment of non-cash-generating assets

Cash-generating assets are assets managed with the objective of generating a commercial return. An asset generates 
a commercial return when it is deployed in a manner consistent with that adopted by a profit-oriented entity.

Non-cash-generating assets are assets other than cash-generating assets.

Impairment is a loss in the future economic benefits or service potential of an asset, over and above the systematic 
recognition of the loss of the asset’s future economic benefits or service potential through depreciation (amortisation).

Carrying amount is the amount at which an asset is recognised in the statement of financial position after deducting 
any accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses thereon. 

A cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable group of assets held with the primary objective of generating a 
commercial return that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows 
from other assets or groups of assets.

Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal of an asset, excluding finance costs and 
income tax expense.
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Depreciation (Amortisation) is the systematic allocation of the depreciable amount of an asset over its useful life.

Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, less the costs of disposal.
Recoverable service amount is the higher of a non-cash-generating asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use. Useful life is either:

(a) the period of time over which an asset is expected to be used by the group; or
(b) the number of production or similar units expected to be obtained from the asset by the group.

Identification
When the carrying amount of a non-cash-generating asset exceeds its recoverable service amount, it is impaired.

The group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that a non-cash-generating asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the group estimates the recoverable service amount of the asset.

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment, the company also test a non-cash-generating intangible 
asset with an indefinite useful life or a non-cash-generating intangible asset not yet available for use for impairment 
annually by comparing its carrying amount with its recoverable service amount. This impairment test is performed 
at the same time every year. If an intangible asset was initially recognised during the current reporting period, that 
intangible asset was tested for impairment before the end of the current reporting period.

Value in use
Value in use of non-cash-generating assets is the present value of the non-cash-generating assets remaining service 
potential. The present value of the remaining service potential of a non-cash-generating assets is determined using 
the following approach:

Depreciated replacement cost approach
The present value of the remaining service potential of a non-cash-generating asset is determined as the depreciated 
replacement cost of the asset. The replacement cost of an asset is the cost to replace the asset’s gross service potential. 
This cost is depreciated to reflect the asset in its used condition. An asset may be replaced either through reproduction 
(replication) of the existing asset or through replacement of its gross service potential. The depreciated replacement cost 
is measured as the reproduction or replacement cost of the asset, whichever is lower, less accumulated depreciation 
calculated on the basis of such cost, to reflect the already consumed or expired service potential of the asset.

The replacement cost and reproduction cost of an asset is determined on an “optimised” basis. The rationale is that 
the group would not replace or reproduce the asset with a like asset if the asset to be replaced or reproduced is an 
overdesigned or overcapacity asset. Overdesigned assets contain features which are unnecessary for the goods or 
services the asset provides. Overcapacity assets are assets that have a greater capacity than is necessary to meet the 
demand for goods or services the asset provides. The determination of the replacement cost or reproduction cost of 
an asset on an optimised basis thus reflects the service potential required of the asset.

Restoration cost approach
Restoration cost is the cost of restoring the service potential of a cash-generating asset to its pre-impaired level. The 
present value of the remaining service potential of the asset is determined by subtracting the estimated restoration cost 
of the asset from the current cost of replacing the remaining service potential of the asset before impairment. The latter 
cost is determined as the depreciated reproduction or replacement cost of the asset, whichever is lower. 
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Service units approach
The present value of the remaining service potential of the asset is determined by reducing the current cost of 
the remaining service potential of the asset before impairment, to conform to the reduced number of service units 
expected from the asset in its impaired state. The current cost of replacing the remaining service potential of the asset 
before impairment is determined as the depreciated reproduction or replacement cost of the asset before impairment, 
whichever is lower.

Recognition and measurement
If the recoverable service amount of a non-cash-generating asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount 
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable service amount. This reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit.

Any impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

When the amount estimated for an impairment loss is greater than the carrying amount of the non-cash-generating asset 
to which it relates, the group recognises a liability only to the extent that is a requirement in the Standards of GRAP.

After the recognition of an impairment loss, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating asset 
is adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual value 
(if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Reversal of an impairment loss
The group assess at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for a non-cash-generating asset may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the 
group estimates the recoverable service amount of that asset.

An impairment loss recognised in prior periods for a non-cash-generating asset is reversed if there has been a 
change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable service amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. The carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable service amount. The increase is a reversal 
of an impairment loss. The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of depreciation or amortisation) had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss for a non-cash-generating asset is recognised immediately in surplus or deficit. Any 
reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued non-cash-generating asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

After a reversal of an impairment loss is recognised, the depreciation (amortisation) charge for the non-cash-generating 
asset is adjusted in future periods to allocate the non-cash-generating asset’s revised carrying amount, less its residual 
value (if any), on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

Redesignation
The redesignation of assets from a cash-generating asset to a non-cash-generating asset or from a non-cash-generating 
asset to a cash-generating asset only occur when there is clear evidence that such a redesignation is appropriate.
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Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares are classified as net assets. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 
recognised as a deduction from net assets, net of any tax effects.

1.17 Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related 
service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if the company has a present 
legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the 
obligation can be estimated reliably.

Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions into a 
separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Payments made to industry-managed (or state plans) retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as defined contribution 
plans where the Group’s obligation under the schemes is equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement 
benefit plan.

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in 
surplus or deficit when they are due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund 
or a reduction in future payments is available.

1.18 Provisions and Contingencies

Provisions are recognised when the group has a present obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an 
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will be required to settle the obligation, and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the present 
obligation. Where the effect of time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

The discount rate is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party, 
the reimbursement is recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the 
group settles the obligation.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.18 Provisions and Contingencies (continued)

The reimbursement is treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the reimbursement does not exceed the 
amount of the provision.

Provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Provisions are 
reversed if it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential will 
be required, to settle the obligation.

Where discounting is used, the carrying amount of a provision increases in each period to reflect the passage of time. 
This increase is recognised as an interest expense.

A provision is used only for expenditures for which the provision was originally recognised. Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating deficits.
If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation (net of recoveries) under the contract is recognised 
and measured as a provision. 

A constructive obligation to restructure arises only when a entity:
• has a detailed formal plan for the restructuring, identifying at least:

– the activity/operating unit or part of a activity/operating unit concerned;
– the principal locations affected;
–  the location, function, and approximate number of employees who will be compensated for services 

being terminated;
– the expenditures that will be undertaken; and
– when the plan will be implemented; and

•  has raised a valid expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to implement 
that plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it.

No obligation arises as a consequence of the sale or transfer of an operation until the group is committed to the sale 
or transfer, that is, there is a binding arrangement.

After their initial recognition contingent liabilities recognised in business combinations that are recognised separately 
are subsequently measured at the higher of the amount that would be recognised as a provision; and the amount 
initially recognised less cumulative amortisation.

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in note 47.

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder 
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or 
modified terms of a debt instrument.

Loan commitment is a firm commitment to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.

The group recognises a provision for financial guarantees and loan commitments when it is probable that an outflow 
of resources embodying economic benefits and service potential will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.18 Provisions and Contingencies (continued)

Determining whether an outflow of resources is probable in relation to financial guarantees requires judgement. 
Indications that an outflow of resources may be probable are:

• financial difficulty of the debtor;
• defaults or delinquencies in interest and capital repayments by the debtor;
•  breaches of the terms of the debt instrument that result in it being payable earlier than the agreed term and 

the ability of the debtor to settle its obligation on the amended terms; and
•  a decline in prevailing economic circumstances (e.g. high interest rates, inflation and unemployment) that 

impact on the ability of entities to repay their obligations.

Where a fee is received by the group for issuing a financial guarantee and/or where a fee is charged on loan 
commitments, it is considered in determining the best estimate of the amount required to settle the obligation at 
reporting date. Where a fee is charged and the group considers that an outflow of economic resources is probable, 
an group recognises the obligation at the higher of:

•   the amount determined using in the Standard of GRAP on Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets; and

•  the amount of the fee initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in 
accordance with the Standard of GRAP on Revenue from Exchange Transactions.

1.19 Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue is the gross inflow of economic benefits or service potential during the reporting period when those inflows 
result in an increase in net assets, other than increases relating to contributions from owners.

An exchange transaction is one in which the company receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and 
directly gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of goods, services or use of assets) to the other party 
in exchange.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

Measurement 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates.

Rendering of services
When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated reliably, revenue associated 
with the transaction is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The 
outcome of a transaction can be estimated reliably when all the following conditions are satisfied:

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the group;
• the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date can be measured reliably; and
• the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to complete the transaction can be measured reliably.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.19 Revenue from exchange transactions (continued)

When services are performed by an indeterminate number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is recognised 
on a straight line basis over the specified time frame unless there is evidence that some other method better represents 
the stage of completion. When a specific act is much more significant than any other acts, the recognition of revenue 
is postponed until the significant act is executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is 
recognised only to the extent of the expenses recognised that are recoverable.

Service revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Stage 
of completion is determined by reference to reviews of work performed.

1.20 Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions. In a non-exchange transaction, the 
company either receives value from another company without directly giving approximately equal value in exchange, 
or gives value to another company without directly receiving approximately equal value in exchange.

Recognition
An inflow of resources from a non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset is recognised as revenue, except to 
the extent that a liability is also recognised in respect of the same inflow.

As the entity satisfies a present obligation recognised as a liability in respect of an inflow of resources from a 
non-exchange transaction recognised as an asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the liability recognised and 
recognises an amount of revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement
Revenue from a non-exchange transaction is measured at the amount of the increase in net assets recognised by 
the company.

When, as a result of a non-exchange transaction, the company recognises an asset, it also recognises revenue 
equivalent to the amount of the asset measured at its fair value as at the date of acquisition, unless it is also required 
to recognise a liability. Where a liability is required to be recognised it will be measured as the best estimate of the 
amount required to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and the amount of the increase in net assets, if any, 
recognised as revenue. When a liability is subsequently reduced, because the taxable event occurs or a condition is 
satisfied, the amount of the reduction in the liability is recognised as revenue.

1.21 Finance Income

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in the 
Statement of Financial Performance, using the effective interest method.

1.22 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other expenses incurred by an entity in connection with the borrowing of funds. 
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
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1.23 Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

1.24 Irregular, Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Irregular expenditure as defined in section 1 of the PFMA is expenditure other than unauthorised expenditure, incurred 
in contravention of or that is not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including this Act.

All expenditure relating to fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised as an expense in the Statement of 
Financial Performance in the year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is classified in accordance 
with the nature of the expense, and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue in the Statement of 
Financial Performance.

Any irregular, fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income in the period in which it is incurred.

Fruitless expenditure means expenditure which was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable 
care been exercised.

1.25 Segment information

A segment is an activity of an entity:
•  that generates economic benefits or service potential (including economic benefits or service potential 

relating to transactions between activities of the same entity);
•  whose results are regularly reviewed by management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to 

that activity and in assessing its performance; and
• for which separate financial information is available.

Reportable segments are the actual segments which are reported on in the segment report. They are the segments 
identified above or alternatively an aggregation of two or more of those segments where the aggregation criteria 
are met.

1.26 Related parties

The group operates in an economic sector currently dominated by entities directly or indirectly owned by the South 
African Government. As a consequence of the constitutional independence of the three spheres of government 
in South Africa, only parties under the executive authority of the MEC Department of Economic Development, 
Environment Agriculture and Rural Development will be considered to be related parties.

Key management is defined as individuals with the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling 
the activities of the entity. All individuals from the level of Corporate Executives up to the Board of Directors are 
regarded as key management.

Close family members of key management are considered to be those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by key management individuals or other parties related to the entity.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

1.26 Related parties (continued)

Other related party transactions are also disclosed in terms of the requirements of the standard. The objective of the 
standard and the Annual Financial Statements is to provide relevant and reliable information and therefore materiality 
is considered in the disclosure of these transactions.

1.27 Finance Expenses

The finance expense relates to deemed interest on finance lease. The finance charge is allocated to each period 
during the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate on the remaining balance of the liability.

1.28 Determination of Fair Values

A number of the company’s accounting policies and disclosures require the determination of fair value, for both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. Fair values have been determined for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about the assumptions made in 
determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset or liability.

Trade and other receivables 
The fair value of trade and other receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the 
market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Non-derivative financial liabilities
The fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the 
market rate of interest at the reporting date. In respect of the liability component of convertible notes, the market rate 
of interest is determined by reference to similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option. For finance leases the 
market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar lease agreements



ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16

164

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. New standards and interpretations

2.1 Standards and interpretations effective and adopted in the current year

In the current year, the group has adopted the following standards and interpretations that are effective for the current 
financial year and that are relevant to its operations:

Standard/ Interpretation:  Effective date:
 Years beginning on or after 
GRAP 18: Segment Reporting  01 April 2015   The adoption of this amendment has not 

had a material impact on the results of the 
group but has resulted in more disclosure 
than would have previously been provided 
in the financial statements

2.2 Standards and interpretations issued, but not yet effective

The group has not applied the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory 
for the group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 01 April 2016 or later periods:

GRAP 20: Related parties
The objective of this standard is to ensure that a reporting entity’s group annual financial statements contain the 
disclosures necessary to draw attention to the possibility that its financial position and surplus or deficit may have 
been affected by the existence of related parties and by transactions and outstanding balances with such parties.

GRAP 32: Service Concession Arrangements: Grantor
The objective of this Standard is: to prescribe the accounting for service concession arrangements by the grantor, a 
public sector entity.

It is unlikely that the standard will have a material impact on the group annual financial statements.

GRAP 108: Statutory Receivables
The objective of this Standard is: to prescribe accounting requirements for the recognition, measurement, presentation 
and disclosure of statutory receivables.

IGRAP 17: Service Concession Arrangements where a Grantor Controls a Significant Residual Interest 
in an Asset
This Interpretation of the Standards of GRAP provides guidance to the grantor in a service concession arrangement 
where the grantor has entered into such an arrangement, but only controls, through ownership, beneficial entitlement 
or otherwise, a significant residual interest in a service concession asset at the end of the arrangement, where the 
arrangement does not constitute a lease.
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2. New standards and interpretations

GRAP 109: Accounting by Principals and Agents
The objective of this Standard is to outline principles to be used by an entity to assess whether it is party to a 
principal- agent arrangement, and whether it is a principal or an agent in undertaking transactions in terms of such an 
arrangement. The Standard does not introduce new recognition or measurement requirements for revenue, expenses, 
assets and/or liabilities that result from principal-agent arrangements. The Standard does however provide guidance 
on whether revenue, expenses, assets and/or liabilities should be recognised by an agent or a principal, as well as 
prescribe what information should be disclosed when an entity is a principal or an agent.

Directive 12: The Selection of an Appropriate Reporting Framework by Public Entities
Historically, public entities have prepared financial statements in accordance with generally recognised accounting 
practice, unless the Accounting Standards Board (the Board) approved the application of generally accepted 
accounting practice for that  entity.  “Generally  accepted  accounting  practice”  has  been  taken  to  mean  
Statements  of  Generally  Accepted Accounting Practice (Statements of GAAP), or for certain entities, International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) issued  by  the  International  Accounting  Standards  Board.  Since  Statements  
of  GAAP  have  been  withdrawn  from  1 December 2012, public entities will be required to apply another 
reporting framework in the future.

The purpose of this Directive is to prescribe the criteria to be applied by public entities in selecting and applying an 
appropriate reporting framework.

The effective dates of the pronouncements listed above have not been set by the Minister of Finance as at the reporting 
date. It is unlikely that the pronouncements will have a material impact on the group annual financial statements.

2.3 Standards and interpretations not yet effective or relevant

The following standards and interpretations have been published and are mandatory for the group’s accounting 
periods beginning on or after 01 April 2016 or later periods but are not relevant to its operations:

Standard/Interpretation:   Effective date:   Expected impact:
     Years beginning on or after
• GRAP 107: Mergers    01 April 2016    None
• GRAP 106: 
 Transfers of Functions Between 
 Entities Not Under Common Control 01 April 2016   None
• GRAP 105: Transfers of Functions 
 Between Entities Under Common Control 01 April 2016    None
• Directive 11: Changes in Measurement 
 Bases Following the Initial Adoption of 
 the Standards of GRAP   01 April 2016   None
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GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

3. Receivables from exchange transactions
Trade receivables 18 495 22 893 – –

Deposits 48 48 – –

Prepayments 1 020 1 278 – –

Grant receivable 725 474 – –

Other receivables 5 733 2 673 5 007 2 614

Less: Impairment of trade and other receivables (9 222) (9 103) (5 383) (5 383)

Gauteng Motorsport Company SOC Limited 4 382 4 382 4 382 4 382

Trust fund: Cameron Cross 9 365 8 862 – –

30 546 31 507 4 006 1 613

Included in the controlling entity's other receivables is IDZ receivables amount R87 thousand  (2015).

Ageing of trade receivables
The ageing of amounts are as follows:
Current 11 141 14 064 – –

0 – 60 days 3 033 4 794 – –

61 – 90 days 640 1 306 – –

91 – 120 days 3 681 2 729 – –

18 495 22 893 – –

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of trade and other receivables
Balance at the beginning of year (9 103) (8 487) (5 383) (5 383)
Provision for impairment (1 840) (2 369) – –
Amounts written off as uncollectible 99 909 – –
Other receivables 1 622 844 – –
Balance at the end of the year (9 222) (9 103) (5 383) (5 383)

4. Receivables from non-exchange transactions
Goverment grants -DED 20 989 – 20 989 –
Public contributions and subsidies – 2 500 – –

20 989 2 500 20 989 –

5. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand 43 39 8 6
Current Account 201 138 154 970 49 933 26 834
Call accounts 68 666 50 814 23 854 22 799

269 847 205 823 73 795 49 639
Cash and cash equivalents earn interest. The group does not have any restrictions to realise or use any of its 
balances and the group does not have access to overdraft facilities included in cash holding.

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

6. Other financial assets

Cost
Greater Newtown Development Company – – 35 000 35 000

The above loan is interest free, unsecured and 
will be repaid when the property is sold.

Current assets
Cost – – 35 000 35 000

7. Operating lease asset (accrual)

Non-current assets 9 681 9 148 – –

Current assets 14 1 358 14 –

Non-current liabilities – – – –

Current liabilities (9 295) (5 498) (9 047) (5 489)

400 5 008 (9 033) (5 489)

The above future minimum lease rentals represent rental payable under non-cancellable operating leases in the 
aggregate and for each period.

The above represents the lease rentals for operating leases of Gauteng Investment Centre (GIC) and the offices at 124
Main street, which are amortised on a straight line basis over the period of the lease. Future commitments ( including VAT)
under non cancellable leases are summarised as follows:

Minimum lease commitments – as lessee:
– within one year 18 502 22 236 17 827 21 617

– in second to fifth year 73 342 123 356 72 738 122 077

91 844 145 592 90 565 143 694

The entity also leases out its investment property under operating leases. The future minimum lease payments due 
under non-cancellable leases are indicated below:

Minimum lease payments due – as lessor:
– Within one year (49 736) (46 368) – –

– In second to fifth year (93 650) (94 256) – –

– later than five years (46 515) (67 035) – –

(189 901) (207 659) – –

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DEPRECIATION TOTAL

Reconciliation of investment property – Group – 2016     
Investment property                                                        686 681                7 944            (14 053)          680 572

Reconciliation of investment property – Group – 2015     
Investment property                                                      689 339 11 389 (14 047) 686 681

The Innovation Hub Management Company 208 960 210 506 – –

Supplier Park Development Company 330 730 331 763 – –

Constitution Hill Development Company 105 882 109 412 – –

Greater Newtown Development Company 35 000 35 000 – –

680 572 686 681 – –

Investment property comprises a number of commercial properties that are leased to third parties. Each of the 
leases contains an initial non-cancellable period which varies between three and 12 years. Subsequent renewals 
are negotiated with the lessee. No contingent rent is charged.

The entity subsequently accounts for investment property on the cost model. The carrying amount of the investment 
property is the cost less the accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

None of the above investment properties have been pledged as security.

In terms of the PFMA, investment properties can only be sold with the approval of the Executive Authority. 

GROUP 2016 2015

COST/
VALUATION

ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

AND
ACCUMULATED

IMPAIRMENT

CARRYING 
VALUE

COST/
VALUATION

ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

AND
ACCUMULATED

IMPAIRMENT

CARRYING 
VALUE

Investment 
property                                      925 203 (244 631) 680 572 917 259 (230 578) 686 681

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

8. Investment property
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GROUP 2016 2015

COST ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

AND
ACCUMULATED

IMPAIRMENT

CARRYING 
VALUE

COST ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

AND
ACCUMULATED

IMPAIRMENT

CARRYING 
VALUE

Buildings 182 237 (24 454) 157 783 169 749 (20 470) 149 279

Infrastructure 91 714 (29 870) 61 844 90 665 (25 313) 65 352

Land 2 304 – 2 304 2 304 – 2 304

Facilities equipment 3 981 (1 397) 2 584 2 809 (1 149) 1 660

Motor vehicles 2 764 (959) 1 805 2 043 (693) 1 350

Telephone system 6 652 (5 329) 1 323 7 293 (5 617) 1 676
Furniture and 
fixtures 21 094 (9 625) 11 469 17 743 (8 424) 9 319

Office equipment 15 233 (7 847) 7 386 11 022 (6 839) 4 183

IT equipment 36 713 (12 904) 23 809 32 232 (9 369) 22 863
Leasehold 
improvements 1 262 (563) 699 1 262 (293) 969

Artwork 57 505 – 57 505 25 949 – 25 949

Work in progress 71 841 – 71 841 – – –
Building Under 
Construction 30 016 – 30 016 9 032 – 9 032

Total 523 316 (92 948) 430 368 372 103 (78 167) 293 936

COMPANY 2016 2015

COST ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

AND
ACCUMULATED

IMPAIRMENT

CARRYING 
VALUE

COST ACCUMULATED
DEPRECIATION

AND
ACCUMULATED

IMPAIRMENT

CARRYING 
VALUE

IT equipment 7 481 (3 479) 4 002 6 904 (3 309) 3 595
Furniture and 
fixtures 5 936 (3 180) 2 756 5 605 (3 064) 2 541

Motor vehicles 345 (301) 44 345 (253) 92
Leasehold 
improvements 1 262 (563) 699 1 262 (293) 969

Total 15 024 (7 523) 7 501 14 116 (6 919) 7 197

None of the above Property, Plant and Equipment have been pledged as security.

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. Property, plant and equipment 
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OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS TRANSFERS AQUISITION 
BY ACCRUAL

DEPRECIATION IMPAIRMENT 
LOSS

TOTAL

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2016
Land 2 304 – – – – – – 2 304

Buildings 149 279 7 386 – 5 102 – (3 984) – 157 783

Furniture and 
fixtures

9 319 3 622 (4) – – (1 439) (29) 11 469

Motor vehicles 1 350 721 – – – (266) – 1 805

Office equipment 4 183 4 353 – – – (1 121) (29) 7 386

IT equipment 22 863 5 012 (22) – 313 (4 240) (117) 23 809

Leasehold 
improvements

969 – – – – (270) – 699

Infrastructure 65 352 1 050 – – – (4 558) – 61 844

Other property, 
plant and 
equipment

1 660 1 206 – – – (262) (20) 2 584

Training 
Equipment

25 949 31 556 – – – – – 57 505

Work in progress – 71 841 – – – – – 71 841

Building under 
construction

9 032 26 086 – (5 102) – – – 30 016

Communication 
equipment

1 676 – (2) – – (351) – 1 323

293 936 152 833 (28) – 313 (16 491) (195) 430 368

9. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DISPOSALS DEPRECIATION IMPAIRMENT 
LOSS

TOTAL

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2015

Land 2 304 – – – – 2 304

Buildings 131 121 21 255 – (3 097) – 149 279
Furniture and 
fixtures 6 346 4 074 (48) (1 045) (8) 9 319

Motor vehicles 911 622 – (183) – 1 350

Office equipment 3 495 1 758 – (1 047) (23) 4 183

IT equipment 13 564 12 870 (274) (3 204) (93) 22 863
Leasehold 
improvements 1 239 – – (270) – 969

Infrastructure 68 618 1 202 – (4 468) – 65 352
Other property, 
plant and 
equipment 1 335 527 – (168) (34) 1 660
Training 
equipment 9 120 16 829 – – – 25 949
Building under 
construction 5 105 3 927 – – – 9 032
Communication 
equipment 2 036 42 (3) (399) – 1 676

245 194 63 106 (325) (13 881) (158) 293 936

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
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OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS ACQUISITION 
BY ACCRUAL

DEPRECIATION IMPAIRMENT 
LOSS

TOTAL

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Group – 2016
Furniture and 
fixtures 2 541 394 – (178) (1) 2 756

Motor vehicles 92 – – (48) – 44

IT equipment 3 595 896 313 (742) (60) 4 002
Leasehold 
improvements 969 – – (270) – 699

7 197 1 290 313 (1 238) (61) 7 501

OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS DEPRECIATION TOTAL

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – Controlling entity – 2015 
Furniture and fixtures 2 183 520 (162) 2 541

Motor vehicles 140 – (48) 92

IT equipment 2 582 1 833 (820) 3 595

Leasehold improvements 1 239 – (270) 969

6 144 2 353 (1 300) 7 197

Assets subject to lease (Net carrying amount)
Office equipment 104 123            – –

IT equipment 602 890                   101 182

Leasehold improvements 699 969 699 969

Other equipment 71 841 – – –

73 246 1 982                   800 1 151

Capitalised lease asset
Capitalised lease assets are IT equipment and capitalised Leasehold improvements held in terms of a lease 
agreement. Refer note 15 and 5 on finance and operating leases. 

9. Property, plant and equipment (continued)
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GROUP 2016 2015

COST ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION

AND 
ACCUMULATED 

IMPAIRMENT

CARRYING 
VALUE

COST ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION

AND 
ACCUMULATED 

IMPAIRMENT 

CARRYING 
VALUE

Licenses and 
franchises – – – 14 (14) –

Computer software 6 267 (3 586) 2 681 4 378 (3 112) 1 266

Total 6 267 (3 586) 2 681 4 392 (3 126) 1 266

COMPANY 2016 2015

COST ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION

AND 
ACCUMULATED 

IMPAIRMENT

CARRYING 
VALUE

COST ACCUMULATED 
AMORTISATION

AND 
ACCUMULATED 

IMPAIRMENT 

CARRYING 
VALUE

Computer software                                                        2 189 (1 953) 236                2 207 (1 695) 512

OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS AMORTISATION IMPAIRMENT 
LOSS

TOTAL

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2016    
Computer software                                                              1 266 2 022 (606) (1) 2 681

OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS AMORTISATION TOTAL

Reconciliation of intangible assets – Group – 2015   
Licenses and franchises                                                              5 – (5) –

Computer software                                                                 1 270 647 (651) 1 266

1 275 647 (656) 1 266

OPENING 
BALANCE

AMORTISATION TOTAL

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2016   
Computer software                                                                 512 (276) 236

OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS AMORTISATION TOTAL

Reconciliation of intangible assets – 2015   
Computer software                                                                 450 430 (368) 512

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. Intangible assets  
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GROUP 2016 2015

COST/
VALUATION

ACCUMULATED 
IMPAIRMENT 

LOSSES

CARRYING 
VALUE

COST/
VALUATION

ACCUMULATED 
IMPAIRMENT 

LOSSES

CARRYING 
VALUE

Art Collections, 
antiquities and 
exhibits                                                         115 – 115 59 – 59
Historical 
buildings       177 587 – 177 587 177 644 – 177 644
Total 177 702 – 177 702 177 703 – 177 703

OPENING 
BALANCE

TRANSFERS IMPAIRMENT 
LOSSES

REVERSED

TOTAL

Reconciliation of heritage assets – Group – 2016    
Art Collections, antiquities and exhibits                                                         59 57 (1) 115

Historical buildings       177 644 (57) – 177 587

177 703 – (1) 177 702

OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS TRANSFERS TOTAL

Reconciliation of heritage assets – Group – 2015
Art Collections, antiquities and exhibits                                                         59 – – 59

Historical buildings       175 324 1 864 456 177 644 

Restoration of ramparts 456 – (456) –

175 839 1 864 – 177 703

Pledged as security
None of the historical buildings are pledged as security. 

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11. Heritage assets
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NAME OF COMPANY % HOLDING 
2016

% HOLDING 
2016

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

2016

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

2015
Supplier Park Development Company 100% 100% 27 27

Greater Newtown Development Company 77% 77% – –

The Innovation Hub Management Company 100% 100% – –

Gauteng IDZ Development company 100% 100% – –

Constitution Hill Development Company 87% 87% 384 380 384 380

Total cost amount 384 407 384 407

Accumulated impairment of investment in 
controlled entities (125 323) (125 323)
Total carrying amount 259 084 259 084

The net asset values of investments in subsidiaries is shown below:-
– The Innovation Hub Management Company –  R291m (2015: R287m)
– Supplier Park Development Company –  R623m )2015: R563m)
– Constitution Hill Development Company –  R295m (2015: R297m)
– Gauteng IDZ Development Company –  R75m   (2015: R2.1m)

The investment in Constitution Hill Development Company (ConHill)   is made up of shareholder loans which 
have no repayment terms and are interest free. The primary factor that was considered when impairing the loan 
account to Conhill was the accumulated loss posted by Conhill. The only impaired investment is the Conhill loan.

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

12. Investments in controlled entities

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

The carrying amounts of subsidiaries are shown net of impairment which are as follows.

Reconciliation of provision for impairment of investments in controlled entities
Balance at the beginning of the year – – (125 323)         (125 323)         

13. Deferred tax

Deferred tax (liability)/asset
Deferred tax asset 8 744 6 728 1 952 2 442

Deferred tax liability (7 586) (9 498) – –

Total deferred tax liability 1 158 (2 770) 1 952 2 442
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

13. Deferred tax (continued)

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Reconciliation of deferred tax asset/(liability)
At beginning of year (2 770) (4 154) 2 442 806
Increases (decrease) in tax loss available for set off
against future taxable income 8 143 (1 213) – –
Taxable/(deductible) temporary difference 
movement on tangible fixed assets (3 705) (1 086) (2 900) 1 636
Originating temporary difference on tangible 
fixed assets – – – –

Other movements – originating temporary differences (510) 3 683 2 410 –
Balance at the end of year 1 158 (2 770) 1 952 2 442

14. Prior period errors     

SPDC – Consumer Price Index (CPIX) Effect on the Straight-Lining of Leases:
When the company was previously calculating the straight-lining of leases asset it was based on the projected 
future income with escalations on leases.  These leases had either fixed escalation percentages or escalations 
linked to CPIX.  The future lease payments linked to CPIX should not have been taken into consideration as it is seen 
as contingent rental.  It should be excluded from the minimum lease payments used as the basis for the calculation. 

The measurement of the straight-lined lease asset/liability was corrected retrospectively, as a prior period error, 
which entails restatement of:

a. The balance of the operating lease asset presented for the comparative year;
b. The opening balance of the operating lease asset presented for the current year; and
c. The straight-lined lease receivables presented for the comparative year in the statement of financial 

performance and the notes to the financial statements.

SPDC – Reversal of Prior Year Accruals:
In the 2015 financial year the Simulator at the Gauteng Automotive Learning Centre (part of the Nissan Programme) 
was being constructed.   Nissan South Africa (NSA) was presenting progress invoices on a systematic basis. On 
31 March 2015 NSA issued an invoice to the value of R 2 million, which the company accrued for. NSA had 
subsequently retracted the invoice as it was done in error.  This has caused that the asset as well as the liability 
had been overstated in the previous financial year. The prior period has now been corrected and it is accounted 
for as a prior period error.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. Prior period errors (continued)

SPDC – SARS VAT Ruling:
Supplier Park Development Company SOC Ltd (SPDC) was the legal vehicle used when the transfer of function of 
the two companies took place.  As such SPDC’s VAT status was retained and AIDC’s VAT exempt status was lost. 
The result of this was that management decided, based on the information provided, that in order to be prudent 
and avoid possible penalties and interest Output VAT should be paid on all income, including the grants related 
to AIDC’s social development activities. Input VAT was also claimed on all qualifying expenses (including those 
expenses incurred on goods and services used to execute on social development projects).

In light of the VAT leakage on the government grants AIDC (i.e. the newly formed entity) engaged SARS for clarity 
the VAT treatment of the different businesses that were combined in one entity. During August 2015, SARS issued 
a VAT ruling for that clarified the following:

a. The social development activities of the new entity are VAT exempt (i.e. no output VAT should be paid on 
the grants received and no input VAT may be claimed on the expenses related to these activities)

b. The commercial activities of the entity are still subject to VAT @ 14%.

The VAT ruling from SARS was silent on whether it should be applied prospectively or retrospectively. However, 
AIDC received an interpretation from PWC on the VAT ruling that indicated that it should be applied retrospectively 
(i.e. from 1 April 2013). It is on the basis of this interpretation that AIDC calculated the amount of output VAT that 
was paid in excess to SARS and the amount of input VAT claimed in excess from SARS.

SPDC – Deferred tax adjustment
The deferred tax liability for prior years was overstated due to the fact that permanent differences pertaining to 
infrastructure were included in the book value when comparing to the tax base of such assets. The differences 
would never have realised due to the permanent nature. The infrastructure was funded by grant funding and thus 
not qualifying for any capital tax allowances. This error has now been reversed.

GNDC – Revenue and Expenditure
Revenue was understated in the prior period on the statement of financial performance. The revenue was ommitted 
from the records.

Expenditure was understated in the prior period on the statement of financial performance. The expenditure was 
not accrued due to a charge dispute with the City of Johannesburg (“CoJ”).

CONHILL – Payables from exchange transactions, and operating expenses

Expenditure was understated in the prior year in the statement of financial performance due to the late receipt of 
the invoice from the City of Johannesburg (“CoJ”). The expenditure relates to the electricity bill.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. Prior period errors

The correction of the errors results in adjustments as follows: 

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Statement of financial position
Property, plant and equipment – 907 – –

VAT – 14 095 – –

Straight lining of lease asset – (9 676) – –

Unutilised grants – (11 466) – –

Accrued expenses – 2 101 – –

Advanced receipts – (918) – –

Deferred tax – 27 644 – –

Receivables from exchange transactions – 17 – –

Payables from exchange transactions – (898) – –

Statement of Financial Performance
Depreciation expense – 18 – –

Income Straight-lining of leases – (1 144) – –

Expenses on VAT changes – 1 534 – –

Income declared – (2 871) – –

Income on VAT changes – (1 378) – –

Income tax – deferred tax – (2 505) – –

Operating expenses – 974 – –

Revenue from exchange transactions – (149) – –

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Net assets – (16 285) – –
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GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Minimum lease payments due
– within one year 625 904 136 424

– in second to fifth year inclusive 207 586 48 71

832 1 490 184 495

less: future finance charges (70) (146) (11) (23)

Present value of minimum lease payments 762 1 344 173 472
Present value of minimum lease payments due
– within one year 560 817 127 402

– in second to fifth year inclusive 202 527 46 70

762 1 344 173 472
Non-current liabilities 202 527 46 70

Current liabilities 560 817 127 402

762 1 344 173 472

The Group holds certain office equipment under finance lease obligations.
The average lease term is three years and the average effective borrowing rate was 9% (2015: 9%).

16. Payables from exchange transactions

Trade payables 9 112 5 175 181 922

Operating lease 18 715 15 524 – –

Accrued expenses 11 808 23 436 6 576 6 730

Other payables 93 51 – –

Other accrued expenses 4 356 4 992 – –

Deposits received – 24 – –

44 084 49 202 6 757 7 652

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Advance receipts – conditional grants 12 905                   4 238 – –

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

15. Finance lease obligation

17. Payables from non-exchange transactions 
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18. Provisions

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

OPENING 
BALANCE

ADDITIONS UTILISED 
DURING THE 

YEAR

REVERSED
DURING THE 

YEAR

TOTAL

Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2016
Bonus 17 559 17 723            16 365)                (512) 18 405

Leave pay 4 365                1 426 (1 204) (1 122) 3 465

Other provisions – 7 989 – – 7 989

21 924 27 138            (17 569) (1 634) 29 859

Reconciliation of provisions – Group – 2015
Bonus 17 831 15 979 (15 090) (1 161) 17 559

Leave pay 3 871 1 735 (1 241) – 4 365

21 702 17 714 (16 331) (1 161) 21 924

Reconciliation of provisions – Controlling entity – 2016
Provision for bonus 7 688 6 706 (6 637) (336) 7 421

Provision for leave pay 2 172 370 (168) (1 048) 1 326

9 860 7 076 (6 805) (1 384) 8 747

Reconciliation of provisions – Controlling entity – 2015
Provision for bonus 7 170 7 688 (6 247) (923) 7 688

Provision for leave pay 1 500 930 (258) – 2 172

8 670 8 618 (6 505) (923) 9 860

Employee benefits represent management’s best estimate of the company liability for staff bonuses and leave pay.

The provisions raised by the company are limited to performance bonus and leave pay provisions. For the 
performance bonuses, the provision raised estimates the amount of the provision based on the anticipated 
performance of employees.

This anticipated performance is based on experience with the employees of the company, taking into account 
performance trends in the prior periods. For the provision for leave pay, the amount is based on accumulated leave 
days balances at the end of the financial year after taking into account the forfeited leave days.

Furthermore, the amount of the performance bonus and the provision for leave pay is determined with reference to 
the salary scales as at the end of the financial year.
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GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Deposits received – Current portion 6 372 5 318 – –

20. Unutilised government grants 

Reconciliation of unutilised government grant
Balance at the beginning of the year 160 766 92 888 36 254 14 836

Receipts – Grant 479 395 397 822 366 444 357 157

Receivable – DED Grant 20 989 – 20 989 –

Prepayments – GCIS (11 424) – (11 424) –

Transfers to projects 80 – (198 059) (203 421)

Operating and capital expenditures (453 412) (342 229) (144 812) (132 318)

Receipts and conditional grant receivable 14 644 12 285 – –

Balance at the end of year 211 038 160 766 69 392 36 254

Current liabilities 203 301 153 029 69 392 36 254

Non-Current Liabilites 7 737 7 737 – –

211 038 160 766 69 392 36 254

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19. Deposits received

18. Provisions (continued)18. Provisions (continued)
Other provisions – PMSA
PMSA had sued SPDC for payment for work done on risk and damages for early termination of the project man-
agement agreement. Initial arbitration ruled in favour of SPDC that it was not liable for work done on risk. PMSA 
appealed this finding. In 2012 the arbitrators awarded PMSA on appeal an amount of R 6.8 million in respect of 
work done on risk and interest thereon; this amount was settled during the 2013 financial year.

In a follow up claim in March 2015 to determine whether SPDC is liable for damages payable for early termina-
tion of the contract as well as the extent of the liability, the arbitrator found that SPDC is liable for penalties payable 
to PMSA based on all projects conceived at the time of the conclusion of the Professional Services Agreement. 
PMSA had claimed R13,3 million as penalties in this regard. AIDC took it on legal advice that the calculation of 
the penalties will be based on the arbitrator exercising his discretion and as such there is uncertainty regarding the 
exact amount. A discounted amount of 60% was provided for, as a best estimate, based on the possible and likely 
moderation of the claim. 
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

20. Unutilised government grants (continued)

CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Unutilised grants MTEF
Balance at the beginning of the year 32 183 14 836

Receipts – grant 359 046 353 086

Receivable – DED Grant 20 989 –

Prepayments – GCIS (9 924) –

Transfers to projects (198 059) (203 421)
Operating and capital expenditures (142 149) (132 318)

62 086 32 183

Unutilised grant SEZ Non-MTEF
Balance at the beginning of the year 4 071 –

Additions during the year 7 398 4 071

Income recognition during the year (4 163) –

7 306 4 071

Unutilised government grants represent the amount of grant funding that was received for specific GGDA projects 
and/or operational expenditure in relation to projects, which had not been utilised (i.e. transferred/deferred/ 
expensed/committed) at year end.

At group level unutilised grants comprise MTEF grants of R105 761 (prior year: R66 663), and Non-MTEF grants of 
R105 277 (prior year: R94 103).

Controlling entity
Included in unutilised grants are third-party funds relating to the Special Economic Zone (SEZ) and the Department of 
Trade and Industry (DTI) for conditional grants:
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23. Revenue from exchange transactions

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Johannesburg Development Agency (52 915) (52 915) – –

The loan above is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment. Johannesburg Development Agency is 
a minority shareholder in Greater Newtown Development Company and Constitution Hill Development Company.

22. Share capital/contributed capital

Authorised
4 000 Ordinary shares – – – –

Issued
100 Ordinary shares issued at R1 each – – – –

Water and electricity recoveries 83 670 60 889 – –

Construction contracts 3 102 4 947 – –

Rental of facilities and equipment 64 670 65 734 – –

Project income 24 425 17 764 – –

Miscellaneous other revenue 1 102 1 128 – –

Discount received – 1 – –

Facilities income 2 714 2 834 – –

ICT service income 1 460 788 – –

181 143 154 085 – –

24. Revenue from non-exchange transactions/government grants

Operating expenses 348 210 260 055 143 249 129 702 

Related to assets 62 207 33 575 148 3 2 616

Projects and transfers 38 665 47 637 198 140 203 421

449 082 341 267 342 872 335 739

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

21. Loan from shareholders
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GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Sundry income 3 990 1 199 3 226 105

26. Grant transfered and expensed

Supplier Park Development Company SOC Ltd – – 83 161 108 721

The Innovation Hub Management Company SOC Ltd – – 74 465 62 236

Constitution Hill Development Company SOC Ltd – – 21 433 19 964

Gauteng IDZ Development Company SOC Ltd – – 19 000 12 500

– – 198 059 203 421

27. Operating surplus (deficit)

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

25. Other income

Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Operating lease charges
Premises
- Contractual amounts Equipment 27 591              29 289              27 591              29 289

- Contractual amounts 166 144 – –

27 757 29 433 27 591 29 289
Deficit on sale of property, plant and equipment 62 (290) – –

Impairment on heritage assets 2 – – –

Surplus on exchange differences (59) – – –

Amortisation on intangible assets 458 541 277 367

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment 16 779 14 141 1 239 1 290

Depreciation on investment property 14 052 14 048 – –

Employee costs 193 972 187 841 78 185 75 525

28. Finance Income

Finance income
Cash and Cash equivalent 11 936 8 724 4 015 2 944

Interest charged on trade and other receivables 385 336 385 336

Other finance income 1 536 – – –

13 857 9 060 4 400 3 280
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GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Deemed finance lease 25 62 25 62

Finance leases 47 61 – –

Other interest paid 348 162 – –

420 285 25 62

30. Taxation

Major components of the tax (income) expense

Current
Local income tax – current period 1 337 2 500 1 051 2 292

Deferred
Originating and reversing temporary differences (1 384) (886) 2 901 (1 637)

Prior year under/(over) provision arising from 
temporary differences – – (2 410) –
Other deferred tax (2 533) (309) – –

(3 917) (1 195) 491 (1 637)
(2 580) 1 305 1 542 655

Reconciliation of the tax expense
Reconciliation between accounting surplus and 
tax expense
Accounting surplus (deficit) 142 764 58 797 10 980 (3 210)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2015: 28%) 20 310 16 301 3 074 (899)

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income
Non deductible expenses 20 992 – 878 –

Non taxable income (20 114) – – –

Restatement of fixed assets – (540) – –

Deferred tax under provision 130 – – –

Non temporary differences (21 426) (14 456) – 1 554

Prior year adjustments (2 472) – (2 410) –

(2 580) 1 305 1 542 655

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

29. Finance expense
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Surplus (deficit) 145 344 57 492 9 438 (3 865)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 31 240 28 672 1 516 1 657

(Loss) gain on sale of assets and liabilities (62) 290 – –

Finance costs – Finance leases 41 43 – –

Interest income (89) – – –

Impairment deficit 46 58 – –

Movements in operating lease assets and accruals 4 608 3 590 3 544 5 344

Employee benefits (1 117) (44) (1 113) 1 190

Movement in tax receivable and payable (1 204) (5 346) (659) (2 128)

Annual charge for deferred tax (3 916) (1 195) 491 (1 637)

Movement in provision 9 052 267 – –

Finance lease obligation (300) – (300) –

Non cash items – interest accrual, straight lining lease 83 (11) 89 –

Assets write off 61 – 61 –

Changes in working capital:
Receivables from exchange transactions 1 050 30 510 (2 393) 13 685

Other receivables from non-exchange transactions (18 489) 600 (20 989) –

Prepayments 20 741 (14 559) (7 503) (4 138)

Other receivables (2 317) – – –

Payables from exchange transactions (5 214) 861 (896) 5 064

VAT (4 466) 1 558 – –

Taxes and transfers payable (non exchange) 57 945 (24 712) – (24 300)

Unspent conditional grants and receipts 2 609 65 397 33 138 21 418

Deposits Paid 210 (127) – –

Deferred income (9 538) – 11 424 –

Deposits received 1 059 (390) – –

227 377 142 954 25 848 12 290

32. Auditors’ remuneration 

Auditor's remuneration – External 6 563 4 697 2 878 1 720

Auditor's remuneration – Internal 924 1 208 387 602

7 487 5 905 3 265 2 322

31. Cash generated from operations 
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GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Debt impairment 1 439 494 – –

Contributions to debt impairment provision 280 (120) – –

Bad debts written off 91 194 – –

1 810 568 – –

This relates to the provision for bad debts for staff debtors.

34. Tax paid

Balance at beginning of the year 2 463 (2 913) 581 (1 547)

Current tax for the year recognised in surplus or deficit (1 302) (2 500) (1 051) (2 292)

Balance at end of the year (3 457) (2 463) (1 292) (581)

(2 296) (7 876) (1 763) (4 420)

35. Other receivables 
Other receivables consist of:

Workmens compensation 2 291 – – –

SDL 24 – – –

UIF 2 – – –

2 317 – – –

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

33. Debt impairment
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

36. Commitments 

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Authorised capital and other expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for
• Property, plant and equipment 41 495 12 051                     15                       –

• Investment property 54 023 3 307                       – –

95 518 15 358                     15 –

Total capital commitments
Already contracted for but not provided for 95 518 15 358                     15                5 298

Authorised operational expenditure

Already contracted for but not provided for
• Operational and other commitments 185 854 9 109                3 241                5 298

• Projects 494 – 494 –

186 348 9 109               3 735               5 298

Total operational commitments
Already contracted for but not provided for 186 348 9 109                3 735                5 298

Operating leases – as lessor (income)

Minimum lease payments due
– within one year (9 266) (13 002) – –

– in second to fifth year inclusive (12 156) (13 861)                      – –

(21 422) (26 863) – –
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GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Opening balance – – – –

Add: Irregular expenditure – current year 2 681 1 427 – 749

Less: Amounts condoned  (2 681) (1 427) – (749)

Closing balance  – – – –

Irregular expenditure – current year
SPDC (2016) – Invoices received before new 
purchase orders were issued

The invoices from two service providers 
(Vox and Telkom) were received before 
the purchase order dates. All of these 
transactions were within budget, business 
plan, is not fruitless or wasteful. The award 
of the services (originally) is also not irregular. 
The contractual continuation of services 
without a new purchase order issued for 
the new financial year, was mainly due to 
the changeover in CEO’s at the start of the 
financial year, that lead to some delays. 
Supply Chain Management did not have 
the signed contracts at the time, and required 
a motivation in order to create the purchase 
order. No disciplinary action was required 
as the company did not suffer any damages.

150

IDZ (2016) – Appointment of Jewellery Council of 
South Africa (JCSA) for Design @50 Skills
Development project

The irregularity arose from an evaluation 
process whereby the Bid Evaluation 
Committee (BEC) evaluated a three year 
tender but concluded the award of a one 
year project delivery and budget as presented 
by the JCSA. Furthermore, there was failure 
to present the recommendation of the Bid 
Adjudication Process (BAC) to seek approval 
of GIDZ Board as the estimate project cost 
of three years was going to exceed financial 
delegation of the Group Chief Executive 
Officer (GCEO). The evaluation also resulted 
in the incorrect/erroneous award of 6 points 
instead of 5 points for a Level four (4) BEE 
contributor. There was no financial loss as 
the acquired service was rendered for the 
financial year 2015/16 and the project was 
a success; there is therefore no official liable 
in law for repaying the irregular expenditure. 
Disciplinary action will be taken on officials 
responsible for the errors.

2 531

2 681

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

37. Irregular expenditure



ANNUAL REPORT 2015/16

190

Relationships

Controlling company Gauteng Department of Economic Development

Subsidiaries The Innovation Hub Management Company

Supplier Park Development Company

Constitution Hill Development Company

Greater Newtown Development Company 

Gauteng IDZ Development Company

Gauteng Department of Economic 
Development Agencies

Gauteng Gambling Board
Gauteng Tourism Authority
Gauteng Enterprise Propeller
Cradle of Human Kind
Dinokeng

Executive management and non-executive directors Refer to note for executive management and non
executive directors emoluments

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Related party balances
Amounts included in Trade Receivables 
(Payables) regarding related parties
Supplier Park Development Company SOC Limited 239 –

Supplier Park Development Company SOC Limited (54) –

Constitution Hill Development Company SOC Limited 180 –

The Innovation Hub Management Company 
SOC Limited

153 –

Gauteng IDZ Development Company SOC Limited 53 87

Greater Newtown Development Company 
SOC Limited

21 –

Loans and other receivables
Greater Newtown Development Company 
SOC Limited 35 000 35 000
Department of Economic Development 20 989 –

Related party transactions

Grants received from related parties
Gauteng Department of Economic Development 359 046 349 812

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

38. Related parties
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GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Grants paid to related parties
Supplier Park Development Company SOC Limited 83 161 108 721

The Innovation Hub Management Company 
SOC Limited 74 465 62 236
Gauteng IDZ Development Company SOC Limited 19 000 12 500

Constitution Hill Development Company SOC Limited 21 433 19 964

Rent and other expenses paid to related parties
Supplier Park Development Company SOC Limited 491 22

Constitution Hill 97 24

Gauteng Department of Economic Development 26 846 21 428

2016 EMOLUMENTS BONUS OTHER 
BENEFITS

TOTAL

S Ngwenya (GCEO) – Resigned 1 501 273 12 1 788

S Zamxaka (GCEO) 260 – 2 262

J Chand 1 985 278 44 2 307

C Pillay (GCFO) – Resigned 1 403 267 132 1 802

N Madlala (GCFO) 305 – 3 308

M Mosehla 1 768 182 32 1 982

J Morulane 1 466 69 25 1 560

S Mhlongo 1 878 228 12 2 118

I Mogorosi 1 390 169 11 1 570

S Molalabangwe 1 559 130 11 1 700

S Nokaneng 1 721 210 11 1 942

M Mulaudzi 1 658 197 23 1 878

16 894 2 003 318 19 215

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

38. Related parties (continued)

39. Executive management and directors emoluments 
Executive
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2015 REMUNERATION BONUS PENSION 
PAID OR 

RECEIVABLE

TOTAL

S Ngwenya (GCEO) – Resigned 2 103 203 9 2 315

AJS Morulane 684 – 7 691

C Pillay (GCFO) – Resigned 2 010 213 56 2 279

I Mogorosi 1 298 144 – 1 442

W Maleka 691 – – 691

M Mosehla 1 651 – 24 1 675

MJ Mulaudzi 1 408 178 22 1 608

J Chand 1 856 255 96 2 207

Dr S Nokaneng 1 754 82 5 1 841

S Mhlongo 1 753 – – 1 753

S Molalabangwe 1 276 123 70 1 469

F Pienaar 176 199 6 381

16 660 1 397 295 18 352

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

39. Executive management and directors emoluments (continued)
Executive

Non-Executive

2016 – BOARD OF DIRECTORS FEES TOTAL

Mr M Mokoena (Chairman) 332 332

Q Gungubele 181 181

Dr P Jourdan 112 112

Dr M Msomi 60 60

P Mafojane 67 67

A Mawela 4 4

Dr S Mufamadi – (resigned) 114 114

Dr T Moema – (resigned) 59 59

929 929
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

39. Executive management and directors emoluments (continued)
Non-Executive

2016 – MEMBERS OF AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE FEES TOTAL

D Dondur (Chairman of the ARC) 235 235

N Balton 169 169

Z Malele (Deputy Chairman of the Board) 199 199

S Nicolaou 191 191

P Ntsobi (resigned) 1 1

T Setiloane 61 61

856 856

2015 – BOARD OF DIRECTORS FEES TOTAL

M Mokeona 292 292

Dr P Jourdan 140 140

RMQ Gungubele 15 15

Dr T Moema 164 164

N Msomi 111 111

A Mawela 134 134

Z Mtshotshisa 75 75

Dr S Mufamadi 254 254

S Mahlalela 113 113

Z Taho 33 33

Y Waja 154 154

R Monyokolo 50 50

Z Malele 233 233

D Dondur 297 297

S Nicolaou 224 224

N Balton 198 198

P Ntsobi 121 121

2 608 2 608
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Fair value versus carrying amounts
The fair values together with the carrying amounts shown in the Statement of financial position are as follows:

FAIR 
VALUE 
2016

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

2016

FAIR 
VALUE 
2015

CARRYING 
AMOUNT 

2015
Total Financial Assets – Group
Receivables from exchange transactions 30 546 30 546 31 507 31 507

Cash and cash equivalents 269 847 269 847 205 823 205 823

300 393 300 393 237 330 237 330
Total Financial Liabilities – Group
Trade and other payables 44 075 44 075 49 202 49 202

Payables from non-exchange transactions 12 905 12 905 4 238 4 238

56 980 56 980 53 440 53 440
Total Financial Assets – Company
Other financial assets 35 000 35 000 35 000 35 000

Receivables from exchange transactions 4 006 4 006 1 613 1 613

Receivables from non-exchange transactions 20 989 20 989 – – 

Cash and cash equivalents 73 795 73 795 49 639 49 639

133 790 133 790 86 252 86 252
Total Financial Assets – Company
Payables from exchange transactions 6 757 6 757 7 652 7 652

Finance lease obligation 173 173 472 472

6 930 6 930 8 124 8 124
Liquidity risk
The group’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The group manages 
liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.

41. Unspent conditional grants and receipts

Deferred income comprises:
Current – SPDC – 20 962 – –

Current – GGDA 11 424 – 11 424 –

Current – GIDZ 1 700 – – –

13 124 20 962 11 424 – 

GGDA entered into a contract with Gauteng Communication Information System (GCIS) for the provision of 
strategic marketing and branding activities

SPDC entered into an electricity supply agreement with the City of Tshwane (CoT) in terms of which SPDC prepaid 
bulk services contribution of R40 million, including VAT, to the City in return for the supply of additional electricity 
capacity to the Automotive Supplier Park (ASP) by the CoT.

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

40. Financial Instruments
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42. Deposits paid

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Deposits paid – Current portion 2 329 2 539 – –

43. Prepayments

GGDA entered into an agreement with Department of Information and communication system to provide branding 
and promotional services with regard to marketing.

SPDC entered into an electricity supply agreement with the City of Tshwane (CoT) in terms of which SPDC prepaid 
bulk services contribution of R40 million, including VAT, to the City in return for the supply of additional electricity 
capacity to the Automotive Supplier Park (ASP) by the CoT.

In 2012 SPDC received 10 MVA and expensed R14.125 million excluding VAT. Refer to note 41.

Group prepayments include further amounts under IDZ attributable to the investor attraction project - GIFA, and Office 
and parking rental.
 

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Prepayments – Current Portion 26 112 46 852 19 919 12 416

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

41. Unspent conditional grants and receipts (continued)

The electricity capacity was going to be made available in two stages: the first stage was completed in 2011/12 
upon conclusion of the agreement. The second stage was completed in 2014/15, however CoT has not made 
this additional capacity from Eskom available to the AIDC. It was only made available in 2015/16.

During the year under review, the GIDZ (Gauteng Industrial Development Zone) entered into an agreement with 
GIFA (Gauteng Infrastructure Financing Agency) on a public procurement process that had to be initiated for 
achievement of the 2015/16 Investor Attraction KPI target. They are to appoint a deal maker/broker who will 
market and solicit tenants and/or investors for the GIDZ’s Phase 1. viz the Jewellery Manufacturing Precinct. By the 
end of the year the deal makers were appointed, however work will only be done in the 2016/17 financial year.
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

44. VAT receivable

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

VAT 13 842 9 085 – –

VAT receivable represents amounts claimed from the South African Revenue Services but not yet received.

45. Current tax payable (receivable)

Current tax receivable represents amounts claimed from the South African Revenue Services but not yet received.

Current tax receivable 4 554 3 807 1 239 581

Current tax payable (1 097) (1 344) – –

3 457 2 463 1 239 581

46. VAT Payable

VAT payable - 7 – –

47. Events after reporting date

There are no matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year, which significantly affect the 
financial position of the entity or the results of its operations.

Non-adjusting event: The Group CEO was appointed on the 01 March 2016, however he was formally appointed 
as an executive member of the Board of Directors on 03 May 2016.

48. Contingencies

GGDA – A former employee has sued the company for damages in respect of defamation in the amount of R 5 million. 
The entity’s lawyers consider the likelihood of damages claimed against the company being successful, as unlikely.

SPDC has a contractual dispute with a construction contractor: Soaring Summits. The contractor has defaulted on the 
contract time frame and penalties are leviable of R10.4 million, which the company has claimed from the Insurance 
underwriter of the contractor. The matter is now referred for arbitration.
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Assets that have been recognised, but which are subject to restrictions, the amount of restriction are as follows:  

50. Segment information 

General information 

Identification of segments
The group is organised and reports to management on the basis of six major functional areas (Programmes): 
Gauteng Growth and Development Agency Holdings (GGDA), Supplier Park Development Company (SPDC) t/a 
Automotive Industry Development  Centre  (AIDC), The Innovation Hub (TIH), Gauteng IDZ Development Company 
(IDZ), Constitution Hill (Conhill)  and  Greater  Newtown  Development  Company  (GNDC).  Management  uses  
these  same  programmes  for determining strategic objectives.

Information reported about these segments is used by management as a basis for evaluating the segments’ 
performances and for making decisions about the allocation of resources. The disclosure of information about these 
segments is also considered appropriate for external reporting purposes.

Types of goods and/or services by segment

Automotive Sector 
The Automotive Industry Development Centre (AIDC) is a project-driven organisation which focuses on excellence 
in technical project implementation and service delivery. The SPDC manages the Automotive Supplier Park, an 
automotive supplier logistics node in Rosslyn, Pretoria which provides a unique value proposition to suppliers of 
original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) in Gauteng.

The purpose of the AIDC is to develop the automotive manufacturing sector to globally competitive standards of 
excellence through a world-class value proposition which enables effective and sustainable socio-economic growth.

Innovation Sector
The Innovation Hub Management Company (TIHMC) manages The Innovation Hub, which is southern Africa’s first 
Science and Technology Park. TIH serves as a catalyst for innovation and entrepreneurship. It is an important driver 
of the knowledge and green economies in Gauteng.

The purpose of TIH is to establish and manage an enabling environment and initiatives that support innovation, 
enterprise development and skills development in targeted sectors, in order to contribute towards the growth of 
Gauteng’s economy, creation of decent jobs and poverty alleviation.

Industrial Development Zone
The Gauteng IDZ (GIDZ) Development Company was formed to develop and operate the Industrial Development 
Zone (IDZ) at OR Tambo International Airport (ORTIA).

Heritage Tourism Sector
Constitution Hill (Conhill) is a multi-million rand inner city regeneration project that has rejuvenated the site and 
uplifted the adjoining localities. The intention is to develop the available portions as iconic infrastructure in such a 
way that it is sensitive to the context, the architecture as well as the overall ambition of the stakeholders.

49. Assets subject to restrictions

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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Greater Newtown Development
Newtown, in the western quadrant of the Johannesburg CBD, is a Special Economic Zone. It aims to become the 
creative capital of the city and South Africa. A dynamic, vibrant, sophisticated and cosmopolitan space is being 
created, boasting the best cultural offerings in Africa.

The day to day management of the precinct is carried out by the Johannesburg Development Agency. The intervention 
works towards inner-city regeneration in partnership with the GGDA and the Johannesburg City Council. Originally, 
the intention was to transform Newtown into a safe and attractive place to work, live and visit.

The GNDC is in the process of being wound down and this will happen parallel to the transfer of Number 1 Central 
Place to the GGDA through the sale agreement between the GGDA and City of Joburg. 

Segment surplus or deficit, assets and liabilities

Controlling entity – 2016

NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

50. Segment information (continued)

AUTOMOTIVE
SECTOR

INNOVATION
SECTOR

INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT 

ZONE

HERITAGE
TOURISM 

SECTOR

GREATER
NEWTOWN 

DEVELOPMENT

TOTAL

Revenue
Revenue from 
non-exchange 
transactions 127 919 72 656 86 037 17 656 – 304 268
Revenue from 
exchange 
transactions

123 148 38 539 – 14 760 5 791 182 238

Other Income 352 508 – 42 – 891

Finance income 5 825 1 536 1 334 400 363 9 458

Total segment 
revenue 257 244 113 239 87 371 32 858 6 154 496 866
Entity’s 
revenue 496 866
Expenditure
Employee costs 72 958 28 335 5 677 8 816 – 115 786

Administrative 
expenses 4 958 1 990 422 2 486 610 10 466
Other operating 
expenses 120 499 81 645 8 089 23 627 4 574 238 434
Finance 
expense 348 6 – 41 – 395
Taxation (1 901) (2 534) 314 – – (4 121)

Total segment 
expenditure 196 862 109 442 14 502 34 970 5 184 360 960
Total 
segmental 
surplus/
(deficit) 60 382 3 797 72 869 (2 112) 970 135 906
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

50. Segment information (continued)

AUTOMOTIVE
SECTOR

INNOVATION
SECTOR

INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT 

ZONE

HERITAGE
TOURISM 

SECTOR

GREATER
NEWTOWN 

DEVELOPMENT

TOTAL

Assets
Current Assets
Receivables 
from exchange 
transactions 9 750 13 597 – 1 399 2 518 27 264
Cash and cash 
equivalents 86 059 39 879 61 931 8 104 79 196 052
Current tax 
receivable 3 315 – – – – 3 315
VAT receivable 13 420 – – 291 131 13 842

Prepayments 2 143 445 2 057 1 420 – 6 065

Deposits paid 250 2 079 – – – 2 329

Non-Current 
Assets
Investment 
property 330 730 208 960 – 105 882 35 000 680 572
Property, plant 
and equipment 263 008 82 260 72 523 5 079 – 422 870
Intangible assets 2 322 122 – – – 2 444

Heritage assets – – – 177 702 – 177 702

Deferred tax – 6 734 58 – – 6 792

Operating lease 
asset 9 681 – – – – 9 681
Other 
receivables 2 317 – – – – 2 317
Total segment 
assets 722 995 354 076 136 569 299 877 37 728 1 551 245
Total assets as 
per Statement 
of financial 
Position 1 551 245
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

50. Segment information (continued)

AUTOMOTIVE
SECTOR

INNOVATION
SECTOR

INDUSTRIAL
DEVELOPMENT 

ZONE

HERITAGE
TOURISM 

SECTOR

GREATER
NEWTOWN 

DEVELOPMENT

TOTAL

Equity and 
liabilities
Current liabilities
Current tax payable – – 1 097 – – 1 097
Finance lease 
obligation 244 28 – 161 – 433
Payables from 
exchange transactions 22 316 12 568 303 – 482 35 669
Payables from non-
exchange transactions – 12 905 – 2 372 – 15 277
Provisions 15 588 3 795 657 1 072 – 21 112
Deferred income – 11 712 1 700 – – 13 412
Unutilised government 
grants 2 474 – 13 133 1 314 – 16 921
Unutilised conditional 
grants (other) 48 503 12 211 44 563 – – 105 277
Operating lease 
liability 191 – 57 – – 248
Deposits received 2 583 2 479 – 211 1 099 6 372
Non-Current Liabilities
Loans from 
shareholders – – – – 35 000 35 000
Finance lease 
obligation 110 7 – 39 – 156
Deferred tax 7 586 – – – – 7 586
Unutilised government 
grants – 7 737 – – – 7 737
Equity
Contribution from 
owners 27 – – 424 980 12 315 437 322
Accumulated surplus 623 373 290 634 75 059 (130 272) (11 168) 847 626
Total segment 
equity and 
liabilities 722 995 354 076 136 569 299 877 37 728 1 551 245
Total liabilities as 
per Statement of 
financial Position 1 551 245
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

50. Segment information (continued)

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

NOTE(S) 2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Revenue
Water and electricity recoveries 83 670 60 889 – –

Rental of facilities and equipment 64 670 65 734 – –

Miscellaneous other revenue 1 102 1 128 – –

Sundry income 3 361 209 3 226 105

Government grants 449 082 341 267 342 872 335 739

Finance Income 13 857 9 060 4 400 3 280

Construction contracts 3 102 4 947 – –

Project income 24 425 17 764 – –

Discount received – 1 – –

Fee income 508 989 – –

Facilities income 2 714 2 834 – –

ICT service income 1 460 788 – –

Total revenue 647 951 505 610 350 498 339 124
Expenditure
Employee related costs (193 972) (187 841) (78 185) (75 525)
Administration (24 792) (16 552) (14 346) (7 434)

Depreciation and amortisation (31 289) (28 730) (1 516) (1 657)

Impairment loss (2) – – –

Finance costs 29 (420) (285) (25) (62)

Lease rentals on operating lease (27 757) (29 433) (27 591) (29 289)

Debt Impairment 33 (1 810) (568) – –

Repairs and maintenance (8 172) (7 505) (507) (480)

Bulk purchases (5 837) (3 680) – –

Grants paid – – (198 059) (203 421)

General Expenses (211 257) (171 929) (19 289) (24 467)

Total expenditure (505 308) (446 523) (339 518) (342 335)
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NOTES TO THE GROUP ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

50. Segment information (continued)

GROUP CONTROLLING ENTITY

NOTE(S) 2016
R’000 

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Operating surplus (deficit) 27 142 643 59 087 10 980 (3 211)
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets 
and liabilities 62 (290) – –

Loss on foreign exchange 59 – – –

121 (290) – –
Surplus (deficit) before taxation 142 764 58 797 10 980 (3 211)
Taxation 30 (2 580) 1 305 1 542 655

Surplus (deficit) for the year 145 344 57 492 9 438 (3 866)

Attributable to:
Owners of the controlling entity 144 656 58 018 9 438 (3 866)

Non-controlling interest 688 (526) – –

145 344 57 492 9 438 (3 866)
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